

UvA-DARE (Digital Academic Repository)

On actions for (entangling) surfaces and DCFTs

Armas, J.; Tarrío, J.

DOI 10.1007/JHEP04(2018)100

Publication date 2018 Document Version Final published version

Published in Journal of High Energy Physics License

CC BY

Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA):

Armas, J., & Tarrío, J. (2018). On actions for (entangling) surfaces and DCFTs. *Journal of High Energy Physics*, 2018(4), [100]. https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP04(2018)100

General rights

It is not permitted to download or to forward/distribute the text or part of it without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), other than for strictly personal, individual use, unless the work is under an open content license (like Creative Commons).

Disclaimer/Complaints regulations

If you believe that digital publication of certain material infringes any of your rights or (privacy) interests, please let the Library know, stating your reasons. In case of a legitimate complaint, the Library will make the material inaccessible and/or remove it from the website. Please Ask the Library: https://uba.uva.nl/en/contact, or a letter to: Library of the University of Amsterdam, Secretariat, Singel 425, 1012 WP Amsterdam, The Netherlands. You will be contacted as soon as possible.

UvA-DARE is a service provided by the library of the University of Amsterdam (https://dare.uva.nl)

Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: December 25, 2017 ACCEPTED: March 10, 2018 PUBLISHED: April 17, 2018

On actions for (entangling) surfaces and DCFTs

Jay Armas and Javier Tarrío

Université Libre de Bruxelles (ULB) and International Solvay Institutes, Service de Physique Théorique et Mathématique, Campus de la Plaine, CP 231, B-1050, Brussels, Belgium

E-mail: jarmas@ulb.ac.be, jtarrio@ulb.ac.be

ABSTRACT: The dynamics of surfaces and interfaces describe many physical systems, including fluid membranes, entanglement entropy and the coupling of defects to quantum field theories. Based on the formulation of submanifold calculus developed by Carter, we introduce a new variational principle for (entangling) surfaces. This principle captures all diffeomorphism constraints on surface/interface actions and their associated spacetime stress tensor. The different couplings to the geometric tensors appearing in the surface action are interpreted in terms of response coefficients within elasticity theory. An example of a surface action with edges at the two-derivative level is studied, including both the parity-even and parity-odd sectors. Its conformally invariant counterpart restricts the type of conformal anomalies that can appear in two-dimensional submanifolds with boundaries. Analogously to hydrodynamics, it is shown that classification methods can be used to constrain the stress tensor of (entangling) surfaces at a given order in derivatives. This analysis reveals a purely geometric parity-odd contribution to the Young modulus of a thin elastic membrane. Extending this novel variational principle to BCFTs and DCFTs in curved spacetimes allows to obtain the Ward identities for diffeomorphism and Wevl transformations. In this context, we provide a formal derivation of the contact terms in the stress tensor and of the displacement operator for a broad class of actions.

KEYWORDS: Brane Dynamics in Gauge Theories, D-branes, p-branes

ARXIV EPRINT: 1709.06766





Contents

| 1 | Introduction | | 2 |
|----------|--|---|----|
| 2 | Geo | ometric actions for (entangling) surfaces and interfaces | 6 |
| | 2.1 | Geometry of submanifolds and geometric tensors | 6 |
| | 2.2 | Surface dynamics and shape equation | 13 |
| | 2.3 | Surfaces with non-trivial edges and intersections | 19 |
| | 2.4 | Interfaces | 21 |
| 3 | Spacetime stress tensor | | 23 |
| | 3.1 | Spacetime stress tensor for surfaces | 23 |
| | 3.2 | Conserved currents and charges | 28 |
| | 3.3 | Spacetime stress tensor for interfaces | 29 |
| 4 | Two-derivative surface action with edges | | 31 |
| | 4.1 | Parity-even sector | 32 |
| | 4.2 | Parity-odd sector | 34 |
| | 4.3 | Edge action | 36 |
| | 4.4 | Constraints on the stress tensor | 39 |
| | 4.5 | Constraints from Weyl invariance | 42 |
| 5 | Actions for DCFTs and BCFTs | | 45 |
| | 5.1 | Variational principle | 46 |
| | 5.2 | Ward identities for DCFTs and BCFTs | 47 |
| | 5.3 | Ward identities for a class of DCFT actions | 48 |
| | 5.4 | Ward identities for a class of BCFT actions | 52 |
| | 5.5 | Spacetime stress tensor and displacement operator | 54 |
| 6 | Dis | cussion | 55 |
| A | Var | iational calculus for submanifolds | 57 |
| | A.1 | Lagrangian variations | 57 |
| | A.2 | Variations of the embedding map | 60 |
| | A.3 | Weyl transformations | 62 |
| в | Details on the variational principle for actions | | 64 |
| | B.1 | Framework for variations at any derivative order | 64 |
| | B.2 | Generalised diffeomorphism constraints and shape equation | 65 |
| | B.3 | Comparison between spacetime and gauge variational principles | 67 |
| | B.4 | Actions for defects with edges and instructive examples | 69 |
| | | | |

1 Introduction

The dynamics of surfaces and interfaces describe a wide range of physical systems and physical phenomena. One common example in nature is that of interfaces between different fluids or fluid phases (e.g. soap bubbles). Another example is that of small deformations of thin elastic membranes: at mesoscopic scales, the physical state of lipid membranes is well captured by the geometric degrees of freedom of the membrane [1], while at microscopic scales one may describe the coupling between quantum field theories and interfaces/defects by approximating the latter as thin surfaces [2–4] or obtain entanglement properties of quantum field theories by extremising surface functionals [5, 6]. Many of these systems can be modelled by effective theories for the dynamics of surfaces, with numerous applications ranging from cosmic strings [7], black hole physics [8–11] to the dynamics of D-branes [12], to mention only a few.

The recent interest in some of these topics have prompted us to explore in detail the formal aspects of these functionals within a framework that allows to treat both bulk and surface actions (or vacuum energy functionals) simultaneously, thereby describing this wide range of physical systems. Based on the spacetime approach to submanifold calculus developed by Carter [7, 13, 14], this paper formulates a novel variational principle for surface actions. This formulation determines the constraints on surface actions and its associated spacetime stress tensor due to general covariance. These constraints had been largely overlooked and, in a purely geometric setting, restrict the type of contributions that can appear in entanglement entropy functionals. In addition, the variational principle developed here allows for a direct derivation of the spacetime stress tensor and displacement operator associated with surface/defect actions. In turn, this leads to a straightforward extraction of Ward identities and can be used to evaluate correlation functions in conformal field theories (CFTs) and constrain CFT data as in [4]. Extensions of this formalism to include background gauge and dilaton fields are only natural.

Although the work that will be presented in this paper is broadly applicable, our original motivation lies in the recent interest in two different research directions. The first one was initiated by the Ryu-Takayanagi proposal [5], and its covariant counterpart [6], stating that the extremisation of geometric functionals provides information, via holographic dualities, of the entangling properties of the dual quantum field theory. The nature of these geometric functionals depends on the specifics of the gravitational theory. In particular, in higher derivative gravity theories these geometric functionals may depend on the extrinsic curvature of the surface or the background Riemann tensor [15–17]. The extremisation of these functionals is required in order to extract information about the entanglement entropy of the corresponding dual quantum field theory [18]. The second research direction is the study of the properties of conformal field theories with boundaries (BCFTs) and of CFTs coupled to defects (DCFTs) [2–4, 19–25].¹ In this context, it is necessary to understand how to correctly couple a quantum field theory living on a boundary/interface

¹In the holographic context, BCFTs and DCFTs have been approached in numerous ways, e.g. [23, 26–34] to mention only a few.

or defect, regardless of its shape, to a given bulk CFT. This much is required in order to obtain the Ward identities for such theories [2-4].

These considerations and research directions have lead us to perform a thorough analysis of the constraints on surface functionals with non-trivial edge geometry due to diffeomorphism invariance. The naive expectation, and a common misconception, is that, analogous to spacetime actions and spacetime tensors, covariant surface actions can be built by simply appropriately contracting surface tensors (e.g. contractions of extrinsic curvatures). However, this is not the case, as these diffeomorphism constraints impose stronger restrictions, in particular at the edges of the surface. As we shall see, one of these constraints leads to the shape equation itself, describing the surface dynamics, but many other constraints, which have been largely overlooked in the literature, must be satisfied (see eqs. (2.44)-(2.46), eq. (2.48) and eq. (2.62)). In the context of conformal anomalies for submanifolds with boundaries, these constraints restrict the type of anomalies that can be present, while in the context of DCFTs, they play an important role: once implemented in the contact terms in the stress tensor and in the displacement operator they can be used to correctly evaluate correlation functions and to obtain conserved currents and charges.

When dealing with entanglement entropy functionals, the main interest lies in determining the shape equation and evaluating the on-shell value of the entropy functional at the extrema. In this context, barely no attention is given to the physical interpretation of the different couplings that appear in surface actions. However, from the broader point of view that such actions describe a wide range of physical systems such as lipid membranes [35–38], it is important to understand the physical meaning of these couplings. Following the general approach of [10], we interpret the different structures appearing in surface actions in the context of elasticity theory. In section 4, we identify a new purely geometric parity-odd contribution to the surface's Young modulus, which breaks the classical symmetries associated with an elasticity tensor. Couplings to the background Riemann tensor that appear in the context of entanglement entropy [15–17] can be interpreted as quadrupole moments of stress which introduce new force terms in the shape equation and characterise the response of the surface to changes in background curvature.² This leads to an extension of classical elasticity theory [39] for the deformations of thin membranes.³

Different approaches to submanifold calculus. This paper deals with equilibrium surfaces, that is, surfaces whose shape is determined by the extrema of an action or vacuum energy functional. We assume that these actions or vacuum energy functionals are functionals of geometric fields only, namely the background metric $g_{\mu\nu}(x)$, the embedding map of the surface $X^{\mu}(\sigma)$, and the embedding map of its edges $\widetilde{X}^{\mu}(\widetilde{\sigma})$. In order to perform variations of these functionals and obtain the shape equation and remaining diffeomorphism constraints one may either (1) displace the background coordinates by an infinitesimal

²The interpretation of these couplings in terms of elasticity theory had been suggested in [16].

³Elastic membranes are characterised by a thickness scale τ . In order to write effective theories for their deformations, one considers deformations with wavelength much larger than the membrane thickness. In this regime, the membrane geometry can be described by a surface action whose response coefficients are dimensionful. The accompanying membrane stress tensor has a derivative expansion in terms of the membrane thickness.



Figure 1. Schematic representation of the two variational methods for the surface \mathcal{W} . The figure on the left corresponds to method (1), where the background coordinates x^{α} are displaced while the embedding map X^{μ} is kept fixed. The figure on the right corresponds to method (2) where the background coordinates are kept fixed and the embedding map is displaced. The first method can be thought of displacing a "mat" (background) underneath the surface while the second can be thought of displacing the surface above the "mat".

amount along some vector field ξ^{μ} such that $x^{\mu} \to x^{\mu} + \xi^{\mu}(x)$ while keeping the embedding map fixed or (2) displace the embedding map by a small amount $X^{\mu}(\sigma) \to X^{\mu}(\sigma) + \delta X^{\mu}(\sigma)$ while keeping the background coordinates fixed. We show in section 5 that these two methods yield the same equations of motion once certain constraints are satisfied. This is illustrated in figure 1. If the change in background coordinates is compensated by a corresponding change in the embedding map, the surface is not displaced, though certain constraints must be satisfied. Method (2) formally involves working with a foliation of surfaces, even if just in a local neighbourhood, and it leads to a non-manifestly covariant intermediate calculus.⁴ On the other hand, when using method (1), the variational calculus is covariant and it is sufficient to work with a single surface. This is shown explicitly in appendix A. When dealing with (entangling) surfaces one may use either one of the methods in order to obtain the equations of motion (modulo constraints), but due to the natural covariant properties and simplicity of method (1), we discard (2). In the context of DCFTs, however, both methods must be employed since the defect must be coupled regardless of its shape.

The action functional can be cast under two different formulations. One of these formulations, which we refer to as *gauge formulation* due its natural analogue in gauge theory, consists in working with natural quantities defined on the surface and using tangential and transverse indices. For example, the induced metric on the surface γ_{ab} has only tangential indices a, b while the extrinsic curvature $K_{ab}{}^i$ has two tangential indices and one transverse index *i*. This is, for instance, the type of approach followed in [10, 41, 44] and in most of the entanglement entropy literature (see [45] and references therein). The other formulation is the one championed by Carter in [7, 13, 14], which we refer to as *spacetime formulation*. Within this formulation, it is only necessary to work with a single type of indices, namely

⁴Though it is possible to work with covariant deformations as developed by Guven et al. [40, 41]. Other variational methods using auxiliary variables or constrained variations are also available in the literature and deserve further exploration [42, 43].

spacetime indices μ, ν, \cdots , such that using the set of tangent and normal vectors to the surface $\{e^{\mu}{}_{a}, n^{\mu}{}_{i}\}$ one may define the spacetime analogue of the induced metric and extrinsic curvature as $\gamma^{\mu\nu} = e^{\mu}{}_{a}e^{\nu}{}_{a}\gamma^{ab}$ and $K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} = e_{\mu}{}^{a}e_{\nu}{}^{b}n^{\rho}{}_{i}K_{ab}{}^{i}$, respectively. Notice that the latter fields have support on the surface and are *not* fields in spacetime. The necessity of working with two types of indices in a gauge formulation is traded by the necessity of keeping track of the index order in a given geometric structure in a spacetime formulation.

Both formulations introduced above have advantages and disadvantages. In particular, the gauge formulation makes it more accessible to evaluate variations of purely intrinsic quantities, such as the intrinsic Ricci scalar, while the spacetime formulation makes it more accessible to compute variations of background quantities, such as the background Ricci scalar. However, as we will argue and demonstrate, the spacetime formulation of the action functional has several clear advantages. For example, when dealing with composite systems of bulk and surface it is only natural to use spacetime indices since it is senseless to differentiate between tangential and normal indices in the bulk, unless one could introduce a foliation of surfaces or defects in the entire spacetime but this is neither always possible nor necessary. Furthermore, when working with a single set of indices, general covariance needs to be ensured only in that single set.⁵ In a gauge formulation, general covariance must be required on two different sets of indices separately, namely, on the tangent and normal bundles. Most approaches to variational calculus within a gauge formulation introduce a specific coordinate system [41, 46-48], leading to non-manifestly spacetime covariant intermediate steps.⁶ Finally, as we shall demonstrate, specifically in appendix \mathbf{B} , the spacetime formulation allows to extract all diffeomorphism constraints on surface actions and their associated spacetime stress tensor while the gauge formulation does not. For these reasons we adopt this spacetime formulation in the core of this paper and develop it further not only by extending its variational calculus but also by formulating a new variational principle for surface actions.

Organisation of the material. In section 2 we first introduce the reader to this spacetime formulation of surface geometry, as not only is this paper's intent to be introductory to those who would like to pursue submanifold calculus, but also because the majority of works in both entanglement entropy and DCFTs have adopted the gauge formulation of the action principle. We then introduce the new variational principle for surfaces and obtain the diffeomorphism constraints and shape equation for surfaces/interfaces with nontrivial edges or intersections (see eqs. (2.44)-(2.46), eq. (2.48) and eq. (2.62)). This action includes couplings to several geometric structures with at most two-derivatives, though the action itself can contain contributions with an arbitrary number of derivatives.

In section 3 we show how to extract the spacetime stress tensor associated with these surface actions. This stress tensor has a multipole expansion in terms of derivatives of the delta function. We analyse its symmetry properties and equivalent formulations. We

⁵We would like to invite the reader to get acquainted with the non-linear history of index proliferation in submanifold calculus by reading the introductory remarks of [13].

⁶This issue could be bypassed by simply performing variations using method (1) within this formulation as for instance in [4, 49].

identify frame-invariant tensor structures which can be used to count independent couplings to the surface action. We then use this spacetime stress tensor to obtain conserved surface/edge currents and charges.

In section 4, we analyse a generic two-derivative action based on a classification of the different couplings that can appear in both the parity-even and parity-odd sectors and interpret them in the context of elasticity theory. We impose the diffeomorphism constraints in order to eliminate some of these contributions, which in the presence of edges leads to highly non-trivial relations between surface and edge couplings. Using methods analogous to those employed in hydrodynamics, we show in section 4 that these methods can be used to constrain the stress tensor of (entangling) surfaces. We furthermore study the constraints imposed by Weyl invariance and comment on their implications for conformal anomalies of two-dimensional submanifolds.

In section 5 we extend the variational principle within this spacetime formulation to BCFTs and DCFTs. In this context, we obtain Ward identities for defects with edges coupled to bulk CFTs. We furthermore derive explicitly the contact terms in the spacetime stress tensor. We encounter a mismatch with other ad-hoc forms of the stress tensor in previous literature. We also derive a full-fledged displacement operator in curved spacetime for a broad class of actions.

Finally, in section 6 we conclude with a brief summary and future research directions. We also provide appendix A, which contains variational formulae for geometric tensors while appendix B contains further details on the different types of variational principles.

2 Geometric actions for (entangling) surfaces and interfaces

This section introduces a new variational principle for surfaces/interfaces based on the notion of Lagrangian variations (method (1) introduced above) within the spacetime formulation championed by Carter [7, 13, 14, 50]. The advantage of this strategy resides in its potential to capture all diffeomorphism constraints on surface actions and to yield directly the components of the spacetime stress tensor associated to these surfaces. This formalism is applicable to many physical systems and is useful for the study of extremal surfaces that describe, via holographic dualities, the entangling properties of the dual quantum field theory.

The first part of this section introduces the reader to the geometric quantities associated to surfaces in the spacetime formulation as well as the notation that is used throughout the paper. We then proceed and show how the surface/interface dynamics and shape equations emerge from the requirement of diffeomorphism invariance, including the possibility of non-trivial edges and intersections. The latter requires considerable attention due to the several constraints imposed by the well-definiteness of the variational principle.

2.1 Geometry of submanifolds and geometric tensors

We consider a *D*-dimensional spacetime \mathcal{M} endowed with a non-degenerate metric $g_{\mu\nu}(x^{\alpha})$, where x^{α} denotes the background spacetime coordinates and the Greek indices μ, ν, α, \cdots denote spacetime indices. In this spacetime we place a *p*-dimensional surface \mathcal{W} with edges $\partial \mathcal{W}$. The location of this surface of codimension n = D - p is described by the embedding map $X^{\mu}(\sigma^a)$, where σ^a $(a = 1, \dots, p)$ denote the coordinates on the surface, collectively denoted by σ .

Given the mapping functions, the tangent vectors take the form $e^{\mu}{}_{a} = \partial_{a}X^{\mu}$. In turn, one may introduce the induced metric on the surface

$$\gamma_{ab} = g_{\mu\nu} e^{\mu}{}_a e^{\nu}{}_b \,, \tag{2.1}$$

with inverse matrix components γ^{ab} . We assume that neither γ_{ab} nor its inverse are null at any point on the surface. The set of normal vectors $n^{\mu}{}_{i}$, where *i* denotes the transverse *n* directions is implicitly defined via the relations

$$n^{\mu i} n_{\mu}{}^{j} = \delta^{ij} , \quad e^{\mu}{}_{a} n_{\mu}{}^{i} = 0 .$$
(2.2)

These conditions, though sufficient to describe the surface, do not fix entirely the normal vectors, as they allow for the freedom of shifting the normal vectors by a sign or by a rotation $n_{\mu}{}^{i} \rightarrow \omega^{i}{}_{j}n_{\mu}{}^{j}$ where ω^{ij} is an anti-symmetric matrix in O(n).⁷

A spacetime covariant approach can be formulated by appropriately contracting geometric tensors with the tangential and normal vectors. This avoids the use of tangential and orthogonal indices, a and i, in favour of spacetime indices μ . In particular, the induced metric and transverse metric can be expressed as

$$\gamma^{\mu\nu} = e^{\mu}{}_{a}e^{\nu}{}_{b}\gamma^{ab}, \quad \bot^{\mu\nu} = n^{\mu}{}_{i}n^{\nu i}.$$
(2.3)

Given the conditions (2.2), these two structures are obviously orthogonal to each other, i.e. $\gamma^{\mu\nu} \perp^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} = 0$. This decomposition implies that we have chosen to describe the surface in an adapted frame for which the background metric, restricted to the surface, can be decomposed as

$$g_{\mu\nu} = \gamma_{\mu\nu} + \perp_{\mu\nu} . \tag{2.4}$$

This naturally breaks the diffeomorphism symmetries of the background spacetime into general coordinate transformations on the p-dimensional surface and (generalised) rotations in the n-dimensional transverse space to the surface. This can only be expected since the presence of the surface in the spacetime will naturally break some of the background symmetries.

2.1.1 Covariant differentiation

The tensors $\gamma_{\mu\nu}$ and $\perp_{\mu\nu}$ in (2.3), as well as the several geometric tensors that we introduce below, have support only on the surface, i.e., they are not well defined anywhere else in spacetime, with the only exceptions of background fields, such as the background metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ and its derivatives, which are well defined everywhere in spacetime. It is possible to extend all geometric tensors to the entirety of spacetime by working with a foliation of

⁷We are choosing an orthonormal frame in the transverse space. In the context of entangling surfaces, which are codimension n = 2 surfaces, the time-like direction can be Wick rotated so that the transverse space is still purely spatial. One may also work with a time-like transverse space for which $n^{\mu i}n_{\mu}{}^{j} = \eta^{ij}$ and the matrix ω^{ij} is now an anti-symmetric matrix in O(1,n - 1). Our results can be straightforwardly applied to the latter case by replacing $\delta^{ij} \to \eta^{ij}$.

surfaces [47, 51, 52], however this is beyond the scope of this paper and unnecessary for the calculus of variations of surface actions.

As a result of the necessity to restrict to tensors with support on the surface, covariant differentiation of tensors with support on the surface is not a well defined operation: only its tangential projection is. Therefore we introduce the surface covariant derivative

$$\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} = \gamma^{\mu}{}_{\lambda} \nabla_{\mu} \,, \tag{2.5}$$

where ∇_{μ} is the spacetime covariant derivative associated with $g_{\mu\nu}$ and its corresponding Christoffel connection $\Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\nu}$. When applied to tensors with support only on the surface the operator $\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda}$ is meaningful, whereas the orthogonal projection of the background covariant derivative, $\perp^{\mu}_{\lambda}\nabla_{\mu}$, is not. On the other hand, if the covariant derivative acts on a tensor with support on the whole background spacetime both projections are well defined.

2.1.2 The extrinsic curvature tensor

Given a well defined notion of covariant differentiation, one may introduce several geometric objects of interest, characterising how the submanifold is embedded in the background spacetime. These can be obtained by acting with the operator $\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}$ on tangent and normal vectors (and contractions thereof).

The first example is the extrinsic curvature of the surface

$$K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} = \gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\gamma^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} = -\gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\bot^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}, \qquad (2.6)$$

which describes the rate of change of the normal vectors along surface directions. The extrinsic curvature (2.6) transforms as a tensor in its spacetime indices and is invariant under changes of the tangential and normal vectors that satisfy (2.2). Opting for a spacetime covariant formalism, in which there is no reference to surface and transverse indices, requires keeping fixed the order of the indices in any given geometric structure. In particular, the extrinsic curvature is tangential and symmetric in its first two indices and orthogonal in its last index⁸

$$K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} = K_{(\mu\nu)}{}^{\rho}, \quad \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\rho} K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} = \bot^{\mu}{}_{\lambda} K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} = 0.$$
(2.7)

For many practical purposes it is useful to keep track of the number of derivatives associated with a given tensor. Any tensor built from the operator $\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}$ acting on zero-derivative tensors (tangent vectors, normal vectors and contractions thereof) is a one-derivative tensor. This is the case for (2.6) and also for the contraction

$$K^{\rho} = \gamma^{\mu\nu} K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} , \qquad (2.8)$$

which denotes the mean extrinsic curvature of the submanifold and inherits the orthogonality property in its index from (2.7). If the surface has codimension n = 1, then there is only one normal direction, i = 1, and hence only one normal vector, i.e. $n^{\mu}{}_{i} = n^{\mu}{}_{1} = n^{\mu}$. In this case, both the extrinsic curvature tensor and the mean extrinsic curvature have only one transverse direction and instead one may work with the symmetric tensor $K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho}n_{\rho}$ and the scalar $K^{\rho}n_{\rho}$.

⁸Throughout this paper we use symmetrisation with weight $2K_{(\mu\nu)}^{\rho} = K_{\mu\nu}^{\rho} + K_{\nu\mu}^{\rho}$ and equivalently for the anti-symmetrisation.

2.1.3 The external rotation tensor

Another one-derivative object of interest is obtained from tangential covariant differentiation of the normal vectors. This object is referred to as external rotation tensor and takes the form

$$\omega_{\mu}{}^{\nu}{}_{\rho} = \bot^{\nu}{}_{\sigma} n_{\rho}{}^{i} \overline{\nabla}_{\mu} n^{\sigma}{}_{i} .$$

$$(2.9)$$

One may clearly observe, from (2.9), that the definition of the external rotation tensor necessarily includes the appearance of transverse indices *i*. In fact, the external rotation tensor is not invariant under rotations of the normal vectors that satisfy (2.2) and, indeed, it transforms as a connection in the indices *i*, though it is fully tensorial in its spacetime indices. For this reason, it is usually referred to as a *pseudo-tensor*, and it can be understood as a normal spin connection in the transverse space, characterising how a given pair of normal vectors is being twisted around as one moves along surface directions.

The external rotation tensor is tangential in its first index, and transverse and antisymmetric in its last two indices

$$\omega_{\mu}{}^{\nu\rho} = \omega_{\mu}{}^{[\nu\rho]}, \quad \bot^{\mu}{}_{\lambda}\omega_{\mu}{}^{\nu\rho} = \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}\omega_{\mu}{}^{\nu\rho} = 0.$$
(2.10)

When coupling the external rotation tensor to a surface action, the resulting scalars, with a few exceptions, do not in general satisfy the requirements of diffeomorphism invariance. However, one may construct the associated curvature to the external rotation tensor, namely the outer curvature tensor⁹

$$\Omega^{\mu}{}_{\nu\kappa\lambda} = 2 \,\bot^{\mu}{}_{\sigma} \,\bot^{\tau}{}_{\nu} \gamma^{\pi}{}_{[\lambda} \overline{\nabla}_{\kappa]} \omega_{\pi}{}^{\sigma}{}_{\tau} + 2 \,\omega_{[\lambda}{}^{\mu\pi} \omega_{\kappa]\pi\nu} \,, \tag{2.11}$$

which is invariant under rotations of the normal vectors and hence fully tensorial in both the spacetime and internal transverse indices (see eq. (2.21) bellow). The outer curvature tensor is a two-derivative tensor structure which satisfies the following properties

$$\Omega_{\mu\nu\kappa\lambda} = \Omega_{\mu\nu[\kappa\lambda]} = \Omega_{[\mu\nu]\kappa\lambda} \,, \quad \bot^{\kappa}{}_{\alpha} \,\Omega_{\mu\nu\kappa\lambda} = \gamma^{\mu}{}_{\alpha} \,\Omega_{\mu\nu\kappa\lambda} = 0 \,. \tag{2.12}$$

Note that the outer curvature tensor only has a subset of the symmetries of a Riemann tensor.

When the codimension of the surface is n = 2, the transverse rotation group is Abelian and one may use the Levi-Civita tensor in the transverse space $\epsilon_{\perp}^{\mu\nu}$ in order to construct the normal fundamental 1-form as

$$\omega_{\mu} = \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{\perp}_{\nu\rho} \omega_{\mu}{}^{\nu\rho}, \qquad \text{(for } n = 2), \qquad (2.13)$$

which inherits the tangentiality property in its index from the external rotation tensor. In this case the outer curvature tensor (2.11) becomes a field strength for the 1-form ω_{μ} , that is

$$\Omega_{\kappa\lambda} = 4\gamma^{\pi}_{[\lambda}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa]}\omega_{\pi} , \qquad \text{(for } n=2) , \qquad (2.14)$$

⁹We note that there is a minus sign typo in [7] in the second term of (2.11) and (2.18). Furthermore, we have changed the notation slightly for the outer curvature tensor. The first two indices here are transverse to the surface, while the first two indices in [7] are tangential.

and is tangential and anti-symmetric in its two indices. When p = n = 2 then one may contract the field strength with the surface Levi-Civita tensor $\epsilon_{||}^{\kappa\lambda}$ in order to obtain the outer curvature scalar

$$\Omega = \epsilon_{||}^{\kappa\lambda} \Omega_{\kappa\lambda} = \epsilon^{\mu\nu\kappa\lambda} \Omega_{\mu\nu\kappa\lambda} = 4\overline{\nabla}_{\mu} \left(\epsilon_{||}^{\mu\nu} \omega_{\nu} \right) , \qquad \text{(for } p = n = 2) , \qquad (2.15)$$

where $\epsilon^{\mu\nu\kappa\lambda}$ is the D = 4 background Levi-Civita tensor. It is, therefore, clear from the above that Ω is purely topological. If the surface dimensionality is p = 1 (with n = 2), then there is only one tangent vector $e^{\mu}{}_{a} = e^{\mu}{}_{1} = u^{\mu}|\gamma_{11}|$, with γ_{11} being the single metric component in the tangential direction, which can be interpreted as the unnormalised point-particle's velocity in Lorentzian signature. One may then use it to construct a scalar $u^{\mu}\omega_{\mu}$, which has applications for spinning point-particle actions and the Post-Newtonian approximation in General Relativity (see e.g. [53]).

2.1.4 Internal rotation tensor

The external rotation tensor describes how normal vectors twist when one moves along the surface. It is convenient to introduce its internal counterpart, the internal rotation tensor, as

$$\rho_{\mu}{}^{\nu}{}_{\rho} = \gamma^{\nu}{}_{\sigma}e_{\rho}{}^{a}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}e^{\sigma}{}_{a}.$$

$$(2.16)$$

The definition of the internal rotation tensor includes the appearance of tangential indices. As in the case of the external rotation tensor, this tensor, though fully tensorial in its spacetime indices, is also a *pseudo-tensor*, as it is not invariant under changes of the tangent vectors. All its indices are tangential and its last two indices are anti-symmetric, that is

$$\rho_{\mu}{}^{\nu\rho} = \rho_{\mu}{}^{[\nu\rho]}, \quad \bot^{\mu}{}_{\lambda} \, \rho_{\mu}{}^{\nu\rho} = \bot^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \, \rho_{\mu}{}^{\nu\rho} = 0.$$
(2.17)

Couplings to the internal rotation tensor to surface actions do not generally satisfy the diffeomorphism constraints due to the fact that it transforms as a connection in its tangential indices. However, its associated curvature, namely the intrinsic Riemann tensor

$$\mathcal{R}^{\mu}{}_{\nu\kappa\lambda} = 2 \gamma^{\mu}{}_{\sigma}\gamma^{\tau}{}_{\nu}\gamma^{\pi}{}_{[\lambda}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa]}\rho_{\pi}{}^{\sigma}{}_{\tau} + 2 \rho_{[\lambda}{}^{\mu\pi}\rho_{\kappa]\pi\nu}, \qquad (2.18)$$

is fully tensorial and invariant under coordinate transformations in the internal indices (see eq. (2.20) bellow). All the indices of the intrinsic Riemann tensor are tangential and, in addition, it has the same symmetry properties as the Riemann tensor associated with the background metric, $R^{\mu}{}_{\nu\kappa\lambda}$. The definition (2.18) makes it apparent that the internal rotation tensor may be seen as a connection associated to the intrinsic geometry. In particular the contraction $e^{\mu}{}_{a} e_{\nu}{}^{c} e^{\rho}{}_{b} \rho_{\mu}{}^{\nu}{}_{\rho}$ is the Christoffel connection associated with the induced metric γ_{ab} .

When the surface dimensionality is p = 2, it is possible to define the tangential one-form $2\rho_{\mu} = \epsilon_{||\nu\rho} \rho_{\mu}{}^{\nu\rho}$. The contraction of the intrinsic Riemann tensor with $\epsilon_{||}^{\mu\nu}$ becomes a field strength for ρ_{μ} , while a further contraction yields the intrinsic Ricci scalar $\mathcal{R} = \gamma_{\mu}{}^{\kappa}\gamma^{\nu\lambda}\mathcal{R}^{\mu}{}_{\nu\kappa\lambda}$, that is

$$\epsilon_{||}^{\mu\nu}\mathcal{R}_{\mu\nu\kappa\lambda} = 4\gamma^{\pi}{}_{[\lambda}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa]}\rho_{\pi}, \quad \epsilon_{||}^{\mu\nu}\epsilon_{||}^{\kappa\lambda}\mathcal{R}_{\mu\nu\kappa\lambda} = 4\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\left(\epsilon_{||}^{\mu\nu}\rho_{\nu}\right) = 2\mathcal{R}, \quad \text{(for } p=2\text{)}.$$
(2.19)

As it is well known, this makes it clear that the intrinsic Ricci scalar for p = 2 is topological.

2.1.5 Integrability conditions

Given an extrinsic curvature, an intrinsic Riemann tensor and an outer curvature tensor of the embedding, the fundamental theorem of surfaces states that for theses tensors to be supported in an embedded surface there are three equations to be satisfied (see e.g. [54]). These are the Gauss-Codazzi equation

$$\mathcal{R}^{\mu}_{\ \nu\kappa\lambda} = K_{\kappa}^{\ \mu\tau} K_{\lambda\nu\tau} - K_{\lambda}^{\ \mu\tau} K_{\kappa\nu}^{\ \tau} + \gamma_{\lambda}^{\ \rho} \gamma_{\kappa}^{\ \sigma} \gamma_{\tau}^{\ \mu} \gamma_{\nu}^{\ \alpha} R_{\rho\sigma}^{\ \tau}{}_{\alpha} , \qquad (2.20)$$

the Ricci-Voss equation

$$\Omega^{\mu}{}_{\nu\kappa\lambda} = K_{\kappa\rho}{}^{\mu}K_{\lambda}{}^{\rho}{}_{\nu} - K_{\lambda\rho}{}^{\mu}K_{\kappa}{}^{\rho}{}_{\nu} + \gamma_{\kappa}{}^{\rho}\gamma_{\lambda}{}^{\sigma}\bot_{\tau}{}^{\mu}\bot_{\nu}{}^{\alpha}R_{\rho\sigma}{}^{\tau}{}_{\alpha}, \qquad (2.21)$$

and the Codazzi-Mainardi equation

$$2\gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\mu}\perp^{\nu}{}_{\tau}\gamma^{\rho}{}_{[\lambda}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa]}K_{\rho\sigma}{}^{\tau} = \gamma^{\rho}{}_{\kappa}\gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda}\gamma^{\tau}{}_{\mu}\perp^{\nu}{}_{\alpha}R^{\alpha}{}_{\tau\rho\sigma}.$$
(2.22)

In particular, (2.20) and (2.21) make explicit the fully tensorial character of the intrinsic Riemann tensor and the outer curvature tensor, since they can be expressed in terms of other fully tensorial quantities. These integrability conditions will play a crucial role in proving conservation laws, as well as in the counting of independent terms that can appear in surface actions.

2.1.6 Conformal tensors

In order to address the Weyl-invariant properties of surface actions, it is useful to define the background Weyl tensor for $D \ge 3$ as

$$W_{\mu\nu}{}^{\lambda\rho} \equiv R_{\mu\nu}{}^{\lambda\rho} - g_{\mu}{}^{\lambda}S_{\nu}{}^{\rho} - g_{\nu}{}^{\rho}S_{\mu}{}^{\lambda} + g_{\mu}{}^{\rho}S_{\nu}{}^{\lambda} + g_{\nu}{}^{\lambda}S_{\mu}{}^{\rho}, \qquad (2.23)$$

which is trace-free and has the same symmetry properties as the Riemann tensor. Here we have introduced the background Schouten tensor, defined as

$$S_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{D-2} \left(R_{\mu\nu} - \frac{R}{2(D-1)} g_{\mu\nu} \right) , \qquad (2.24)$$

which encodes all the information about the curvature scales of the manifold. It is also useful to define the pull-back of the Weyl tensor onto the surface as

$$\widehat{W}_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \equiv \gamma_{\mu}{}^{\alpha}\gamma_{\nu}{}^{\beta}\gamma_{\rho}{}^{\gamma}\gamma_{\sigma}{}^{\delta}W_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} \,. \tag{2.25}$$

Finally, we introduce the conformation tensor

$$C_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} = K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} - \frac{1}{p}\gamma_{\mu\nu}K^{\rho}, \qquad (2.26)$$

which is a well known Weyl-invariant tensor [13] (see eq. (A.43)). As we shall see, explicitly in appendix A, other Weyl-invariant tensors include the outer curvature $\Omega^{\mu}{}_{\nu\lambda\rho}$ and the external rotation tensor $\omega_{\mu}{}^{\nu}{}_{\rho}$.

2.1.7 Edge geometry

The edges $\partial \mathcal{W}$ are the (p-1)-dimensional boundaries of the surface \mathcal{W} . The location of these codimension (n+1) edges in the ambient background metric $g_{\mu\nu}$ is given by the set of mapping functions $\widetilde{X}^{\mu}(\widetilde{\sigma})$. From the point of view of the surface \mathcal{W} , the edges are characterised by a single normal vector \widetilde{n}^{ρ} to the surface. This normal vector is such that the induced metric on the surface can be written as

$$\gamma_{\mu\nu} = h_{\mu\nu} + \widetilde{n}_{\mu}\widetilde{n}_{\nu} \,, \tag{2.27}$$

where $h_{\mu\nu}$ is the projected metric on $\partial \mathcal{W}$. The spacetime metric, when restricted to the edge, decomposes as

$$g_{\mu\nu} = h_{\mu\nu} + P_{\mu\nu} , \quad P_{\mu\nu} = \bot_{\mu\nu} + \widetilde{n}_{\mu}\widetilde{n}_{\nu} , \qquad (2.28)$$

where $P_{\mu\nu}$ is the transverse metric to $\partial \mathcal{W}$. Analogously to the surface, covariant differentiation of edge tensors is only well defined via the operator $\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu} = h^{\lambda}{}_{\mu}\nabla_{\lambda}$. In light of this consideration, one may introduce the edge one-derivative tensors

$$\mathcal{K}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} = h^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}h^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}, \quad \varpi_{\mu}{}^{\nu}{}_{\rho} = P^{\nu}{}_{\sigma}\widetilde{n}^{i}_{\rho}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}\widetilde{n}^{\sigma}_{i}, \quad \varrho_{\mu}{}^{\nu}{}_{\rho} = h^{\nu}{}_{\sigma}\widetilde{e}^{a}_{\rho}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}\widetilde{e}^{\sigma}_{a}, \tag{2.29}$$

which denote the edge extrinsic curvature tensor, external rotation and internal rotation tensor, respectively. Here, $\tilde{n}^i_{\rho} = (n^i_{\rho}, \tilde{n}_{\rho})$ denotes the set of normal vectors to the edge¹⁰ while \tilde{e}^{ρ}_a denotes the set of tangent vectors. We also define the edge mean extrinsic curvature as $\mathcal{K}^{\rho} = h^{\mu\nu}\mathcal{K}_{\mu\nu}^{\rho}$. The components of the edge extrinsic curvature along the normal direction to the surface can be obtained via the contraction with the normal vector, that is

$$\mathcal{K}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho}\widetilde{n}_{\rho}, \quad \mathcal{K}^{\rho}\widetilde{n}_{\rho}.$$
 (2.30)

From (2.29) one may define their respective curvatures, which satisfy analogous integrability conditions as (2.20)-(2.22). However, we will not need to consider these in this work.

When describing the edge dynamics by means of an action, it is possible to consider couplings beyond the ones to the edge geometry. In the case of the surface action, one can also consider couplings to the background metric and its derivatives besides couplings to surface geometric tensors. In the case of the edge, however, all the tensors characterising the surface geometry are background fields from the edge point of view. In particular, for these surface fields, the covariant derivative $\tilde{n}^{\mu}\nabla_{\mu}$ is well defined. One example of a possible coupling that can appear in this way is $\tilde{n}^{\alpha}\nabla_{\alpha}K_{\mu\nu}^{\rho}$. These considerations hint at the complexity of describing the edge dynamics. In this work, we have only considered couplings to the edge fields and the background metric. While many of these implicitly include couplings to the surface fields, we do not wish to claim that our work is exhaustive in this respect. On the other hand, it is sufficient to exhibit the richness of the edge dynamics.

¹⁰Notice that we have abused slightly our notation, since i in \tilde{n}_{ρ}^{i} runs from 1 to n + 1 whereas in n_{ρ}^{i} runs just to n. The reader can immediately identify the range by the symbol it is accompanying. Similar remarks can be made about e_{a}^{ρ} and \tilde{e}_{a}^{ρ} . Since in this work we always use spacetime indices, this distinction should not cause any confusion.

2.2 Surface dynamics and shape equation

Now we proceed to find the dynamics of surfaces, assuming that such dynamics follow from an action, which we consider to be a functional of the set of geometric fields that we collectively denote by $\Phi(\sigma)$, that is¹¹

$$\Phi(\sigma) = \{ X^{\mu}(\sigma), \gamma_{\mu\nu}(\sigma), \bot^{\mu}{}_{\nu}(\sigma), \bot_{\mu\nu}(\sigma), K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho}(\sigma), \omega_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\rho}(\sigma), \mathcal{R}_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}(\sigma), \Omega_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}(\sigma), R_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}(\sigma) \}.$$
(2.31)

For n = 1 we can consider the normal vector n^{μ} and trade it for $\perp^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = n^{\mu}n_{\nu}$, which in this case is obviously not independent of $\perp_{\mu\nu}$. For n > 1 the consideration of both $\perp^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$ and $\perp_{\mu\nu}$ in (2.31) as independent fields follows from the projective nature of $\perp_{\mu\nu}$. Indeed, since this tensor has zero eigenvalues there is no strict inverse that can be constructed, and $\perp^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \neq \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$.¹² Ultimately, this implies that variations with respect to $\perp^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$ and $\perp_{\mu\nu}$, when n > 1 give independent results, as shown explicitly in eq. (2.34) below.

Before proceeding, notice that it is possible to consider more general actions with arbitrary couplings to the one- and two-derivative geometric tensors $\rho_{\mu}{}^{\nu}{}_{\rho}$, $\tilde{\nabla}_{\lambda}\rho_{\mu}{}^{\nu}{}_{\rho}$ and $\tilde{\nabla}_{\lambda}\omega_{\mu}{}^{\nu\rho}$, but up to second order in derivatives such couplings do not lead to covariant actions, except for the specific couplings that are considered here.

Consider now a surface geometric action that takes the generic form

$$S[\Phi(\sigma)] = \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^p \sigma \mathcal{L}[\Phi(\sigma)], \qquad (2.32)$$

where $\mathcal{L}[\Phi(\sigma)]$ is a Lagrangian density. As mentioned in section 1, there are two ways of obtaining the resulting dynamics. One way consists of slightly deforming the surface such that $X^{\mu}(\sigma) \to X^{\mu}(\sigma) + \delta X^{\mu}(\sigma)$ for some small deformation $\delta X^{\mu}(\sigma)$, without displacing the background coordinates. However, this approach, as we shall see in section 5, deals with non-manifestly covariant expressions and non-manifestly covariant intermediate steps. Here, instead, we follow the approach by Carter [7, 13, 14, 50] and introduce a new type of variational principle that leads to non-trivial constraints on the spacetime stress tensor, does not require extending the surface to a foliation and always provides manifestly covariant expressions. This method employs Lagrangian variations, in which the background coordinates are displaced by a small amount $x^{\mu} \to x^{\mu} + \xi^{\mu}(x)$ while the mapping functions $X^{\mu}(\sigma)$ are held fixed. Under such infinitesimal displacements, parametrised by the flows of the vector field ξ^{μ} , the background metric changes by a Lie derivative,

$$\delta_{\xi} \, g_{\mu\nu} = 2\nabla_{(\mu}\xi_{\nu)} \,. \tag{2.33}$$

Lagrangian variations are equivalent to infinitesimal diffeomorphism transformations with fixed mapping functions. As explained in appendix A, a complete set of Lagrangian variations of $g_{\mu\nu}$ in terms of $\gamma_{\mu\nu}$ and $\perp_{\mu\nu}$ is given by the three independent projections

$$\delta_{\xi}\gamma^{\mu\nu} = -\gamma^{\mu\lambda}\gamma^{\nu\rho}\delta_{\xi}g_{\lambda\rho}, \quad \delta_{\xi}\perp_{\mu\nu} = \perp^{\lambda}{}_{\mu}\perp^{\rho}{}_{\nu}\delta_{\xi}g_{\lambda\rho}, \quad \delta_{\xi}\perp^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = -\gamma^{\mu\lambda}\perp^{\rho}{}_{\nu}\delta_{\xi}g_{\lambda\rho}. \tag{2.34}$$

¹¹We have explicitly considered the geometric fields $\mathcal{R}_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ and $\Omega_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ for practical purposes, as one may find them more convenient to use instead of others. However, these are not independent from the remaining fields due to the integrability conditions (2.20)–(2.21).

¹²A similar argument holds for $\gamma^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \delta^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \perp^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$ but not for $\gamma^{a}{}_{b}$, which is restricted to the surface's worldvolume and thus has no vanishing eigenvalues in general.

From the three variations in (2.34) we can define the surface's worldvolume stress tensor $\mathcal{T}_{\mu\nu}$, the mixed tangential-transverse stress tensor $\mathcal{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$, the transverse stress tensor $\mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu}$ as

$$\mathcal{T}_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{2}{\sqrt{|\gamma|}} \frac{\delta_{\xi} \mathcal{L}}{\delta_{\xi} \gamma^{\mu\nu}}, \quad \mathcal{P}_{\mu}{}^{\nu} = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{|\gamma|}} \frac{\delta_{\xi} \mathcal{L}}{\delta_{\xi} \perp^{\mu}{}_{\nu}}, \quad \mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{|\gamma|}} \frac{\delta_{\xi} \mathcal{L}}{\delta_{\xi} \perp_{\mu\nu}}, \quad (2.35)$$

where $|\gamma|$ denotes the absolute value of the determinant of the metric γ_{ab} . Naively, this may appear to be in contradiction with the strategy of the current paper, which consists of considering tensorial objects with spacetime (Greek) indices. However it must be noted that Lagrangian variations are taken with $\delta_{\xi}e^{\mu}{}_{a} = 0$ (see appendix A), such that the variation of the determinant is given by

$$\gamma^{ab}\delta_{\xi}\gamma_{ab} = g^{\mu\nu}e_{\mu}{}^{a}e_{\nu}{}^{b}\delta_{\xi}\gamma_{ab} = g^{\mu\nu}e_{\mu}{}^{a}e_{\nu}{}^{b}e^{\rho}{}_{a}e^{\sigma}_{b}\delta_{\xi}g_{\rho\sigma} = -\gamma_{\alpha\beta}\delta_{\xi}\gamma^{\alpha\beta}, \qquad (2.36)$$

and therefore can be traded by the variation of the projector $\gamma_{\mu\nu}$ with spacetime indices. All the tensor structures introduced in (2.35) inherit their symmetry properties and index structure from their variational counterparts. In particular, $\mathcal{T}_{\mu\nu}$ and $\mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu}$ are symmetric, with $\mathcal{T}_{\mu\nu}$ being tangential and $\mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu}$ being transverse in their indices. Furthermore, $\mathcal{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$ is tangential in its first index and transverse in its second index.

The mixed tangential-transverse and transverse stress tensors describe the normal components of the full spacetime stress tensor of the surface, as shown in section 3. These objects are not independent quantities and, as it will be shown, are given in terms of the bending moment, spin current and curvature moments to be defined next. The precise relation between them turns out to be a requirement of diffeomorphism invariance of (2.32).

For codimension n = 1 the tangential-transverse stress tensor $\mathcal{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$ is identically zero, since we have eliminated from the action any dependence on $\perp^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$ in favour of the orthogonal vector n^{μ} and the projector $\perp_{\mu\nu}$. Although the projector is not independent of the orthogonal vector, since $\perp_{\mu\nu} = n_{\mu}n_{\nu}$, it is convenient to work with variations of the orthogonal vector with risen indices only and using the projector for the lowered ones. We therefore introduce the tensor \mathcal{V}_{μ} to account for couplings to n^{μ} such that¹³

$$\mathcal{V}_{\mu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\gamma|}} \frac{\delta_{\xi} \mathcal{L}}{\delta_{\xi} n^{\mu}} \,. \tag{2.37}$$

The variations with respect to objects with one derivative allow us to define the bending moment, $\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho}$, and the spin current, $\mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\rho}$, as¹⁴

$$\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\gamma|}} \frac{\delta_{\xi} \mathcal{L}}{\delta_{\xi} K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho}}, \quad \mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\rho} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\gamma|}} \frac{\widetilde{\delta}_{\xi} \mathcal{L}}{\widetilde{\delta}_{\xi} \omega_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\rho}}.$$
(2.38)

¹³For p = 1 one could consider introducing couplings to the single normalised tangent vector u^{μ} . However, for variations that keep the embedding map fixed $\delta e^{\mu}{}_{a} = 0$ this is not necessary.

¹⁴We have introduced here the variation δ_{ξ} associated with certain geometric tensors. As explained in appendix **A**, this is a Lagrangian variation for which we have stripped off the components that can be incorporated into $\mathcal{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$ and $\mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu}$.

It is clear from these definitions that the bending moment encodes responses of the surface due to bending, whereas the spin current encodes surface motion in the transverse space. The bending moment $\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho}$ is symmetric and tangential in its two first indices and transverse in its last index, and the spin current $\mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\rho}$ is tangential in its first index and transverse and anti-symmetric in the last two.

Furthermore, variations with respect to the curvature tensors define the surface curvature moment, $\mathcal{I}_{\mu}{}^{\nu\lambda\rho}$, the outer curvature moment, $\mathcal{H}_{\mu}{}^{\nu\lambda\rho}$, and the background curvature quadrupole moment, $\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}{}^{\nu\lambda\rho}$, from the expressions

$$\mathcal{I}_{\mu}{}^{\nu\lambda\rho} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\gamma|}} \frac{\widetilde{\delta}_{\xi} \mathcal{L}}{\widetilde{\delta}_{\xi} \mathcal{R}^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\nu\rho}}, \quad \mathcal{H}_{\mu}{}^{\nu\lambda\rho} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\gamma|}} \frac{\widetilde{\delta}_{\xi} \mathcal{L}}{\widetilde{\delta}_{\xi} \Omega^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\nu\rho}}, \quad \mathcal{Q}_{\mu}{}^{\nu\lambda\rho} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\gamma|}} \frac{\delta_{\xi} \mathcal{L}}{\delta_{\xi} R^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\nu\rho}}.$$
(2.39)

The curvature moments encode responses due to the intrinsic, outer and background curvature. The curvature moments inherit the symmetries of the Riemann tensor, in particular, $Q^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} = -Q^{\mu\rho\lambda\nu}$. The surface curvature moment $\mathcal{I}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ is purely tangential while the outer curvature moment $\mathcal{H}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ is transverse in its first and third indices and tangential in its second and fourth indices.

Given the definitions in eq. (2.35)–(2.39) the action (2.32) transforms under a Lagrangian variation as

$$\delta_{\xi}S[\Phi(\sigma)] = \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p}\sigma\sqrt{|\gamma|} \left(-\frac{1}{2}\mathcal{T}_{\mu\nu}\,\delta_{\xi}\gamma^{\mu\nu} - \mathcal{P}_{\mu}{}^{\nu}\,\delta_{\xi}\bot^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + \frac{1}{2}\mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu}\,\delta_{\xi}\bot_{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{V}_{\mu}\delta_{\xi}n^{\mu}\,\delta_{n,1} \right. \\ \left. + \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho}\,\delta_{\xi}K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} + \mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\rho}\widetilde{\delta}_{\xi}\omega_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\rho} + \mathcal{Q}_{\mu}{}^{\nu\lambda\rho}\,\delta_{\xi}R^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\nu\rho} \right.$$

$$\left. + \mathcal{I}_{\mu}{}^{\nu\lambda\rho}\,\widetilde{\delta}_{\xi}\mathcal{R}^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\nu\rho} + \mathcal{H}_{\mu}{}^{\nu\lambda\rho}\,\widetilde{\delta}_{\xi}\Omega^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\nu\rho} \right).$$

$$\left. (2.40)\right.$$

We do not give considerable attention, due to the reasons explained in footnote 11, to couplings to $\mathcal{R}^{\mu}{}_{\nu\lambda\rho}$ and $\Omega^{\mu}{}_{\nu\lambda\rho}$. For that reason we will not consider the last line in eq. (2.40) in the core of this paper, with exception of a few comments in passing, and refer the reader to appendix B for this generalisation.

The result of the variation in (2.40), after integration by parts and using formulae in appendix A, can be expressed in terms of the vector field ξ^{μ} and its normal derivatives. Terms that involve normal derivatives cannot be further integrated by parts and so need to vanish independently for the variational principle to be well defined. This sets constraints on the type of actions that can be constructed. Schematically, in terms of ξ^{μ} and its derivatives, we find that¹⁵

$$\delta_{\xi}S[\Phi(\sigma)] = \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p}\sigma\sqrt{|\gamma|} \left(B^{\mu\nu} \perp_{\mu}{}^{\rho}\nabla_{\rho}\xi_{\nu} + B^{\mu}\xi_{\mu}\right) + \int_{\partial\mathcal{W}} d^{p-1}\widetilde{\sigma}\sqrt{|h|} \widetilde{n}_{\mu} \left(\widetilde{B}^{\mu\nu\rho}P^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}\nabla_{\lambda}\xi_{\rho} + \widetilde{B}^{\mu\nu}\xi_{\nu}\right), \qquad (2.41)$$

where we have assumed that the edges of the surface do not have edges themselves. Each of the above terms must vanish independently. The last two terms are boundary terms and we will give them special attention at the end of this section, where we describe edge dynamics.

¹⁵In principle, we should consider terms up to three normal derivatives of ξ_{μ} . However, for the couplings we consider, such terms automatically vanish.

2.2.1 Surface equations of motion and diffeomorphism constraints

Equating the first term in (2.41) to zero implies the following relation

$$\mathcal{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \perp^{\nu\alpha} \gamma_{\mu}{}^{\sigma} + \mathcal{B}^{\alpha\sigma} - \mathcal{D}^{\mu\lambda\sigma} K_{\mu\lambda}{}^{\alpha} + \mathcal{S}^{\mu\lambda\alpha} K_{\mu}{}^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda} - \perp_{\lambda}{}^{\sigma} \perp_{\rho}{}^{\alpha} \overline{\nabla}_{\mu} \mathcal{S}^{\mu\lambda\rho}$$

$$= \perp_{\lambda}{}^{\alpha} \Pi^{\sigma\lambda} + (\mathcal{V}_{\mu} \perp^{\mu\sigma} n^{\alpha} + \mathcal{V}_{\mu} \gamma^{\mu\sigma} n^{\alpha}) \delta_{n,1} , \qquad (2.42)$$

where we have defined the tensor

$$\Pi^{\sigma\lambda} = \mathcal{Q}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu\nu\rho} + \mathcal{Q}^{\sigma\nu\mu\rho}R^{\lambda}{}_{\mu\nu\rho} + 2\mathcal{Q}^{\mu\lambda\nu\rho}R^{\sigma}{}_{\rho\nu\mu}.$$
(2.43)

By projecting (2.42) orthogonally in the index σ and anti-symmetrising the two free indices one finds

$$\mathcal{D}^{\mu\lambda[\sigma}K_{\mu\lambda}{}^{\alpha]} + \bot_{\lambda}{}^{\sigma}\bot_{\rho}{}^{\alpha}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\mathcal{S}^{\mu\lambda\rho} + \bot_{\nu}{}^{[\sigma}\bot_{\lambda}{}^{\alpha]}\Pi^{\nu\lambda} = 0.$$
(2.44)

This equation expresses the violation of spin conservation and is a generalisation of that found in [10] in order to account for possible couplings to background curvature. By projecting (2.42) orthogonally in the index σ and symmetrising both free indices leads to

$$\mathcal{B}^{\alpha\sigma} = \mathcal{D}^{\mu\lambda(\sigma}K_{\mu\lambda}{}^{\alpha)} + \perp_{\nu}{}^{(\sigma}\perp_{\lambda}{}^{\alpha)}\Pi^{\nu\lambda} + \mathcal{V}_{\mu}\perp^{\mu\sigma} n^{\alpha}\,\delta_{n,1}\,.$$
(2.45)

As advertised earlier, this equation expresses the fact that the transverse stress tensor $\mathcal{B}^{\alpha\sigma}$ is not independent but given in terms of the bending moment and the quadrupole moment when n > 1. Finally, projecting (2.42) tangentially along the index σ leads to

$$\mathcal{P}^{\sigma}{}_{\alpha} = \mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\lambda}K_{\mu}{}^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda} + \gamma_{\nu}{}^{\sigma} \perp_{\lambda\alpha} \Pi^{\nu\lambda} + \mathcal{V}_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu\sigma}n_{\alpha}\,\delta_{n,1}\,, \qquad (2.46)$$

which expresses the fact that the mixed worldvolume-transverse stress tensor is not independent but given in terms of the spin current and the quadrupole moment when n > 1. Eqs. (2.45)–(2.46) state that one cannot trade off the bending moment, spin current and quadrupole moment by the stresses $\mathcal{B}^{\alpha\sigma}$ and $\mathcal{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$ as the latter do not contain enough information to determine the former. As a reminder, for codimension n = 1 one should write $\mathcal{P}^{\sigma}{}_{\alpha} = 0$.

Consider now the vanishing of the second term in (2.41). This leads to the set of equations

$$\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\mathcal{T}^{\lambda\sigma} + \gamma_{\mu}{}^{\lambda} \left(\perp_{\nu}{}^{\sigma} \Pi^{\mu\nu} - \Pi^{\sigma\mu} \right) - \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \overline{\nabla}_{\mu} \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma} - 2 \mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\sigma} K_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\alpha} \right)$$

$$= \left(\mathcal{S}^{\mu\lambda\rho} - \mathcal{D}^{\mu\lambda\rho} \right) R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu\lambda\rho} + 2 \mathcal{Q}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \nabla_{\nu} R^{\sigma}{}_{\rho\mu\lambda} , \qquad (2.47)$$

where we have made used of the constraint (2.46) in order to eliminate $\mathcal{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$. The equations obtained in [10] correspond to the case in which the curvature quadrupole moment vanishes and therefore $\mathcal{Q}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} = 0$.

The tangential projection of (2.47) along the σ index leads to a conservation equation that must be automatically satisfied for any action that is reparameterisation invariant

$$\gamma^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda}\left(\mathcal{T}^{\lambda\sigma}+\gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu}\left(\perp^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}\Pi^{\mu\nu}-\Pi^{\sigma\mu}\right)-\gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma}\right)$$
$$=\mathcal{S}^{\mu\lambda\sigma}\Omega^{\rho}{}_{\mu\lambda\sigma}-\mathcal{D}^{\mu\lambda\alpha}\gamma^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu\lambda\alpha}+2\mathcal{Q}^{\mu\nu\lambda\alpha}\gamma^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}\nabla_{\nu}R^{\sigma}{}_{\alpha\mu\lambda}\,,$$
(2.48)

where we have used the Ricci-Voss equation (2.21).

The orthogonal projection in turn yields the non-trivial dynamics and the resulting equation is often called the shape equation, which takes the form

$$\mathcal{T}^{\lambda\sigma}K_{\lambda\sigma}{}^{\rho} = -\pm^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda}\left(\gamma_{\mu}{}^{\lambda}\left(\pm_{\nu}{}^{\sigma}\Pi^{\mu\nu}-\Pi^{\sigma\mu}\right)-\gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma}-2\mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\sigma}K_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\alpha}\right) +\pm^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}\left(\mathcal{S}^{\mu\lambda\alpha}-\mathcal{D}^{\mu\lambda\alpha}\right)R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu\lambda\alpha}+2\mathcal{Q}^{\mu\nu\lambda\alpha}\pm^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}\nabla_{\nu}R^{\sigma}{}_{\alpha\mu\lambda}.$$
(2.49)

This equation can be seen as a force balance equation on the surface, where the bending moment, spin current and curvature quadrupole moment introduce sources of stress on the surface.

When both the bending moment and the curvature quadrupole moment vanish, these equations reduce to those obtained by Papapetrou for spinning point-particles [55], while if we restrict to codimension-1, this equation is a generalisation of membrane dynamics in classical elasticity theory [10]. The simplicity of (2.47)–(2.49) is stunning, since the tensor structures involved such as $Q^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ can contain any contraction of an arbitrary number of copies of all the geometric tensors involved, e.g. $R_{\sigma\rho\mu\lambda}$. In particular, the equations of motion arising from any type of background Lovelock theory, surface Lovelock theory or transverse Lovelock theory are included.

2.2.2 Edge equations of motion and diffeomorphism constraints

The edge terms in (2.40) deserve special attention. In the variational principle described in (2.40) we have not assumed the existence of extra sources of stress at the edges, for example the effect due to considering an edge tension in the action (2.32). The boundary conditions we describe here apply therefore only to the case of free edges, such as open strings without extra sources of matter attached to its ends. We postpone more general boundaries to section 2.3. The third term in (2.41) leads to the boundary conditions, upon projecting with $\perp^{\alpha}{}_{\lambda}$ and \tilde{n}_{λ} , respectively

$$\widetilde{n}_{\mu}\mathcal{S}^{\mu\lambda\rho}|_{\partial\mathcal{W}} = 0\,, \quad \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\nu}\mathcal{D}^{\lambda\nu\sigma}|_{\partial\mathcal{W}} = 0\,, \tag{2.50}$$

while the last term in (2.41) leads to the equation of motion for the boundary dynamics

$$\left. \widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\widetilde{n}_{\mu} h^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma} \right) - \widetilde{n}_{\lambda} \left(\mathcal{T}^{\lambda\sigma} + \gamma_{\mu}{}^{\lambda} \left(\perp_{\nu}{}^{\sigma} \Pi^{\mu\nu} - \Pi^{\sigma\mu} \right) - \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \overline{\nabla}_{\mu} \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma} - 2 \mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\sigma} K_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\alpha} \right) \right|_{\partial \mathcal{W}} = 0,$$

$$(2.51)$$

where we have again used (2.46) in order to eliminate $\mathcal{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$. The first two boundary conditions state that there should not be any flow of spin and bending moment along the normal components to the boundary. Eq. (2.51) can be interpreted as the conservation of the non-symmetric boundary stress tensor $\tilde{n}_{\nu}\mathcal{D}^{\nu\lambda\sigma}$ and can be projected in different ways. The projection onto the transverse *n*-dimensional space yields

$$\perp^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda}\left(\widetilde{n}_{\nu}h^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}\mathcal{D}^{\nu\nu\sigma}\right) + \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\perp^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}\left(\gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu}\left(\Pi^{\sigma\mu} - \perp_{\nu}{}^{\sigma}\Pi^{\mu\nu}\right) + \perp^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}\gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma} - 2\mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\rho}K_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\alpha}\right) = 0,$$

$$(2.52)$$

while the projection along the normal to the boundary yields

$$\widetilde{n}_{\nu}\mathcal{D}^{\nu\lambda\sigma}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\sigma} = \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\sigma}\left(-\mathcal{T}^{\lambda\sigma} + \Pi^{\lambda\sigma} + \overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\mu\lambda\sigma}\right), \qquad (2.53)$$

which, by subtracting $\tilde{n}_{\nu} \mathcal{D}^{\nu[\lambda\sigma]} \widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda} \tilde{n}_{\sigma}$ from the left hand side, can be interpreted as a Young-Laplace law since $\widetilde{\nabla}_{(\lambda} \tilde{n}_{\sigma)}$ is (minus) the component of the extrinsic curvature normal to the boundary but along the surface. On the other hand, the tangential projection along boundary directions, using h^{ρ}_{σ} , results in

$$\widetilde{n}_{\nu}\mathcal{D}^{\nu\lambda\sigma}\mathcal{K}_{\lambda}{}^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} = \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}h^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}\left(-\mathcal{T}^{\lambda\sigma} + \Pi^{\sigma\lambda} + \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma}\right).$$
(2.54)

This equation appears to be a Young-Laplace equation for the stress $\tilde{n}_{\nu} \mathcal{D}^{\nu\lambda\sigma}$ and with a pressure term equal to the r.h.s. but the free index is tangential. As a final remark, we will show in section 2.3 that introducing new degrees of freedom on the boundary modifies the r.h.s. of (2.50)-(2.51), and therefore their projections.

2.2.3 An interpretation for the constraints

The constraints (2.44)–(2.46) can be understood as consequences of the invariance of the action under local coordinate transformations. Choosing Riemann-normal coordinates in the neighbourhood of a point q, such that $\Gamma^{\lambda}_{\mu\nu}|_q = 0$, a linear coordinate transformation can be decomposed as

$$\xi_{\mu}(x) = \left(\omega_{\mu\nu} + \Lambda_{\mu\nu}\right) x^{\nu}, \qquad (2.55)$$

where $\Lambda_{\mu\nu}$ is a matrix in the Lorentz group and $\omega_{\mu\nu}$ a symmetric matrix with constant coefficients in the completion of the group of general coordinate transformations. Under this restricted variation, one finds

$$\delta_{\omega}S[\Phi(\sigma)]|_{q} = \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p}\sigma\sqrt{|\gamma|}B^{\mu\nu}(\omega_{\mu\nu}+\Lambda_{\mu\nu}) + \int_{\partial\mathcal{W}} d^{p-1}\widetilde{\sigma}\sqrt{|h|} \ \widetilde{n}_{\mu}\widetilde{B}^{\mu\nu\rho}(\omega_{\mu\nu}+\Lambda_{\mu\nu}) \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p}\sigma\sqrt{|\gamma|}B^{\mu}\xi_{\mu} + \int_{\partial\mathcal{W}} d^{p-1}\widetilde{\sigma}\sqrt{|h|} \ \widetilde{n}_{\mu}\widetilde{B}^{\mu\nu}\xi_{\nu}.$$

$$(2.56)$$

On-shell, when the equations of motion (2.47) and (2.51) are satisfied, one has that $B^{\mu} = \tilde{n}_{\mu}\tilde{B}^{\mu\nu} = 0$ and the remaining terms above yield the constraints. In particular, the transverse part in the two indices of the Lorentz matrix leads to

$$\perp^{\mu}{}_{\lambda}\perp^{\nu}{}_{\rho}B^{[\lambda\rho]} = 0, \quad \perp^{\mu}{}_{\lambda}\perp^{\nu}{}_{\rho}\widetilde{n}_{\alpha}\widetilde{B}^{\alpha[\lambda\rho]}|_{\partial\mathcal{W}} = 0, \qquad (2.57)$$

which leads to (2.45) and to the first equation in (2.50). Therefore, this constraint can be interpreted as a consequence of invariance under local rotations of the normal coordinates. In turn, the different projections of the symmetric part in (2.56) yield the constraints (2.45), (2.46) and the second constraint in (2.50). This expresses the fact that this formulation incorporates all requirements of general covariance.

When no couplings to the background curvature are present, i.e. $\Pi^{\sigma\lambda} = 0$, (2.50) and (2.45) were also obtained by requiring the action (2.32) to be invariant under infinitesimal rotations of the normal vectors when using a gauge formulation of the variational principle [56].

We have just shown that the constraints (2.45) can be understood as a consequence of invariance of the action under local rotations of the normal coordinates. However, in general, arbitrary tangential diffeomorphisms lead to the constraints (2.45)-(2.46) and (2.50).

For example, in order to get the constraint (2.45), one may consider a tangential diffeomorphism $\xi_{\mu} = \xi_{\mu}^{||}$ for which $\perp^{\mu}{}_{\alpha} \perp^{\nu}{}_{\sigma} \partial_{[\mu} \xi_{\nu]}^{||}$ is non-vanishing. Alternatively, it suffices to consider a diffeomorphism that vanishes at the surface but whose derivatives do not. This is sufficient for obtaining only the first and third terms in (2.41). This implies that for the action (2.32) to be well-defined, the constraints (2.45)–(2.46), (2.50) and the tangential projection of the equations of motion (2.48) must be off-shell satisfied, i.e. they must be satisfied for all shape configurations whether or not they are solutions to (2.49). In other words, the constraints (2.45)–(2.46) and (2.50) are non-dynamical and only the shape equation (2.49) is non-trivial. As we shall see, the constraint (2.45) can restrict the type of terms that can compose the action (2.32).

2.3 Surfaces with non-trivial edges and intersections

In the previous sections we considered surfaces with trivial edges, i.e. edges with no extra sources of stress. However, the possibility of adding such extra sources of stress deserves to be explored as it can have different physical applications. These include the dynamics of strings with spinning point-particles attached, edge tension or entanglement entropy, among others. The edges of the surface can be seen as codimension n = 1 surfaces embedded in the *p*-dimensional surface. However, the most natural and general viewpoint, given the covariant approach taken here, is to view the boundary of the surface of codimension n as a surface of codimension n + 1 localised at the edges of the *p*-dimensional surface.

We therefore consider extending the action (2.32) to an action that also depends on the set of edge fields

$$\Phi_e(\widetilde{\sigma}) = \{ \widetilde{X}^{\mu}(\widetilde{\sigma}), h^{\mu\nu}(\widetilde{\sigma}), P^{\nu}{}_{\mu}(\widetilde{\sigma}), P_{\mu\nu}(\widetilde{\sigma}), \mathcal{K}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho}(\widetilde{\sigma}), \varpi_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\rho}(\widetilde{\sigma}), R_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}(\widetilde{\sigma}), \widetilde{n}^{\mu}(\widetilde{\sigma}) \} , \quad (2.58)$$

and that takes the general form

$$S[\Phi(\sigma), \Phi_e(\widetilde{\sigma})] = \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^p \sigma \mathcal{L}[\Phi(\sigma)] + \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}} d^{p-1} \widetilde{\sigma} \mathcal{L}_e[\Phi_e(\widetilde{\sigma})], \qquad (2.59)$$

where the first contribution is the surface action S_s as in (2.32) while the second contribution is the edge action S_e . The variation of S_s is given in (2.40) while the Lagrangian variation of the edge action, keeping $\tilde{X}^{\mu}(\tilde{\sigma})$ fixed, is organised analogously to (2.40) as

$$\delta_{\xi} S_{e}[\Phi_{e}(\widetilde{\sigma})] = \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}} d^{p-1} \widetilde{\sigma} \sqrt{|h|} \left(-\frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_{\mu\nu} \delta_{\xi} h^{\mu\nu} - \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}_{\mu}^{\ \nu} \delta_{\xi} P^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}^{\mu\nu} \delta_{\xi} P_{\mu\nu} + \widetilde{\mathcal{V}}_{\mu} \delta_{\xi} \widetilde{n}^{\mu} + \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho} \delta_{\xi} \mathcal{K}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} + \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\rho} \delta_{\xi} \varpi_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\rho} + \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{\mu}{}^{\nu\lambda\rho} \delta_{\xi} R^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\nu\rho} \right),$$

$$(2.60)$$

where the different tensor structures characterising the edges are defined as in (2.35)–(2.39) and have the same interpretation but now applied to the edge. In particular, $\tilde{\mathcal{T}}_{\mu\nu}$ is the edge tangential stress tensor. The total variation of (2.59) takes the form

$$\delta_{\xi}S[\Phi(\sigma), \Phi_{e}(\widetilde{\sigma})] = \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p}\sigma\sqrt{|\gamma|} \left(B^{\mu\nu} \bot_{\mu}{}^{\rho}\nabla_{\rho}\xi_{\nu} + B^{\mu}\xi_{\mu}\right)$$

$$+ \int_{\partial\mathcal{W}} d^{p-1}\widetilde{\sigma}\sqrt{|h|} \left(\left(\widetilde{B}_{e}^{\nu\rho} + \widetilde{n}_{\mu}\widetilde{B}^{\mu\nu\rho}\right)P^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}\nabla_{\lambda}\xi_{\rho} + \left(\widetilde{B}_{e}^{\nu} + \widetilde{n}_{\mu}\widetilde{B}^{\mu\nu}\right)\xi_{\nu}\right),$$

$$(2.61)$$

where $\tilde{B}_e^{\nu\rho}$ and \tilde{B}_e^{ν} denote the contributions due to the edge action and we have again assumed that the surface's edges do not have edges themselves. The first line in eq. (2.61), evaluated on \mathcal{W} , leads to the constraints (2.44)–(2.46) and the equation of motion (2.47). The second line in eq. (2.61), evaluated on $\partial \mathcal{W}$, leads to constraints and equations of motion analogous to those of (2.44)–(2.47) but they take into account the sources (2.50)–(2.51). In particular, from the first boundary term, one finds the constraints

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\lambda[\sigma}\mathcal{K}_{\mu\lambda}{}^{\alpha]} + P^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda}P^{\alpha}{}_{\rho}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\mu\lambda\rho} + P^{[\sigma}{}_{\nu}P^{\alpha]}{}_{\lambda}\widetilde{\Pi}^{\nu\lambda} &= \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\lambda\mu[\sigma}\widetilde{n}^{\alpha]} + \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}P^{\alpha}{}_{\mu}P^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}\mathcal{S}^{\lambda\nu\mu} \,, \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}^{\alpha\sigma} &= \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\lambda(\sigma}\mathcal{K}_{\mu\lambda}{}^{\alpha)} + P^{(\sigma}{}_{\nu}P^{\alpha)}{}_{\lambda}\widetilde{\Pi}^{\nu\lambda} - \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\lambda\mu(\sigma}\widetilde{n}^{\alpha)} + \widetilde{\mathcal{V}}_{\mu}P^{\mu(\alpha}\widetilde{n}^{\sigma)} \,, \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\sigma}{}_{\alpha} &= \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\lambda}\mathcal{K}_{\mu}{}^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda} + h^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}P_{\alpha\lambda}\widetilde{\Pi}^{\nu\lambda} + \widetilde{\mathcal{V}}_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu\sigma}\widetilde{n}_{\alpha} \,, \end{split}$$
(2.62)

where we have defined $\widetilde{\Pi}^{\mu\nu}$ as in (2.43) but with $Q^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ replaced by $\widetilde{Q}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$. The first equation expresses the violation of the conservation of the spin current on the edges and, besides the usual terms also present in (2.44), extra sources due to the surface appear. The second equation exhibits a new contribution to the transverse stress tensor due to the presence of the surface bending moment while the third equation shows that the mixed tangential-transverse stress tensor remains unchanged.

The equation of motion at the edges takes the form

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}^{\lambda\sigma} + h^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} \left(P^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} \widetilde{\Pi}^{\mu\nu} - \widetilde{\Pi}^{\sigma\mu} \right) - h^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\nu\sigma} - 2 \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\sigma} \mathcal{K}_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\alpha} + \widetilde{n}_{\mu} h^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma} \right) \\ &= \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\mu\lambda\rho} - \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\lambda\rho} \right) R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu\lambda\rho} + 2 \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \nabla_{\nu} R^{\sigma}{}_{\rho\mu\lambda} \\ &+ \widetilde{n}_{\lambda} \left(\mathcal{T}^{\lambda\sigma} + \gamma_{\mu}{}^{\lambda} \left(\perp_{\nu}{}^{\sigma} \Pi^{\mu\nu} - \Pi^{\sigma\mu} \right) - \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \overline{\nabla}_{\mu} \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma} - 2 \mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\sigma} \mathcal{K}_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\alpha} \right) \,, \end{split}$$
(2.63)

and one may observe that the effect of the sources (2.50)–(2.51) is to add a contribution $\tilde{n}_{\nu}\mathcal{D}^{\nu\lambda\sigma}$ to an effective stress tensor on the surface and to add a pressure term on the right hand side of the equation, composed of a linear combination of surface contributions.

2.3.1 Intersections

The results presented above for surfaces with edges can be easily generalised to any surface/brane complex and its intersections. An intersection is a (p-1)-dimensional surface that acts as the edge/boundary of an arbitrary number of p-dimensional surfaces. Slightly abusing the notation, we now consider the set of edge fields $\Phi_e(\sigma)$ to be the set of geometric fields living on the intersection, also denoted by ∂W . We consider an l number of surfaces $\mathcal{W}_{(i)}$ and their intersection ∂W . The fields living on each p-dimensional surface with coordinates $\sigma_{(i)}$ are denoted by $\Phi_{(i)}(\sigma_{(i)})$ and they consist of the set (2.31) with the subscript (i). The action takes the following form

$$S[\Phi_{(i)}(\sigma_{(i)}), \Phi_e(\widetilde{\sigma})] = \sum_{i=1}^l \int_{\mathcal{W}_{(i)}} d^p \sigma_{(i)} \mathcal{L}[\Phi_{(i)}(\sigma_{(i)})] + \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}} d^{p-1} \widetilde{\sigma} \mathcal{L}_e[\Phi_e(\widetilde{\sigma})].$$
(2.64)

For each surface $\mathcal{W}_{(i)}$ there will be an analogous shape equation to the one derived above for a single surface, while for the intersection, the equations of motion read

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}^{\lambda\sigma} + h^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} \left(P^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} \widetilde{\Pi}^{\mu\nu} - \widetilde{\Pi}^{\sigma\mu} \right) - h^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\nu\sigma} - 2 \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\sigma} \mathcal{K}_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\alpha} + h^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \sum_{i=1}^{l} \widetilde{n}_{\mu}^{(i)} \mathcal{D}_{(i)}^{\mu\nu\sigma} \right) \\ &= \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\mu\lambda\rho} - \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\lambda\rho} \right) R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu\lambda\rho} + 2 \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \nabla_{\nu} R^{\sigma}{}_{\rho\mu\lambda} \tag{2.65} \\ &+ \sum_{i=1}^{l} \left[\widetilde{n}_{\lambda}^{(i)} \left(\mathcal{T}_{(i)}^{\lambda\sigma} + \gamma_{\mu}{}^{\lambda}{}_{(i)} \left(\bot_{\nu}{}^{\sigma}{}_{(i)} \Pi^{\mu\nu}_{(i)} - \Pi^{\sigma\mu}_{(i)} \right) - \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu(i)} \overline{\nabla}^{(i)}_{\mu} \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma}_{(i)} - 2 \mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\sigma}{}_{(i)} \mathcal{K}_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\alpha}{}_{(i)} \right) \right], \end{split}$$

where we have introduced the normal vectors to each *p*-dimensional surface's edge $\tilde{n}_{\lambda}^{(i)}$ and the surface covariant derivate $\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}^{(i)} = \gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\mu}{}^{(i)}\nabla_{\alpha}$ on each *p*-dimensional surface. The effect of each *p*-dimensional surface on the intersection is to contribute with an effective pressure on the right hand side and with an effective stress tensor on the left hand side of the equation of motion. It is straightforward to generalise this to more complicated surface complexes where each of the *p*-dimensional surfaces considered above may also be the edges of other (p+1)-dimensional surfaces.

2.4 Interfaces

In this section we analyse in detail the diffeomorphism constraints and shape equations for an interior region \mathcal{B}_{int} in the spacetime \mathcal{M} enclosed by an interface/surface \mathcal{W} . This type of actions are of interest, for example, in the context of soap bubbles, fluid membranes and fluid droplets.

Consider actions for an interior spacetime region \mathcal{B}_{int} enclosed by a dynamical interface \mathcal{W} separating another exterior region \mathcal{B}_{ext} .¹⁶ We write this general action as the sum of three contributions

$$S[\Phi_{\rm int}(x), \Phi(\sigma), \Phi_{\rm ext}(x)] = \int_{\mathcal{B}_{\rm int}} d^D x \mathcal{L}[\Phi_{\rm int}(x)] + \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^p \sigma \mathcal{L}[\Phi(\sigma)] + \int_{\mathcal{B}_{\rm text}} d^D x \mathcal{L}[\Phi_{\rm ext}(x)],$$
(2.66)

where the first contribution represents the enclosed internal region and the last contribution the exterior region. The collective set of surface fields $\Phi(\sigma)$ is the same as in (2.31), while for the interior and exterior regions we consider to be functions of the metric and the background Riemann tensor

$$\Phi_{\rm int}(x) = \{g_{\mu\nu}^{\rm int}(x), \quad R_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}^{\rm int}(x)\}, \quad \Phi_{\rm ext}(x) = \{g_{\mu\nu}^{\rm ext}(x), \quad R_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}^{\rm ext}(x)\}.$$
(2.67)

Here $g_{\mu\nu}^{\text{int}}$ and $R_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}^{\text{int}}$ denote the background metric and background Riemann tensor, respectively, in the enclosed region while $g_{\mu\nu}^{\text{ext}}$ and $R_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}^{\text{ext}}$ denote the same quantities in the exterior one. From (2.66) it is clear that the stress tensor will have bulk and exterior components besides the surface components that we have dealt with in the previous section.

¹⁶Note that this analysis is different than that considered in the context of boundary terms for variational principles in General Relativity. In that context, the induced metric γ_{ab} on the boundary/interface is held fixed under Lagrangian variations (see e.g. [57]).

However, there can be an inflow of energy-momentum from the interior/exterior to the surface. In what follows, we will drop the labels int/ext from the background fields for simplicity and work as if only the enclosed region in (2.66) was present. However, one can at any time easily restore the contribution from the exterior region by simply subtracting equivalent terms to all contributions arising from the interior of the enclosed region.

Focusing on the action for the enclosed region, we organise its variation according to

$$\delta_{\xi}S[\Phi_{\rm int}(x),\Phi(\sigma)] = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{B}_{\rm int}} d^D x \sqrt{|g|} \left(T^{\mu\nu}_{\rm int} \delta_{\xi} g_{\mu\nu} + L^{\nu\lambda\rho}_{\mu} \delta_{\xi} R^{\mu}_{\lambda\nu\rho} \right) + \delta_{\xi}S[\Phi(\sigma)], \quad (2.68)$$

while the variation of the interface $\delta_{\xi}S[\Phi(\sigma)]$ is given by (2.40). Here, $T_{\text{int}}^{\mu\nu}$ encodes responses to variations of $g_{\mu\nu}$, as is the case of a simple volume term, while $L_{\mu}^{\nu\lambda\rho}$ encodes the response of changes in the background curvature. Formally, the variation (2.68) can be expressed as a single variation with respect to $\delta_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu}$ but we have chosen to denote by $T_{\text{int}}^{\mu\nu}$ the couplings to $g_{\mu\nu}$ that appear explicitly in the action (2.66). These structures are defined according to

$$T_{\rm int}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{|g|}} \frac{\delta_{\xi} \mathcal{L}}{\delta_{\xi} g_{\mu\nu}}, \quad L_{\mu}^{\nu\lambda\rho} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{|g|}} \frac{\delta_{\xi} \mathcal{L}}{\delta_{\xi} R^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\nu\rho}}.$$
 (2.69)

The bulk curvature moment $L_{\mu}^{\nu\lambda\rho}$ inherits the symmetries of the Riemann tensor, similarly to the curvature moments introduced in the case of surfaces. The equations of motion that will follow from (2.68) include any type of theory built out from arbitrary contractions of the background Riemann tensor such as Lovelock gravity.

Using that for Lagrangian variations $\delta_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu} = 2\nabla_{(\mu}\xi_{\nu)}$, together with appendix A, the total variation of the action, including the surface part, can be organised as

$$\delta_{\xi}S[\Phi_{\rm int}(x),\Phi(\sigma)] = \int_{\mathcal{B}_{\rm int}} d^{D}x\sqrt{|g|} \mathring{B}^{\mu}\xi_{\mu} + \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p}\sigma\sqrt{|\gamma|} \left(B^{\mu\nu\rho} \bot_{\nu}{}^{(\lambda} \bot_{\rho}{}^{\alpha)}\nabla_{\alpha}\nabla_{\lambda}\xi_{\mu} + B^{\mu\nu} \bot_{\mu}{}^{\rho}\nabla_{\rho}\xi_{\nu} + B^{\mu}\xi_{\mu}\right),$$
(2.70)

for which, besides the appearance of a new term in the first line, there is a new term in the surface variation proportional to $B^{\mu\nu\rho}$ when compared to (2.41).¹⁷ All the terms above must vanish individually. From the bulk part we obtain the bulk equation of motion

$$\nabla_{\mu} \left(T_{\text{int}}^{\mu\nu} - 2\nabla_{\lambda} \nabla_{\rho} L^{\lambda\rho(\mu\nu)} \right) \Big|_{\mathcal{B}_{\text{int}}} = 0, \qquad (2.71)$$

which not surprisingly is simply the conservation of the bulk components of the spacetime stress tensor, as we will see in the next section. In turn, on the interface, we find the diffeomorphism constraint

$$2n_{\sigma}L^{\mu\sigma\rho\nu}\perp_{\nu}{}^{(\lambda}\perp_{\rho}{}^{\alpha)}|_{\mathcal{W}}=0\,,\qquad(2.72)$$

which is always trivially satisfied since in this case $\perp_{\mu\nu} = n_{\mu}n_{\nu}$ and $L^{\mu\sigma\rho\nu}$ is anti-symmetric in the indices σ, ν . The non-trivial diffeomorphism constraint that arises from the second

¹⁷This term did not appear in (2.41) simply because all the variations taken there automatically satisfied the constraint that arises from $B^{\mu\nu\rho}$.

term in the second line of (2.70) leads to the same two constraints (2.45) and (2.46). In particular we have that

$$\gamma_{\nu}{}^{\sigma} \perp_{\lambda\alpha} \Pi^{\nu\lambda} + \mathcal{V}_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu\sigma} n_{\alpha}\delta_{n,1} = 0.$$
(2.73)

We remind the reader that since the interface is codimension n = 1 then $\mathcal{P}^{\mu\nu}$ is absent and the constraint (2.44) is automatically satisfied. Finally, the equation of motion on the surface takes the form

$$\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\mathcal{T}^{\lambda\sigma} + \gamma_{\mu}{}^{\lambda} (\perp_{\nu}{}^{\sigma}\Pi^{\mu\nu} - \Pi^{\sigma\mu}) - \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma} + \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} \left(\mathring{T}^{\mu\sigma} - \overline{\nabla}_{\rho} \left(\gamma^{\rho}{}_{\alpha} \mathring{T}^{\alpha\sigma\mu} \right) \right) \right)$$
(2.74)

$$= \mathcal{D}^{\mu\lambda\rho} R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu\rho\lambda} + 2\mathcal{Q}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \nabla_{\nu} R^{\sigma}{}_{\rho\mu\lambda} + \left(\mathring{T}^{\mu\alpha\rho} + \frac{1}{2} \bot^{\rho}{}_{\tau} \mathring{T}^{\tau\alpha\mu} \right) R^{\sigma}{}_{\alpha\mu\rho} + n_{\lambda} \left(T^{\lambda\sigma}_{\text{int}} - 2\nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\rho} L^{\mu\rho(\lambda\sigma)} \right),$$

where we have set the spin current $S_{\mu}{}^{\nu\rho} = 0$ since it vanishes for codimension n = 1. We have also defined

$$\mathring{T}^{\mu\nu} = 2n_{\lambda}\nabla_{\rho}L^{\lambda\rho(\mu\nu)} - 2\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda}\left(\gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\rho}n_{\sigma}L^{(\mu|\sigma\rho|\nu)}\right), \quad \mathring{T}^{\mu\nu\rho} = 2n_{\sigma}L^{(\mu|\sigma\lambda|\nu)}\bot^{\rho}{}_{\lambda}.$$
(2.75)

These definitions were introduced due to their frame-invariant properties, as explained in appendix B. The last term in (2.74) is the usual contribution that takes into account the effect of the bulk pressure in the Young-Laplace law. If the bulk action is only composed of the volume term $\sqrt{|g|}P$ for constant P, then the normal projection of the last term in (2.74) yields the bulk pressure P. The last contribution in the first line and the third term in the second line in (2.74) take into account the inflow of energy-momentum from the bulk to the interface.

3 Spacetime stress tensor

The variational principle cast in (2.40) in terms of Lagrangian variations is in essence a variational principle in terms of variations of the underlying background metric. In particular, the tensorial objects defined in (2.35)-(2.39) are nothing but a convenient packaging with a clear physical meaning from the point of view of the embedded surface, thus aiding in the presentation of the resultant dynamics. In this section we relate explicitly these tensorial objects to the stress tensor obtained from the variation of the surface action with respect to the background metric $g_{\mu\nu}$. The construction of the spacetime stress tensor allows to define conserved currents and charges associated with a given surface.

3.1 Spacetime stress tensor for surfaces

One can recast the action (2.32) as an integral over the whole manifold \mathcal{M} of a Lagrangian dependent only on $\Phi(\sigma) = \{g_{\mu\nu}(X), X^{\mu}(\sigma)\}$ with the help of the reparametrisation invariant delta function

$$\widehat{\delta}(x) = \frac{\sqrt{|\gamma|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} \,\delta^{(n)}(x^{\alpha} - X^{\alpha})\,,\tag{3.1}$$

that is^{18}

$$S[\Phi(\sigma)] = \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^D x \,\widehat{\delta}(x) \,\mathcal{L}\left[g_{\mu\nu}(X), X^{\mu}(\sigma)\right] \,. \tag{3.2}$$

With this reformulation, a Lagrangian variation where $\delta_{\xi} X^{\mu}(\sigma) = 0$ takes the usual form

$$\delta_{\xi}S[\Phi(\sigma)] = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^D x \sqrt{|g|} \left(T^{\mu\nu} \delta_{\xi} g_{\mu\nu} \right), \quad T^{\mu\nu} = \frac{2}{\sqrt{|g|}} \frac{\delta S}{\delta_{\xi} g_{\mu\nu}}, \quad (3.3)$$

which upon using that $\delta_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu} = 2\nabla_{(\mu}\xi_{\nu)}$ leads to the equations of motion

$$\nabla_{\mu} \boldsymbol{T}^{\mu\nu} = 0, \quad \boldsymbol{T}^{\mu\nu} \eta_{\mu}|_{\partial \mathcal{M}} = 0, \qquad (3.4)$$

where we have introduced the unit-normalised normal co-vector η_{μ} to the spacetime boundary. We assume that this boundary condition is satisfied or that the spacetime has no boundaries. The simplicity of the reformulation of the dynamics (3.4) in terms of the conservation of a spacetime stress tensor is traded by the necessity of dealing with the singular character of the stress tensor, which is now formulated as a multipole expansion in derivatives of $\hat{\delta}(x)$. For the case of the actions that we are dealing with in eq. (2.32), where couplings involve geometric tensors with at most two derivatives, the corresponding stress tensor will at most involve two derivatives of $\hat{\delta}(x)$. As such, it can be expressed as

$$\boldsymbol{T}^{\mu\nu} = T^{\mu\nu}\widehat{\delta}(x) - \nabla_{\rho}\left(T^{\mu\nu\rho}\widehat{\delta}(x)\right) + \nabla_{\lambda}\nabla_{\rho}\left(T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}\widehat{\delta}(x)\right), \qquad (3.5)$$

where the coefficients $T^{\mu\nu}$, $T^{\mu\nu\rho}$ and $T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}$ are only functions of the surface coordinates σ^a . As we shall see in section 5, the terms $T^{\mu\nu}$, $T^{\mu\nu\rho}$ and $T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}$ are also known as contact terms in the context of DCFTs. In essence, $T^{\mu\nu\rho}$ and $T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}$ represent the dipole and quadrupole moments of stress, respectively, besides the monopole source $T^{\mu\nu}$.

The stress tensor (3.5) transforms as a tensor and, in its present form, also do the components $T^{\mu\nu}$, $T^{\mu\nu\rho}$ and $T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}$. This can easily be show by evaluating the scalar functional

$$T[f] = \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^D x \sqrt{|g|} \, \boldsymbol{T}^{\mu\nu} f_{\mu\nu}$$
(3.6)

for an arbitrary tensor field $f_{\mu\nu}(x^{\alpha})$ of compact support [58]. The invariance of the scalar functional dictates the transformation properties of each of the components of the stress tensor. An alternative basis for (3.5) is also common in the literature

$$\boldsymbol{T}^{\mu\nu} = \widehat{T}^{\mu\nu}\widehat{\delta}(x) + \widehat{T}^{\mu\nu\rho}\nabla_{\rho}\widehat{\delta}(x) + \widehat{T}^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}\nabla_{\lambda}\nabla_{\rho}\widehat{\delta}(x), \qquad (3.7)$$

where the coefficients in (3.7) are related to those in (3.5) according to

$$\widehat{T}^{\mu\nu} = T^{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\rho} T^{\mu\nu\rho} + \nabla_{\lambda} \nabla_{\rho} T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} , \quad \widehat{T}^{\mu\nu\rho} = -T^{\mu\nu\rho} + 2\nabla_{\lambda} T^{\mu\nu(\rho\lambda)} , \quad \widehat{T}^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} = T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} .$$
(3.8)

¹⁸The form of (3.2) implies that we have chosen to work in the static gauge $x^1 = \sigma^1, \dots, x^p = \sigma^p$. However, this is only for convenience and does not affect the analysis carried out here. In full generality one could rewrite (3.2) as $S[\Phi(\sigma)] = \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{|g|} d^D x \bar{\mathcal{L}} [g_{\mu\nu}(X), X^{\mu}(\sigma)]$ where $\bar{\mathcal{L}} [g_{\mu\nu}(X), X^{\mu}(\sigma)] = \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^p \sigma \hat{\delta}(x)^{(D)} \mathcal{L} [g_{\mu\nu}(X), X^{\mu}(\sigma)]$ with $\hat{\delta}^{(D)}(x) = \sqrt{|\gamma|} \delta^{(D)}(x^{\alpha} - X^{\alpha})/\sqrt{|g|}$. We will explicitly write the stress tensor in this general form in (3.15) as derived from here.

It is not only clear from the properties of T[f] but also from the relation (3.8) that the components of (3.7) do not transform like tensors. Since one has assumed that each component is only a function of σ^a and hence that $\partial_{\rho}T^{\mu\nu\rho} = 0$, the derivatives in (3.8) lack their covariant properties. For some practical purposes, as describing fluids living on surfaces or fluid droplets, one may wish to allow the components of stress to be also functions of X^{μ} as in [59] or to extend them to a foliation of such surfaces as in [11]. In the latter case, the components in both basis (3.5) and (3.7) transform covariantly. But since most applications do not require such extensions, we opt for the basis (3.5).

By using the variation formulae in appendix A, the stress tensor following from eq. (2.32) takes the form given in (3.5) with components¹⁹

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu} + 2 \mathcal{P}^{\lambda}{}_{\rho} \perp^{\rho(\mu} \gamma_{\lambda}{}^{\nu)} + \mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu} - \left(\mathcal{V}_{\lambda}n^{\lambda}n^{\mu}n^{\nu} + 2\mathcal{V}_{\lambda}\gamma^{\lambda(\mu}n^{\nu)}\right)\delta_{n,1},$$

$$T^{\mu\nu\rho} = 2 \mathcal{D}^{\rho(\mu\nu)} - \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\rho} + 2 \mathcal{S}^{(\mu\nu)\rho},$$

$$T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} = -4 \mathcal{Q}^{\lambda\rho(\mu\nu)}.$$
(3.9)

It is clear from (3.9) that the structures $\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu}$, $\mathcal{P}^{\lambda}{}_{\rho}$ and $\mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu}$ for n > 1 characterise the different components of the monopole part of the stress tensor, $\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\rho}$ and $\mathcal{S}^{\mu\nu\rho}$ characterise the dipole part and $\mathcal{Q}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ characterises the quadrupole part. A posteriori, the equations in (3.9) justify the definitions of these quantities in the previous section. In the case n = 1 for which $\mathcal{P}^{\lambda}{}_{\rho} = 0$, the terms involving \mathcal{V}_{λ} contribute to both the mixed tangential-transverse components and to the fully transverse components.

Using the constraints (2.45)–(2.46) we can rewrite the stress tensor in terms of its independent components according to

$$\boldsymbol{T}^{\mu\nu} = \left[\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu} - 2\mathcal{S}^{\alpha\lambda(\mu}K_{\alpha}{}^{\nu)}{}_{\lambda} + 2\gamma_{\rho}{}^{(\mu} \pm_{\lambda}{}^{\nu)}\Pi^{\rho\lambda} + \mathcal{D}^{\alpha\lambda(\mu}K_{\alpha\lambda}{}^{\nu)} + \pm_{\rho}{}^{(\mu} \pm_{\lambda}{}^{\nu)}\Pi^{\rho\lambda} \right] \widehat{\delta}(x) - \nabla_{\rho} \left[\left(2\mathcal{D}^{\rho(\mu\nu)} - \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\rho} + 2\mathcal{S}^{(\mu\nu)\rho} \right) \widehat{\delta}(x) \right] - 4\nabla_{\lambda}\nabla_{\rho} \left[\mathcal{Q}^{\lambda\rho(\mu\nu)} \widehat{\delta}(x) \right] .$$
(3.10)

It is worth noting that the constraints (2.45)–(2.46) were derived in [58] with $T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} = 0$ by integrating (3.4) over spacetime using an analog of a Gaussian pillbox, that is, considering the integral $\int_{\mathcal{M}} d^D x \sqrt{|g|} \nabla_{\mu} T^{\mu\nu} f_{\nu}$ for some arbitrary vector field $f_{\mu}(x^{\alpha})$ with compact support. Here we have generalised these constraints to the case where $T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}$ is non-trivial and furthermore shown that a Lagrangian variational principle captures all of them. By the same token, the equations of motion that follow from (3.4) must be equivalent to those obtained in (2.47). This has been shown to be the case in [10] when $T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} = 0$. It remains to be shown, for the purpose of completeness, that by considering $\int_{\mathcal{M}} d^D x \sqrt{|g|} \nabla_{\mu} T^{\mu\nu} f_{\nu}$ one obtains (3.4) with a non-trivial $T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}$. But this is not in doubt as consistency of (2.41) with (3.3) requires it.

3.1.1 Edge contributions

The presence of non-trivial edges induces new contributions to the spacetime stress tensor

$$T^{\mu\nu} = T^{\mu\nu}_s + T^{\mu\nu}_e, \qquad (3.11)$$

¹⁹In writing $T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}$ we have assumed that $Q^{\lambda\rho\mu\nu}$ inherits all symmetries of the Riemann tensor while in the writing of the equations of motion we have only assumed the symmetry $Q^{\lambda\rho\mu\nu} = -Q^{\lambda\nu\mu\rho}$. If only the latter symmetry is assumed $T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}$ can be written as $T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} = 2\left(Q^{(\mu|\rho\lambda|\nu)} + Q^{(\mu|\rho|\nu)\lambda} - Q^{\lambda\rho(\mu\nu)}\right)$.

where $T_s^{\mu\nu}$ is the surface contribution evaluated in (3.10) and $T_e^{\mu\nu}$ is the contribution due to the non-zero edge action. This latter contribution has also an expansion in derivatives of a delta function as in (3.5) but with $\hat{\delta}(x)$ replaced by

$$\widehat{\delta}_e(x) = \frac{\sqrt{|h|}}{\sqrt{|g|}} \,\delta^{(n)}(x^\alpha - \widetilde{X}^\alpha) \tag{3.12}$$

such that the total stress tensor has the form

$$\mathbf{T}^{\mu\nu} = T^{\mu\nu}\widehat{\delta}(x) - \nabla_{\rho} \left(T^{\mu\nu\rho}\widehat{\delta}(x) \right) + \nabla_{\lambda}\nabla_{\rho} \left(T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}\widehat{\delta}(x) \right) \\
+ \widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu}\widehat{\delta}_{e}(x) - \nabla_{\rho} \left(\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu\rho}\widehat{\delta}_{e}(x) \right) + \nabla_{\lambda}\nabla_{\rho} \left(\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}\widehat{\delta}_{e}(x) \right) ,$$
(3.13)

where $\tilde{T}^{\mu\nu}$, $\tilde{T}^{\mu\nu\rho}$ and $\tilde{T}^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}$ are the edge monopole, dipole and quadrupole sources of stress, respectively. For the specific action (2.59), the surface components were given in (3.9) while the edge components read

$$\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu} = \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}^{\mu\nu} + 2\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\lambda}{}_{\rho} \perp^{\rho(\mu} \gamma_{\lambda}{}^{\nu)} + \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}^{\mu\nu} - \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\rho}\mathcal{D}^{\lambda\rho(\mu}\widetilde{n}^{\nu)} - \widetilde{\mathcal{V}}_{\lambda}P^{\lambda(\mu}\widetilde{n}^{\nu)} - 2\widetilde{\mathcal{V}}_{\lambda}h^{\lambda(\mu}\widetilde{n}^{\nu)},$$

$$\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu\rho} = 2\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\rho(\mu\nu)} - \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\nu\rho} + 2\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{(\mu\nu)\rho},$$

$$(3.14)$$

$$\widetilde{T}^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} = -4\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}^{\lambda\rho(\mu\nu)}.$$

The difference between the edge contribution and its surface counterpart is the appearance of the last three terms in $\tilde{T}^{\mu\nu}$.

3.1.2 Frame choices

The expression for the stress tensor given in eq. (3.5) contains redundant components, which in turn leads to many equivalent descriptions of the stress tensor for a given surface, and therefore to a symmetry.²⁰ This redundancy is rooted in the fact that one may make the expression (3.5) manifestly covariant in the embedding functions X^{μ} by integrating over the *p*-surface directions²¹

$$\boldsymbol{T}^{\mu\nu} = \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p}\sigma \left(T^{\mu\nu}\widehat{\delta}^{(D)}(x) - \nabla_{\rho} \left(T^{\mu\nu\rho}\widehat{\delta}^{(D)}(x) \right) + \nabla_{\lambda}\nabla_{\rho} \left(T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}\widehat{\delta}^{(D)}(x) \right) \right) , \quad (3.15)$$

where now $\hat{\delta}^{(D)}(x) = \delta^{(p)}(x^{\alpha} - X^{\alpha})\hat{\delta}(x)$. By adding such integration, it is clear that the tangential components $T^{\mu\nu\rho}\gamma_{\rho}{}^{\lambda}$ and $T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}\gamma_{\lambda}{}^{\sigma}$ can be removed via an integration by parts with appropriate boundary conditions. In particular, the stress tensor (3.15) is invariant under two independent transformations, δ_{ε_1} and δ_{ε_2} , acting according to

$$\delta_{\varepsilon_{1}}\left(T^{\mu\nu\lambda}\gamma_{\lambda}^{\rho}\right) = \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}, \qquad \delta_{\varepsilon_{1}}T^{\mu\nu} = \overline{\nabla}_{\rho}\varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}, \qquad \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}\widetilde{n}_{\rho}|_{\partial\mathcal{W}} = 0, \delta_{\varepsilon_{2}}\left(T^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\gamma_{\sigma}^{\lambda}\right) = \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}, \qquad \delta_{\varepsilon_{2}}T^{\mu\nu\rho} = \overline{\nabla}_{\lambda}\varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}, \qquad \varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\lambda}|_{\partial\mathcal{W}} = 0,$$
(3.16)

²⁰Beyond the symmetry discussed here, in a perturbative setting there is a perturbative symmetry that supervenes on the invariance of the stress tensor under surface displacements $X^{\mu}(\sigma) \rightarrow X^{\mu}(\sigma) + \delta X^{\mu}(\sigma)$. However, since we are not concerned with a perturbative analysis here we let the avid reader see [10, 58, 59] for a discussion of this symmetry.

 $^{^{21}}$ This form of the stress tensor can also be obtained directly from the action (3.2) as explained in footnote 18.

where the coefficients $\varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}$ and $\varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}$ are symmetric in their first two indices and tangential in their last index. These transformation properties indicate that not all components of the stress tensor are physical. Performing the transformations (3.16) without imposing the boundary conditions on $\varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}$ and $\varepsilon^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}$ gives rise to different physics on the edges of the surface.

With little effort, it is possible to identify the frame-invariant components. The following two combinations are invariant under δ_{ε_1}

$$\delta_{\varepsilon_1} \left(T^{\mu\nu} - \overline{\nabla}_{\rho} \left(T^{\mu\nu\lambda} \gamma_{\lambda}{}^{\rho} \right) \right) = 0, \quad \delta_{\varepsilon_1} \left(\bot_{\lambda}{}^{\rho} T^{\mu\nu\lambda} \right) = 0, \quad (3.17)$$

while the following combinations are invariant under δ_{ε_2}

$$\delta_{\varepsilon_2} \left(T^{\mu\nu\rho} - \overline{\nabla}_{\sigma} \left(T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} \gamma_{\lambda}{}^{\sigma} \right) \right) = 0, \quad \delta_{\varepsilon_2} \left(\bot_{\lambda}{}^{\sigma} T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} \right) = 0.$$
(3.18)

Ref. [58] had in fact identified a subset of (3.17) when $T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}$ vanishes. The presence of a non-zero $T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}$ implies that only the last combination in (3.18) is invariant under both symmetries by itself. Combining both transformations one arrives at the mutually independent invariant combinations

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathsf{T}^{\mu\nu} &= T^{\mu\nu} - \overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\gamma_{\rho}^{\ \lambda} \left(T^{\mu\nu\rho} + \overline{\nabla}_{\alpha} \left(T^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \gamma_{\sigma}^{\ \alpha} \right) \right) \right) , \\
\mathsf{T}^{\mu\nu\rho} &= \bot_{\rho}^{\ \lambda} \left(T^{\mu\nu\rho} - \overline{\nabla}_{\sigma} \left(T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} \gamma_{\lambda}^{\ \sigma} \right) \right) , \\
\mathsf{T}^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} &= \bot_{\sigma}^{\ \lambda} T^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} .
\end{aligned} \tag{3.19}$$

The invariants (3.19) can be used as a means for comparison between stress tensors in different frames. It can be observed from (3.19) that there are three components in the first invariant $T^{\mu\nu}$, one purely tangential and the other two with at least one transverse index. The same holds for the invariant $T^{\mu\nu\rho}$, while $T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}$ has six independent components. General covariance imposes four relations among these. The remaining independent components can be chosen to be, in the frame explained below, $\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu}$, $\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\rho}$, $\mathcal{S}^{\mu\nu\rho}$ and $\mathcal{Q}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$.

In (3.10), we obtained the stress tensor that followed from (3.2) and by inspection it comes in a given frame, dictated by the coefficients $T^{\mu\nu\sigma}\gamma_{\sigma}{}^{\rho} = 2\mathcal{D}^{\rho(\mu\nu)}$ and $T^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\gamma_{\sigma}{}^{\lambda} = -4\mathcal{Q}^{\sigma\rho(\mu\nu)}\gamma_{\sigma}{}^{\lambda}$. The fact that the stress tensor is obtained in a given frame from the action (3.2) is not significant. While performing the variation (3.3), further integrations by parts could have been performed in order to remove the tangential components from $T^{\mu\nu\lambda}$ and $T^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$, at the expense of finding a non-zero inflow of stress from the surface to its edges. The natural frame (3.9) is defined as the frame with vanishing inflow of stress from the surface to its edges. As a consequence of this ambiguity, the constraints found in (2.45) and (2.46) are not frame-independent but only apply in the frame (3.9). In order to make them applicable to any given frame, one may first move to a frame where $T^{\mu\nu\lambda}\gamma_{\lambda}{}^{\rho}$ and $T^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\gamma_{\sigma}{}^{\lambda}$ vanish and then add arbitrary δ_{ε_1} and δ_{ε_2} transformations.

The stress tensor (3.13) is affected by the same frame choices. In particular, the edge contribution to (3.13) can be written in a different frame using the analogous transformations to (3.16).

3.2 Conserved currents and charges

With the covariant formulation presented here one can identify a set of conserved charges associated with symmetries of the background. The existence of an isometry implies the existence of a background Killing vector field $\mathbf{k}^{\mu}(x^{\alpha})$ that can be totally transverse. If \mathbf{k}^{μ} is the Killing vector field associated with an isometry then the action (2.59) must be invariant under variations along those Killing directions. This fact can be used in order to obtain a set of conserved surface currents. Setting $\xi^{\mu} = \beta \mathbf{k}^{\mu}$ for some constant β , the variation of the action (2.59) leads to

$$\delta_{\mathbf{k}}S[\Phi(\sigma), \Phi_{e}(\widetilde{\sigma})] = \beta \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p}\sigma \left[B^{\mu\nu} \bot_{\mu}{}^{\rho}\nabla_{\rho}\mathbf{k}_{\nu} + B^{\mu}\mathbf{k}_{\mu} + \overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma}\mathbf{k}_{\sigma} + \Sigma^{\lambda\sigma\alpha}\nabla_{\alpha}\mathbf{k}_{\sigma} \right) \right] \\ + \beta \int_{\partial\mathcal{W}} d^{p-1}\widetilde{\sigma}\sqrt{|h|} \left[\widetilde{B}_{e}^{\nu\rho}P^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}\nabla_{\lambda}\mathbf{k}_{\rho} + \left(\widetilde{B}_{e}^{\nu} - \widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\widetilde{n}_{\mu}h^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma} \right) \right) \mathbf{k}_{\nu} + \widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\lambda\sigma}\mathbf{k}_{\sigma} + \widetilde{\Sigma}^{\lambda\sigma\alpha}\nabla_{\alpha}\mathbf{k}_{\sigma} \right) \right],$$

$$(3.20)$$

where we have defined the effective surface stress tensor $\mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma}$ and the effective edge stress tensor $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\lambda\sigma}$ as

$$\begin{split} \mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma} &= \mathcal{T}^{\lambda\sigma} + \mathcal{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \perp^{\nu\sigma} \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} - \gamma_{\mu}{}^{\lambda}\Pi^{\sigma\mu} - \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma} - \mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\sigma}K_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\alpha} - \mathcal{V}_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu\lambda}n^{\sigma}\delta_{n,1} \,, \\ \widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\lambda\sigma} &= \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}^{\lambda\sigma} + \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}P^{\nu\sigma}h^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} - h_{\mu}{}^{\lambda}\widetilde{\Pi}^{\sigma\mu} - h^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\nu\sigma} - \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\sigma}K_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\alpha} + \widetilde{n}_{\mu}h^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma} - \widetilde{\mathcal{V}}_{\mu}h^{\mu\lambda}\widetilde{n}^{\sigma} \,, \end{split}$$
(3.21)

as well as the tensors $\Sigma^{\lambda\sigma\alpha}$ and $\widetilde{\Sigma}^{\lambda\sigma\alpha}$ according to

$$\Sigma^{\lambda\sigma\alpha} = \mathcal{D}^{\lambda\alpha\sigma} + \mathcal{S}^{\lambda\sigma\alpha}, \quad \widetilde{\Sigma}^{\lambda\sigma\alpha} = \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\lambda\alpha\sigma} + \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\lambda\sigma\alpha}, \quad (3.22)$$

which parametrise the non-trivial modification to the surface and edge currents due to the presence of dipole terms in the stress tensor which couple to the background Riemann tensor. The effective surface stress tensor $\mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma}$ is not symmetric, is tangential in its first index but has orthogonal components in its second index. The same holds for the effective edge stress tensor $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\lambda\sigma}$. The structures $\Sigma^{\lambda\sigma\alpha}$ and $\widetilde{\Sigma}^{\lambda\sigma\alpha}$ are also tangential in their first index.

Referring to $\mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma}$ and $\mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma}$ as effective surface and edge stress tensors, respectively, is justified since the equations of motion (2.47) and (2.63) can be recast as stress conservation equations, such that

$$\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma} = \Sigma^{\mu\lambda\rho} R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu\rho\lambda} + 2\mathcal{Q}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \nabla_{\nu} R^{\sigma}{}_{\rho\mu\lambda} ,$$

$$\widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda} \widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\lambda\sigma} = \widetilde{\Sigma}^{\mu\lambda\rho} R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu\rho\lambda} + 2\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \nabla_{\nu} R^{\sigma}{}_{\rho\mu\lambda} + \widetilde{n}_{\lambda} \mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma} .$$
(3.23)

On-shell, when the equations of motion (3.23) are satisfied, we have that

$$B^{\mu\nu} \perp_{\mu}{}^{\rho} = 0, \quad B^{\mu} = 0, \quad \widetilde{B}^{\nu[\sigma}_{e} P^{\alpha]}{}_{\nu} = -\widetilde{n}_{\lambda} \widetilde{n}_{\mu} \mathcal{D}^{\lambda\mu[\sigma} \widetilde{n}^{\alpha]} - \widetilde{n}_{\lambda} P^{\alpha}{}_{\mu} P^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} \mathcal{S}^{\lambda\nu\mu}, \\ \widetilde{B}^{\sigma}_{e} = \widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\widetilde{n}_{\mu} h^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma} \right) - \widetilde{n}_{\lambda} \mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma},$$

$$(3.24)$$

where we have used the Killing equation $\nabla_{(\mu} \mathbf{k}_{\nu)} = 0$. Therefore, requiring the action to be invariant under such isometry, we find the surface and edge current conservation equations

$$\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} t_k^{\lambda} = 0 \,, \quad \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu} \widetilde{t}_k^{\mu} - \widetilde{n}_{\lambda} T_k^{\lambda} = 0 \,, \qquad (3.25)$$

for the purely tangential surface current t_k^{λ} and edge current \tilde{t}_k^{λ} defined as

$$t_k^{\lambda} = \mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma} \mathbf{k}_{\sigma} + \Sigma^{\lambda\sigma\alpha} \nabla_{\alpha} \mathbf{k}_{\sigma} , \quad \tilde{t}_k^{\lambda} = \widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\lambda\sigma} \mathbf{k}_{\sigma} + \widetilde{\Sigma}^{\lambda\sigma\alpha} \nabla_{\alpha} \mathbf{k}_{\sigma} .$$
(3.26)

It is straightforward to see that eqs. (3.25) are satisfied for the currents (3.26). In order to do so, one must make use of the equations of motion (3.23), the constraints (2.44)–(2.46) and (2.62), the Killing equation and the fact that for a Killing vector field one has that $\nabla_{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} \mathbf{k}_{\rho} = R_{\rho\mu\nu\lambda} \mathbf{k}^{\lambda}$. Having identified the set of conserved currents, one may define a set of conserved charges. Assuming the topology of the surface to be $\mathbb{R} \times \mathcal{B}_{p-1}$ and that of the edge to be $\mathbb{R} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}_{p-2}$, the conserved charge associated with a given Killing vector \mathbf{k}^{μ} is

$$\mathbf{Q}_{k} = \int_{\mathcal{B}_{p-1}} d^{p-1} \sigma \sqrt{|\gamma|} t_{k}^{\lambda} l_{\lambda} + \int_{\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}_{p-2}} d^{p-2} \widetilde{\sigma} \sqrt{|h|} \widetilde{t}_{k}^{\lambda} l_{\lambda}, \qquad (3.27)$$

where l_{λ} is a unit normalised timelike co-vector normal to \mathcal{B}_{p-1} and $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}_{p-2}$.

3.2.1 Currents from the spacetime stress tensor

The spacetime stress tensor can be used in order to provide an alternative derivation of the currents (3.26). Given the spacetime stress tensor $\mathbf{T}^{\mu\nu}$, whose components include the surface (3.9) and the edge contributions (3.13), one may straightforwardly construct a set of conserved currents $\mathbf{T}^{\mu}_{(k)}$ given by

$$\mathbf{T}^{\mu}_{(k)} = \mathbf{T}^{\mu\nu} \mathbf{k}_{\nu} \,, \tag{3.28}$$

which obviously satisfy $\nabla_{\mu} \mathbf{T}^{\mu}_{(k)} = 0$ due to the conservation equation (3.4) and the Killing equation. An appropriate integration of the currents (3.28) over a fixed time-slice yields a set of conserved charges, one for each \mathbf{k}^{μ} . However, in order to understand how the currents (3.28) can be written in terms of the different components of the stress tensor, i.e. as in (3.26), one needs to use a "Gaussian pillbox" to get rid of the delta functions. By explicit evaluation of the integral

$$\int_{\mathcal{M}} d^D x \sqrt{|g|} \, \nabla_\mu \left(\mathbf{T}^{\mu\nu} \mathbf{k}_\nu \right) f \tag{3.29}$$

for some arbitrary function $f(x^{\alpha})$ of compact support and using the specific form of the stress tensor (3.11), with components (3.9) and (3.13), as well as the constraints (2.44)–(2.46) and (2.62), one obtains the conservation equations (3.25) for the currents (3.26), as expected.

3.3 Spacetime stress tensor for interfaces

One may turn the action (2.66) into an action over spacetime using the Theta and Dirac delta functions, such that

$$S[\Phi_{\rm int}(x), \Phi(\sigma), \Phi_{\rm ext}(x)] = \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^D x \left(\mathcal{L}[\Phi_{\rm int}(x)]\Theta(x) + \mathcal{L}[\Phi(\sigma)]\widehat{\delta}(x) + \mathcal{L}[\Phi_{\rm ext}(x)]\Theta(-x) \right),$$
(3.30)

where $\Theta(x) = \prod_{\alpha} \Theta(x^{\alpha} - X^{\alpha}(\sigma))$ and similarly for $\Theta(-x)$ with the opposite sign. Using this form, under a Lagrangian variation one finds, as in (3.4), that the equations of motion are given by

$$\nabla_{\mu} \mathbf{T}^{\mu\nu} = 0, \qquad (3.31)$$

where the full spacetime stress tensor takes the form

$$\mathbf{T}^{\mu\nu} = \mathbf{T}^{\mu\nu}_{\rm b} + \mathbf{T}^{\mu\nu}_{\rm s} \,, \tag{3.32}$$

where $\mathbf{T}_{b}^{\mu\nu}$ is the bulk contribution while $\mathbf{T}_{s}^{\mu\nu}$ is the surface contribution. Taking into account the specific couplings (2.68), the bulk stress tensor is given by

$$\mathbf{T}_{\rm b}^{\mu\nu} = T_{\rm b}^{\mu\nu}\Theta(x) \,, \quad T_{\rm b}^{\mu\nu} = T_{\rm int}^{\mu\nu} - 2\nabla_{\lambda}\nabla_{\rho}L^{\lambda\rho(\mu\nu)} \,. \tag{3.33}$$

Using the form (3.33) into (3.31), one obtains two sets of equations

$$\left(\nabla_{\mu}T_{\rm b}^{\mu\nu}\right)\Theta(x) = 0\,,\quad \nabla_{\mu}\mathbf{T}_{\rm s}^{\mu\nu} = T_{\rm b}^{\mu\nu}n_{\mu}\widehat{\delta}(x)\,,\tag{3.34}$$

where we have used that $\nabla_{\mu}\Theta(x) = -n_{\mu}\hat{\delta}(x)$. The first equation in (3.34) gives rise to (2.71) while the second equation gives rise to the diffeomorphism constraints and (2.74). The surface spacetime stress tensor now takes the form

$$\boldsymbol{T}_{s}^{\mu\nu} = \left[\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu} - \left(\mathcal{V}_{\lambda} n^{\lambda} n^{\mu} n^{\nu} + 2 \mathcal{V}_{\lambda} \gamma^{\lambda(\mu} n^{\nu)} \right) + 2n_{\lambda} \nabla_{\rho} L^{\lambda\rho(\mu\nu)} \right] \widehat{\delta}(x) - \nabla_{\rho} \left[\left(2 \mathcal{D}^{\rho(\mu\nu)} - \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\rho} - 2n_{\lambda} L^{\rho\lambda(\mu\nu)} \right) \widehat{\delta}(x) \right] - 4 \nabla_{\lambda} \nabla_{\rho} \left[\mathcal{Q}^{\lambda\rho(\mu\nu)} \widehat{\delta}(x) \right].$$
(3.35)

It can be observed that the bulk curvature moment $L^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ yields an inflow of energymomentum into the interface. Considering geometric bulk actions with derivatives of the Riemann tensor will also induce an inflow of surface curvature moments, beyond the inflow of monopole and dipole moments. If one takes the bulk action to be the Einstein-Hilbert action $\sqrt{|g|}R$ then there will not be any inflow of monopole energy-momentum to the interface but there will be a contribution to the dipole surface moment. This contribution is of the form $T^{\mu\nu\rho} = -2\gamma^{\mu\nu}n^{\rho} + 2n^{(\mu}\gamma^{\nu)\rho}$. The second term can be removed by a frame-choice, while the first contribution is twice that which arises from a surface action of the form $\int_{\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|\gamma|} d^p \sigma K^{\rho} n_{\rho}$. The two dipole moments (the one arising from the Einstein-Hilbert action and the one arising from the mean extrinsic curvature), therefore, differ by frame-choices.

3.3.1 Conserved currents and charges

Analogously to the case of surfaces studied above, one may obtain a set of conserved currents associated with symmetries of the background by performing a diffeomorphism along a Killing direction such that $\xi^{\mu} = \beta \mathbf{k}^{\mu}$ for a constant β , leading to

$$\delta_{\mathbf{k}}S[\Phi_{\mathrm{int}}(x),\Phi(\sigma)] = \beta \int_{\mathcal{B}_{\mathrm{int}}} d^{D}x \sqrt{|g|} \left(\mathring{B}^{\mu}\mathbf{k}_{\mu} + \nabla_{\mu} \left(T_{\mathrm{b}}^{\mu\nu}\mathbf{k}_{\nu} \right) \right) + \beta \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p}\sigma \left[B^{\mu\nu} \bot_{\mu}{}^{\rho}\nabla_{\rho}\mathbf{k}_{\nu} + B^{\mu}\mathbf{k}_{\mu} + \overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma}\mathbf{k}_{\sigma} + \Sigma^{\lambda\sigma\alpha}\nabla_{\alpha}\mathbf{k}_{\sigma} \right) \right].$$
(3.36)

When the bulk equations of motion are satisfied $\mathring{B}^{\mu} = 0$ and hence for the bulk action to be invariant under the symmetry associated with \mathbf{k}^{μ} we must have

$$\nabla_{\mu} \mathring{t}^{\mu}_{k} = 0, \quad \text{for} \quad \mathring{t}^{\mu}_{k} = T^{\mu\nu}_{\text{b}} \mathbf{k}_{\nu} , \qquad (3.37)$$

which indeed follows from the symmetry of the bulk stress tensor and the Killing equation. On the interface, in turn, when the equations of motion are satisfied we have $B^{\mu\nu} \perp_{\mu}{}^{\rho} = 0$ and

$$B^{\mu}\mathbf{k}_{\mu} = \overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \mu} \left(\mathring{T}^{\mu\nu} - \overline{\nabla}_{\rho} \left(\gamma^{\rho}_{\ \alpha} \mathring{T}^{\alpha\nu\mu} \right) \right) \right) \mathbf{k}_{\nu} - \left(\mathring{T}^{\mu\alpha\rho} + \frac{1}{2} \bot^{\rho}_{\ \nu} \mathring{T}^{\nu\alpha\mu} \right) R^{\sigma}_{\ \alpha\mu\rho} \mathbf{k}_{\sigma} - n_{\lambda} T^{\lambda\sigma}_{\mathbf{b}} \mathbf{k}_{\sigma} .$$

$$(3.38)$$

Therefore, for the interface action to be invariant under this symmetry, we identify the interface conservation equation and current

$$\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}t_{k}^{\mu} = n_{\mu}\mathring{t}_{k}^{\mu}, \quad \text{for} \quad t_{k}^{\mu} = \mathring{\mathbb{T}}^{\mu\nu}\mathbf{k}_{\nu} + \mathring{\Sigma}^{\mu\sigma\alpha}\nabla_{\alpha}\mathbf{k}_{\sigma}, \qquad (3.39)$$

where, using the definitions of $\mathbb{T}^{\mu\nu}$ and $\Sigma^{\mu\sigma\alpha}$ in (3.21)–(3.22), we have introduced

$$\mathring{\mathbb{T}}^{\mu\nu} = \mathbb{T}^{\mu\nu} + \gamma^{\mu}{}_{\lambda} \left(\mathring{T}^{\lambda\nu} - \overline{\nabla}_{\rho} \left(\gamma^{\rho}{}_{\alpha} \mathring{T}^{\alpha\nu\lambda} \right) \right) , \quad \mathring{\Sigma}^{\mu\sigma\alpha} = \Sigma^{\mu\sigma\alpha} + \gamma^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \mathring{T}^{\nu\sigma\alpha} . \tag{3.40}$$

One can check that the current conservation equation (3.39) is satisfied given the equations of motion (2.74). The corresponding conserved charges can be constructed as in (3.27) by appropriately integrating the currents

$$\mathbf{Q}_{k} = \int_{\mathrm{B}_{\mathrm{int}}} d^{D-1}x \sqrt{|g|} \, \mathring{t}_{k}^{\lambda} \, l_{\lambda} + \int_{\mathcal{B}_{p-1}} d^{p-1}\sigma \sqrt{|\gamma|} \, t_{k}^{\lambda} \, l_{\lambda} \,, \qquad (3.41)$$

where we assumed that $\mathcal{B}_{int} = \mathbb{R} \times B_{int}$ and $\mathcal{B}_p = \mathbb{R} \times \mathcal{B}_{p-1}$. Here, l_{λ} is a unit normalised timelike co-vector normal to B_{int} and \mathcal{B}_{p-1} .

4 Two-derivative surface action with edges

In this section we employ classification methods analogous to those used in the context of hydrodynamics to constrain the main results of section 2 in a derivative expansion, up to second order in derivatives.²² To this end we first construct the most general surface geometric bulk action of $g_{\mu\nu}$ with at most two derivatives, including a quite general (but not exhaustive) edge contribution. Spacetime covariance implies that the diffeomorphism constraints (2.44)–(2.45), as well as the tangential projection (2.48), must be automatically satisfied off-shell for all shape configurations, as explained at the end of section 2.2.3. This implies that whenever a contribution is added to the action, it must be checked whether or not such contribution satisfies the tangential diffeomorphism constraints.

This construction has applications in many physical systems whose description includes embedded surface in a given spacetime. These include fluid membranes, entangling surfaces, spinning brane systems, membrane elasticity or effective theories of black holes.

 $^{^{22}}$ We note that we are not assuming this derivative expansion to be a perturbative expansion.

The restriction to a two-derivative action implies that the corresponding stress tensor should include at most two derivative terms, and hence must be of the form (3.13). To count the number of derivatives we use a bookkeeping parameter ε . The components of the stress tensor are at most of order $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2)$, and in particular, $T^{\mu\nu} \sim \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2)$, $T^{\mu\nu\rho} \sim \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$ and $T^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$. In turn, due to (3.9), this implies that

$$\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu} \sim \mathcal{P}^{\mu\nu} \sim \mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu} \sim \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2), \quad \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\lambda} \sim \mathcal{S}^{\mu\nu\lambda} \sim \mathcal{O}(\varepsilon), \quad \mathcal{Q}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \sim \mathcal{O}(1), \qquad (4.1)$$

and similarly for the edge components (3.14). However, since $\mathcal{P}^{\mu\nu}$ and $\mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu}$ are related to the dipole and quadrupole terms via eqs. (2.45) and (2.46), it is not necessary to be concerned with them here, as they will be determined by the remaining couplings.

It is convenient to split the action into the sum of parity-even S_+ , parity-odd S_- and edge S_e contributions according to

$$S[\Phi(\sigma), \Phi_e(\widetilde{\sigma})] = S_+[\Phi(\sigma), \Phi_e(\widetilde{\sigma})] + S_-[\Phi(\sigma), \Phi_e(\widetilde{\sigma})] + S_e[\Phi_e(\widetilde{\sigma})], \qquad (4.2)$$

and first consider the parity-even sector, which does not depend on the dimension p nor the codimension n of the surface.

4.1 Parity-even sector

The procedure for identifying all the covariant two-derivate scalars consists on classifying the different independent contributions to the surface stress tensor $\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu}$, to the dipole terms $\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\lambda}$ and $\mathcal{S}^{\mu\nu\lambda}$ as well as to the curvature quadrupole moment $\mathcal{Q}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$, and similarly for the edge components.

Surface stress tensor. All terms in an action which involve contractions with the induced metric will contribute to $\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu}$. Here we are interested in the contributions which do not appear due to contractions with the other geometric tensors $K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho}$, $\omega_{\mu}{}^{\nu\rho}$, $\mathcal{R}_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ and $R_{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$, i.e., contributions which are purely intrinsic. This implies that such contributions can only be composed of combinations of the induced metric $\gamma^{\mu\nu}$, the internal rotation tensor and its derivatives.

At order $\mathcal{O}(1)$, the only possible contribution to $\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu}$ arises from the surface tension term

$$\alpha \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^p \sigma \sqrt{|\gamma|} \,, \tag{4.3}$$

for some constant α .

At first order in derivatives, as in General Relativity, there is no covariant scalar that can be constructed from the induced metric $\gamma_{\mu\nu}$ and internal rotation tensor $\rho_{\mu}{}^{\nu}{}_{\rho}$, which should be understood as the intrinsic Christoffel connection. At second order, the only scalar is the induced Ricci scalar but that is included in the coupling to the intrinsic Riemann tensor.

Bending moment. Turning our attention to $\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\rho}$, it is noticeable that the symmetries and index structure implies that at one derivative level one must have

$$\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\rho} = \mathcal{Y}^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma} K_{\lambda\sigma}{}^{\rho}, \qquad (4.4)$$

where $\mathcal{Y}^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma}$ is the Young modulus of the surface, first introduced in the context of perturbations of black branes [60], and has the symmetry $\mathcal{Y}^{(\mu\nu)(\lambda\sigma)}$, as a classical elasticity tensor. The above expression for the bending moment (4.4) takes the from of *stress times strain*, where the extrinsic curvature $K_{\lambda\sigma}^{\rho}$ can be interpreted as strain.²³

From the bending moment (4.4), one concludes that $\mathcal{Y}^{(\mu\nu)(\lambda\sigma)} \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$. Therefore, given the symmetries of $\mathcal{Y}^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma}$, the most general form of the Young modulus is

$$\mathcal{Y}^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma} = 2\lambda_1 \gamma^{\mu\nu} \gamma^{\lambda\sigma} + 2\lambda_2 \gamma^{\mu(\lambda} \gamma^{\sigma)\nu} , \qquad (4.5)$$

for some constants λ_1 , λ_2 , which turns out to have the symmetry $\mathcal{Y}^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma} = \mathcal{Y}^{\lambda\sigma\mu\nu}$, as a classical elasticity tensor. It should also be noted that the form (4.4) immediately implies that the term $\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu[\sigma}K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\alpha]}$ in (2.44) vanishes.

Spin current. Due to the symmetries of $S^{\mu\nu\rho}$ and its index structure, one observes that the spin current must be of the general form

$$S^{\mu\nu\rho} = S^{\mu\lambda}\omega_{\lambda}{}^{\nu\rho}, \qquad (4.6)$$

for some spin tensor $\mathcal{S}^{\mu\lambda}$ of $\mathcal{O}(1)$. The only possible component of $\mathcal{S}^{\mu\lambda}$ would be, therefore

$$S^{\mu\lambda} = \vartheta_0 \gamma^{\mu\lambda} \,, \tag{4.7}$$

but the constraints fix $\vartheta_0 = 0$. To see this notice the first term in (2.44) vanishes, as does also the third term in that equation, as we will see below. The spin current conservation equation becomes $\perp_{\lambda}{}^{\sigma}\perp_{\rho}{}^{\alpha}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}S^{\mu\lambda\rho} = 0$. However, it is easy to see that a term of the form given in eq. (4.7) does not satisfy this condition for arbitrary $\omega_{\lambda}{}^{\nu\rho}$ and therefore must be discarded. This is an example of how diffeomorphism invariance along the surface leads to non-trivial constraints on the action.

Surface curvature moment. The intrinsic Riemann tensor is of $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2)$, which in turn implies that $\mathcal{I}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \sim \mathcal{O}(1)$. The only possible choice is therefore

$$\mathcal{I}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} = \alpha_1 \gamma^{\mu[\nu} \gamma^{\rho]\lambda} \,, \tag{4.8}$$

where α_1 is a constant. The contraction $\mathcal{I}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}\mathcal{R}_{\mu\lambda\nu\rho}$ is proportional to the induced Ricci scalar \mathcal{R} . Due to the Gauss-Codazzi equation (2.20), this term can be replaced by a linear combination of terms to the square of the extrinsic curvature and a term proportional to the background Riemann tensor. These two possibilities are equivalent, as it may be checked using the equations of motion and spacetime stress tensor obtained in appendix B. For practical reasons we keep this term explicitly.

²³In fact, when working with a foliation of surfaces, one has that $2n_{\ \mu\nu}^{i} \kappa_{\mu\nu}^{\rho} = -\gamma_{\ \mu}^{\lambda} \gamma_{\ \nu}^{\sigma} \mathcal{L}_{n^{i}} \gamma_{\lambda\sigma}$, which makes it clear that the extrinsic curvature is a measure of the change in distances on the surface along transverse directions [60].

Background curvature moment. Similarly to the surface curvature moment, since the background Riemann tensor is of $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon^2)$, the curvature moment $\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}{}^{\nu\lambda\rho}$ must be of order $\mathcal{O}(1)$. Hence, its most general form, given its symmetries, is

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}{}^{\nu\lambda\rho} = \alpha_2 \gamma^{[\nu}{}_{\mu} \gamma^{\rho]\lambda} + \alpha_3 \bot^{[\nu}{}_{\mu} \gamma^{\rho]\lambda} + \alpha_4 \bot^{[\nu}{}_{\mu} \bot^{\rho]\lambda} .$$
(4.9)

Since $\perp_{\nu} [\sigma \perp_{\lambda} \alpha] \Pi^{\nu \lambda} = 0$, this form of the background curvature moment satisfies the constraint in (2.44) for arbitrary constants α_2 , α_3 and α_4 . Note also that the first term in (4.9) can be replaced by the term (4.8) when using the Gauss-Codazzi equation (2.20). For presentation purposes, given (4.9) it is useful to define the three contractions

$$R_{||} = \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu}\gamma^{\rho\nu}R^{\mu}{}_{\nu\lambda\rho}, \quad R_{\perp} = \pm^{\lambda}{}_{\mu}\gamma^{\rho\nu}R^{\mu}{}_{\nu\lambda\rho}, \quad R_{\perp} = \pm^{\lambda}{}_{\mu}\pm^{\rho\nu}R^{\mu}{}_{\nu\lambda\rho}.$$
(4.10)

4.1.1 Parity-even action at second order in derivatives

Taking these considerations into account, and the fact that there is no parity-even scalar built out of the outer curvature moment, we can now write down the most general parityeven two-derivative geometric action. This is given by

$$S_{+}[\Phi(\sigma)] = \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p} \sigma \sqrt{|\gamma|} \left(\alpha + \lambda_{1} K^{\rho} K_{\rho} + \lambda_{2} K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} K^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho} + \alpha_{1} \mathcal{R} + \alpha_{2} R_{||} + \alpha_{3} R_{\angle} + \alpha_{4} R_{\bot} \right),$$

$$(4.11)$$

and, as mentioned above, the term proportional to α_1 is redundant. All the terms involved in this action were implicitly classified earlier, in particular in the literature of conformal anomalies of two-dimensional submanifolds (see e.g. [61]). The shape equation that arises from this action was considered recently in [48] and agrees with the general form of (2.49).²⁴ All the terms in (4.11) may appear in entanglement entropy functionals [16, 17]. This concludes the parity-even sector of the surface action and hence we now turn to the parityodd sector.

4.2 Parity-odd sector

In the parity-odd sector, the contributions to the action are either dependent on the dimension of the surface or on its codimension.

Codimension n = 1. In this case there is only one normal vector, n^{ρ} , to the surface. Since there is only one normal direction, the extrinsic twist potential vanishes and there are no couplings to the spin current. However, the bending moment may have a $\mathcal{O}(1)$ term. That is, besides (4.4) one can have a contribution of the form

$$\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\rho} = \lambda_0 \gamma^{\mu\nu} n^\rho \delta_{n,1} \,, \tag{4.12}$$

which, in the context of General Relativity, leads to the known Gibbons-Hawking boundary term $n_{\rho}K^{\rho}$. This term is parity-odd, in the sense that, in the absence of any bulk (contrary to the case of General Relativity for which there is a preferred orientation of the normal vector) it is not invariant under reflection $n_{\rho} \to -n_{\rho}$.

²⁴The authors of [48] did not use the terms $\alpha_2 R_{||} + \alpha_3 R_{\perp}$ in the action but instead two other linear combinations, namely $\perp^{\mu\nu} R_{\mu\nu}$ and R, which can be rewritten in terms of $\alpha_2 R_{||} + \alpha_3 R_{\perp} + \alpha_4 R_{\perp}$.
Dimension p = 1 and codimension n = 2. In the case of p = 1, there is only one tangent vector $\partial_1 X^{\mu} = u^{\mu} \sqrt{|\gamma_{11}|}$, which is interpreted as the unnormalised velocity of the point-particle in the relativistic case. Also, when n = 2, one may make use of the Levi-Civita tensor in the transverse space $\epsilon_{\perp}^{\mu\nu}$ in order to obtain new contributions. In this case the spin current can have an $\mathcal{O}(1)$ and an $\mathcal{O}(\varepsilon)$ contribution, such that

$$S^{\mu\nu\rho} = \vartheta_1 u^{\mu} \epsilon^{\nu\rho}_{\perp} \delta_{p,1} \delta_{n,2} + \vartheta_2 u^{\lambda} \omega_{\lambda} u^{\mu} \epsilon^{\nu\rho}_{\perp} \delta_{p,1} \delta_{n,2} , \qquad (4.13)$$

where we have made used of the definition of the normal fundamental 1-form.

The first of these terms is the usual coupling due to the particle's intrinsic spin and the second contribution is its square - a sub-leading spin-orbit effect. However, using the identity $\epsilon^{\mu\nu\rho}u_{\mu} = \epsilon_{\perp}^{\nu\rho}$, it is easily verifiable that only the term with coefficient ϑ_1 satisfies $\perp_{\lambda}{}^{\sigma}\perp_{\rho}{}^{\alpha}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}S^{\mu\lambda\rho} = 0$. The second term can satisfy the conservation equation if we assume that the velocity u^{μ} is aligned with a surface Killing vector field. While this possibility is interesting, as it allows to describe embedded fluids [10, 59] or fluids with surfaces [11, 62], assuming the existence of surface Killing vectors is beyond the scope of this paper.²⁵ Therefore we set $\vartheta_2 = 0$.

Finally, we note that the equations of motion for a point-particle do not change if the codimension is increased. However, in order to write down such couplings, one must specialise to backgrounds with further rotation symmetries for which the rotation group is Abelian in a given transverse two-plane [56]. Here, we are performing an analysis that holds for any background spacetime, irrespectively of its symmetries.

Dimension p = 2 and codimension n = 2. In this case, the spacetime Levi-Civita tensor $\epsilon^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ can be used to build new scalars by contracting it with eq. (2.21). In particular, there are three apparent scalars

$$2\epsilon^{\lambda\mu}{}_{\rho\alpha}K_{\lambda}{}^{\nu\rho}K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\alpha}, \quad \epsilon^{\alpha\sigma\kappa\tau}\gamma_{\mu\alpha}\gamma^{\nu}{}_{\sigma}\bot^{\lambda}{}_{\kappa}\bot^{\rho}{}_{\tau}R^{\mu}{}_{\nu\lambda\rho}, \quad \Omega.$$

$$(4.14)$$

It can be verified that the first two terms satisfy the constraints (2.44)-(2.46) individually, however, for arbitrary extrinsic curvature and background Riemann tensor they do not satisfy individually the tangentiality condition (2.48), only a linear combination does. Hence, only this combination provides a new contribution, as it will be proven in the next section.²⁶ This is a non-trivial consequence of the diffeomorphism constraints and shows that the naive expectation that any appropriate contraction of surface tensors yields a covariant contribution, is not correct.²⁷

Given (4.14), the bending moment and the background curvature moment will receive new contributions. In particular, the bending moment (4.4) admits the following generalisation

$$\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\rho} = \mathcal{Y}^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma\rho}{}_{\alpha}K_{\lambda\sigma}{}^{\alpha}, \qquad (4.15)$$

 $^{^{25}}$ If this assumption would be taken seriously, it would lead to many extra couplings besides the ones considered here. See [10, 59] for examples.

²⁶This implies that we fully disagree with the counting of two independent parity-odd coefficients done in [63] in the context of conformal anomalies for two-dimensional submanifolds, as only one coefficient is allowed by diffeomorphism invariance along the surface.

²⁷Since $\epsilon^{\lambda\mu}{}_{\rho\alpha}$ is a pseudo-tensor, one might have expected that none of the terms in (4.14) would be covariant. However, the outer curvature scalar Ω is.

where now the generalised Young modulus has the most general form

$$\mathcal{Y}^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma\rho}{}_{\alpha} = 2\left(\lambda_{1}\gamma^{\mu\nu}\gamma^{\lambda\sigma} + \lambda_{2}\gamma^{\mu(\lambda}\gamma^{\sigma)\nu}\right) \perp^{\rho}{}_{\alpha} + 4\lambda_{3}\gamma^{(\lambda}{}_{\tau}\gamma^{\sigma)(\nu}\epsilon^{|\tau|\mu)\rho}{}_{\beta} \perp^{\beta}{}_{\alpha}\delta_{p,2}\delta_{n,2}.$$
 (4.16)

The coefficient λ_3 is a new purely geometric parity-odd contribution to the Young modulus of thin elastic surfaces.

This generalised version still has the symmetry $\mathcal{Y}^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma\rho}{}_{\alpha} = \mathcal{Y}^{(\mu\nu)(\lambda\sigma)\rho}{}_{\alpha}$ but no longer the symmetry $\mathcal{Y}^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma\rho}{}_{\alpha} = \mathcal{Y}^{\lambda\sigma\mu\nu\rho}{}_{\alpha}$ due to the parity-odd effects. It should not be surprising that the Young modulus must be generalised compared to its classical counterpart. What is surprising is that the usual classical definition (4.4), first introduced in the context of codimension n = 1 surfaces, is sufficient for capturing all parity-even effects for arbitrary codimension. In turn, the background curvature will now have the form

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}{}^{\nu\lambda\rho} = \alpha_2 \gamma^{[\nu}{}_{\mu}\gamma^{\rho]\lambda} + \alpha_3 \bot^{[\nu}{}_{\mu}\gamma^{\rho]\lambda} + \alpha_4 \bot^{[\nu}{}_{\mu} \bot^{\rho]\lambda} + \lambda_3 \epsilon^{\alpha\sigma\kappa\tau}\gamma_{\mu\alpha}\gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\sigma} \bot^{\nu}{}_{\kappa} \bot^{\rho}{}_{\tau}\delta_{p,2}\delta_{n,2}.$$
(4.17)

The linear combination of the first two terms in (4.14) proportional to λ_3 is equivalent to the last term in Ω due to the Ricci-Voss equation (2.21). However, similarly to the discussion above for the coefficient α_1 , we keep it explicitly for practical purposes. Therefore, the outer curvature moment can have one parity-odd contribution of the form

$$\mathcal{H}_{\mu}{}^{\nu\lambda\rho} = \alpha_5 \epsilon^{\beta_1\beta_2\beta_3\beta_4} \perp_{\beta_1\mu} \gamma^{\nu}{}_{\beta_2} \perp^{\lambda}{}_{\beta_3} \gamma^{\rho}{}_{\beta_4} \delta_{p,2} \delta_{n,2} \,, \tag{4.18}$$

which leads to a contribution proportional to Ω . As explained in section 2.1, this term is topological. Therefore, it will not affect the surface dynamics, though it will certainly contribute to the on-shell value of the action as well as to the edge dynamics.

4.2.1 Parity-odd action at second order in derivatives

Given these considerations, we can write down the parity-odd sector of the two-derivative surface action

$$S_{-}[\Phi(\sigma)] = \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p} \sigma \sqrt{|\gamma|} \Big(\lambda_{0} n_{\rho} K^{\rho} \delta_{n,1} + 2\vartheta_{1} u^{\mu} \omega_{\mu} \delta_{p,1} \delta_{n,2} + \left(\lambda_{3} \left(2\epsilon^{\lambda\mu}{}_{\rho\alpha} K_{\lambda}{}^{\nu\rho} K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\alpha} + R_{-} \right) + \alpha_{5} \Omega \right) \delta_{p,2} \delta_{n,2} \Big),$$

$$(4.19)$$

where we have defined $R_{-} = \epsilon^{\alpha\sigma\kappa\tau}\gamma_{\mu\alpha}\gamma^{\nu}{}_{\sigma}\perp^{\lambda}{}_{\kappa}\perp^{\rho}{}_{\tau}R^{\mu}{}_{\nu\lambda\rho}$. As mentioned earlier the contributions involving λ_3 and α_5 are equivalent. All the terms present in (4.19) had been enumerated in [10] but the last two terms, in particular, had not been properly analysed. The second term and the last term also have a role to play in the context of entanglement entropy [64, 65].

4.3 Edge action

We now consider an example of a quite thorough, though not exhaustive, edge action up to two derivatives. As explained in section 2.1, there are other possible couplings between the edge and the surface geometry, which were not considered in (2.60). This supervenes on the existence of the unit normal vector to the surface boundary \tilde{n}^{ρ} , which can be used to introduce new contributions in the action. Nevertheless, without a full characterisation of all couplings, the possible couplings that appear are sufficient to exhibit the richness of the edge dynamics. We treat the parity-even and the parity-odd sectors of the edge action simultaneously.

Edge stress tensor. As in the case of the surface action, there is only one purely intrinsic independent contribution to the surface stress tensor. This is the edge tension term

$$\chi \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}} d^{p-1} \,\widetilde{\sigma} \sqrt{|h|} \,. \tag{4.20}$$

Edge bending moment. The bending moment exhibits quite a rich structure due to the existence of the normal vector \tilde{n}^{ρ} which represents a preferred direction. It is, in essence, a mixture of arbitrary codimension and codimension n = 1 contributions. The edge bending moment can be written in the same form as in (4.15) but with the additional contribution (4.12), that is²⁸

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\nu\rho} = \widetilde{\mathcal{Y}}^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma\rho}_{\ \alpha} \mathcal{K}_{\lambda\sigma}^{\ \alpha} + \widetilde{\lambda}_0 h^{\mu\nu} \widetilde{n}^{\rho} , \qquad (4.21)$$

where the generalised Young modulus takes the form

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{Y}}^{\mu\nu\lambda\sigma\rho}_{\ \alpha} = 2\left(\widetilde{\lambda}_{1}h^{\mu\nu}h^{\lambda\sigma} + \widetilde{\lambda}_{2}h^{\mu(\lambda}h^{\sigma)\nu}\right) \perp^{\rho}_{\ \alpha} + 4\widetilde{\lambda}_{3}h^{\nu(\sigma}\epsilon^{\lambda)\mu}_{||}\epsilon^{\rho}_{\perp\alpha}\delta_{p,3}\delta_{n,1} \\
+ 2\left(\widetilde{\lambda}_{4}h^{\mu\nu}h^{\lambda\sigma} + \widetilde{\lambda}_{5}h^{\mu(\lambda}h^{\sigma)\nu}\right)\widetilde{n}^{\rho}\widetilde{n}_{\alpha}.$$
(4.22)

The existence of the preferred direction \tilde{n}^{ρ} appears to introduce further possible contributions to the Young modulus. However, it is easily seen that the first three terms above satisfy the condition $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\lambda[\sigma}\mathcal{K}_{\mu\lambda}{}^{\alpha]} = 0$ but last two do not, except in the case for which the boundary is codimension n = 1 but we have excluded such possibility by only considering non-space-filling surfaces. Hence, we must set $\tilde{\lambda}_4 = \tilde{\lambda}_5 = 0$. Furthermore, the term $\tilde{\lambda}_0$ in (4.21) does not satisfy the condition $\tilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\lambda[\sigma}\mathcal{K}_{\mu\lambda}{}^{\alpha]} = 0$. However, explicit evaluation of (2.44) leads to

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\lambda[\sigma}\mathcal{K}_{\mu\lambda}{}^{\alpha]} - \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\lambda\mu[\sigma}\widetilde{n}^{\alpha]} = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow \left(\widetilde{\lambda}_{0} + 2\lambda_{1}\right)\mathcal{K}^{[\alpha}\widetilde{n}^{\sigma]} - 2\left(\lambda_{1} + \lambda_{2}\right)\widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\rho}K^{\lambda\mu[\sigma}\widetilde{n}^{\alpha]} = 0.$$

$$(4.23)$$

For this condition to be satisfied for arbitrary surface and edge extrinsic curvature one must set $\lambda_0 = -2\lambda_1$ and $\lambda_2 = -\lambda_1$.²⁹ The presence of the surface bending moment introduces extra terms that violate the edge spin conservation equation (2.62). Requiring consistency on the edges implies a constraint among the two surface response coefficients besides fixing

²⁸Note that this term proportional to λ_0 , contrary to λ_0 , is not parity-odd because the presence of the surface and the natural outward-pointing direction of \tilde{n}^{ρ} breaks the reflection symmetry $\tilde{n}^{\rho} \to -\tilde{n}^{\rho}$.

²⁹Note that in the absence of non-trivial edges, the edge conditions (2.50) implied constraints on the extrinsic curvature and spin current at the edges, in particular, certain components must vanish. Here we are not requiring this though one could insist on such edge conditions. Instead, we allow for the surface extrinsic curvatures to be arbitrary at the edges and, by continuity, do not impose any restrictions on the edge components of the extrinsic curvature.

 $\tilde{\lambda}_0$ in terms of a surface coefficient. This consistency condition implies that the surface cannot have arbitrary elastic response coefficients, in fact, the condition $\lambda_2 = -\lambda_1$ implies that the linear combination involving extrinsic curvatures in (4.11) must be proportional to the linear combination $(\mathcal{R} - R_{\parallel})$ due to the Gauss-Codazzi equation (2.20). Furthermore, the presence of a term proportional to \mathcal{R} requires a non-vanishing edge coefficient $\tilde{\lambda}_0$ such that $\tilde{\lambda}_0 = -2\lambda_1$.³⁰ This is the equivalent of the Gibbons-Hawking boundary term (with the appropriate coefficient) in General Relativity. In fact, if we keep the term proportional to α_1 explicitly in (4.11) then one obtains that, using appendix B, $\tilde{\lambda}_0 = -2\lambda_1 - 2\alpha_1$.

Edge spin current. At the edge there is a similar contribution to the spin current, as for the surface, and an additional contribution, such that

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\mu\nu\rho} = \widetilde{\vartheta}_1 \widetilde{u}^{\mu} \widetilde{\epsilon}^{\nu\rho}_{\perp} \delta_{p,2} \delta_{n,1} + \widetilde{\vartheta}_2 \epsilon^{\alpha\lambda\nu\rho} \widetilde{u}_{\alpha} \widetilde{n}_{\lambda} \widetilde{u}^{\mu} \delta_{p,2} \delta_{n,2} \,. \tag{4.24}$$

The first term satisfies (2.62) individually but the second term does not. However, explicit evaluation of (2.44) leads to

$$P^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda}P^{\alpha}{}_{\rho}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}\widetilde{S}^{\mu\lambda\rho} - \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\lambda\mu[\sigma}\widetilde{n}^{\alpha]} = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow 2(2\lambda_{3} + \widetilde{\vartheta}_{2})\widetilde{n}_{\mu}\widetilde{n}^{\nu}\epsilon^{\lambda\mu\beta}{}_{\rho}K_{\nu\lambda}{}^{\rho}\bot^{[\sigma}{}_{\beta}\widetilde{n}^{\alpha]} = 0, \qquad (4.25)$$

which is satisfied if we set $\tilde{\vartheta}_2 = -2\lambda_3$.³¹ This is expected since the term proportional to Ω in (4.19) is a total derivative $\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}(\epsilon_{\parallel}^{\mu\nu}\omega_{\nu})$ which leads to the edge contribution $\tilde{n}_{\mu}\epsilon_{\parallel}^{\mu\nu}\omega_{\nu}$. This contribution is proportional to the contribution induced by the term $\tilde{\vartheta}_2$. In fact, if we keep the term α_5 explicitly in (4.19) we find, using appendix B, that $\tilde{\vartheta}_2 = -2\lambda_3 - 2\alpha_5$. In essence, this means that the topological term Ω cannot be added to an action for a surface with non-trivial edges. This is yet another instance where it does not suffice to enumerate terms that can contribute to the action, as it is also necessary to check the constraints imposed by tangential diffeomorphism invariance. Furthermore, note that the term proportional to ϑ_1 in (4.19) satisfies the constraint $\tilde{n}_{\lambda}P^{\alpha}{}_{\mu}P^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}S^{\lambda\nu\mu} = 0$ automatically.

Edge background curvature moment. The background curvature bending moment can have the following contributions

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{\mu}^{\ \nu\lambda\rho} = \widetilde{\alpha}_{2}h^{[\nu}{}_{\mu}h^{\rho]\lambda} + \widetilde{\alpha}_{3}P^{[\nu}{}_{\mu}h^{\rho]\lambda} + \widetilde{\alpha}_{4}P^{[\nu}{}_{\mu}P^{\rho]\lambda} + \widetilde{\lambda}_{3}\epsilon^{\alpha\sigma\kappa\tau}h_{\mu\alpha}h^{\lambda}{}_{\sigma}P^{\nu}{}_{\kappa}P^{\rho}{}_{\tau}\delta_{p,3}\delta_{n,1} + \widetilde{\alpha}_{5}h^{[\nu}{}_{\mu}\widetilde{n}^{\rho]}\widetilde{n}^{\lambda} + \widetilde{\alpha}_{6}P^{[\nu}{}_{\mu}\widetilde{n}^{\rho]}\widetilde{n}^{\lambda}.$$
(4.26)

which are analogous to those in (4.17), except for the last two contributions. In particular, the parity-odd term has the same coefficient as the last parity-odd term in (4.22), as in the surface case since such is necessary for that linear combination to satisfy the tangential projection of (2.63). The last two terms do not satisfy (2.62) and hence we must set $\tilde{\alpha}_5 = \tilde{\alpha}_6 = 0$.

³⁰This can also be derived using the edge constraints involving $\mathcal{I}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ in appendix B. We note that if p = 2, then \mathcal{R} is topological and the necessary term $\tilde{n}_{\rho}\mathcal{K}^{\rho} = \tilde{n}_{\mu}\epsilon_{||}^{\mu\nu}\rho_{\mu}/2$ is equal to its boundary contribution (see (2.19)). This means that a term proportional to \mathcal{R} for p = 2 is not allowed by diffeomorphism invariance if the surface has edges.

³¹Again, we are insisting on arbitrary surface spin current components on the edges. See footnote 29.

4.3.1 Edge action up to second order in derivatives

One may also consider the analogous contributions to the surface and outer curvature moments as in the surface case. However, since they can always be exchanged by linear combinations of the remaining terms, we have not consider them here. Given the above considerations, the total edge action reads

$$S_{e}[\Phi_{e}(\widetilde{\sigma})] = \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}} d^{p-1} \widetilde{\sigma} \sqrt{|h|} \Big(\chi - 2(\lambda_{1} + \alpha_{1}) \widetilde{n}_{\rho} \mathcal{K}^{\rho} + \widetilde{\lambda}_{1} \mathcal{K}^{\rho} \mathcal{K}_{\rho} + \widetilde{\lambda}_{2} \mathcal{K}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} \mathcal{K}^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho} + \widetilde{\alpha}_{2} \widetilde{R}_{||} + \widetilde{\alpha}_{3} \widetilde{R}_{\angle} + \widetilde{\alpha}_{4} \widetilde{R}_{\perp} + 2 \widetilde{\vartheta}_{1} \widetilde{u}^{\mu} \varpi_{\mu} \delta_{p,2} \delta_{n,1} - 2(\lambda_{3} + \alpha_{5}) \epsilon^{\alpha \lambda}{}_{\nu \rho} \widetilde{u}_{\alpha} \widetilde{n}_{\lambda} \widetilde{u}^{\mu} \varpi_{\mu}{}^{\nu \rho} \delta_{p,2} \delta_{n,2} + \widetilde{\lambda}_{3} \Big(2 \epsilon^{\lambda \mu}{}_{\rho \alpha} \mathcal{K}_{\lambda}{}^{\nu \rho} \mathcal{K}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\alpha} + \widetilde{R}_{-} \Big) \delta_{p,3} \delta_{n,1} \Big),$$

$$(4.27)$$

where we must set $\lambda_2 = -\lambda_1$ in (4.11). The scalars $\widetilde{R}_{\parallel}$, \widetilde{R}_{\perp} , \widetilde{R}_{\perp} and \widetilde{R}_{-} are defined analogously to (4.10) and below (4.19).

4.4 Constraints on the stress tensor

In this section we consider the constraints on the stress tensor that arise from requiring that the dynamics are determined by an action of the type (2.32).

We study the parity-even and parity-odd sectors of the action, including the edge contribution. The method employed is analogous to the classification methods, inspired by effective field theories, used in the context of hydrodynamics. In the present context, the results presented below yield the first example of constraining the stress tensor of entangling surfaces using a conservation equation. In particular, invariance of the action (2.32) under tangential diffeomorphisms implies that the constraints (2.44)–(2.45) and the tangential projection of the equation of motion (2.48) must be automatically satisfied. This implies that by classifying the tensor structures that can appear at the two-derivative level in the independent quantities $\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu}$, $\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\rho}$, $\mathcal{S}^{\mu\nu\rho}$, $\mathcal{Q}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ and imposing invariance under tangential diffeomorphisms must yield the stress tensor as derived directly from (4.11), (4.19) and (4.27). It is shown that this is indeed the case.

4.4.1 Constraints from the parity-even sector

We now classify the contributions to the surface stress tensor $\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu}$, which must be purely tangential and symmetric in the two indices. The most general form at the two-derivative level is given by

$$\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu} = \alpha \gamma^{\mu\nu} + \beta_1 \gamma^{\mu\nu} K_{\rho} K^{\rho} + 4\beta_2 K^{\mu\nu\rho} K_{\rho} + \beta_3 \gamma^{\mu\nu} K_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\rho} K^{\alpha\beta}{}_{\rho} + 4\beta_4 K^{(\mu}{}_{\alpha\rho} K^{\nu)\alpha\rho} + \beta_5 \gamma^{\mu\nu} R_{||} + 2\beta_6 \gamma^{\mu\beta} \gamma^{\nu\alpha} \gamma^{\lambda\sigma} R_{\beta\lambda\alpha\sigma} + \beta_7 \gamma^{\mu\nu} R_{\perp} + 2\beta_8 \gamma^{\mu\beta} \gamma^{\nu\alpha} \perp^{\lambda\sigma} R_{\beta\lambda\alpha\sigma} + \beta_9 \gamma^{\mu\nu} R_{\perp} + \kappa_1 \gamma^{\mu\nu} \mathcal{R} + 2\kappa_2 \mathcal{R}^{\mu\nu} + \kappa_3 \gamma^{\mu\nu} \omega_{\lambda}{}^{\alpha\rho} \omega^{\lambda}{}_{\alpha\rho} + 2\kappa_4 \omega^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\rho} \omega^{\nu\lambda\rho} .$$

$$(4.28)$$

Note that we have added a term proportional to $\mathcal{R}^{\mu\nu}$ and another to $\gamma^{\mu\nu}\mathcal{R}$, but these could be replaced by linear combinations of the remaining terms using the Gauss-Codazzi equation (2.20). The reason for keeping them is just to demonstrate that one could also choose to work with κ_1 and κ_2 instead of the terms involving β_5 and β_6 .

Given the general form of $\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu}$, imposing the conservation equation (2.48), and using (4.4), (4.7) and (4.9), a lengthy calculation reveals

$$4(\beta_{2} + \lambda_{1})\gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda}\left(K^{\lambda\nu\rho}K_{\rho}\right) + 2(\beta_{1} - \lambda_{1})K^{\rho}\overline{\nabla}^{\sigma}K_{\rho} + 2(\beta_{3} - \lambda_{2})K^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho}\overline{\nabla}^{\sigma}K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} + 4(\beta_{4} + \lambda_{2})\gamma^{\sigma\nu}\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda}\left(K^{\mu\lambda}{}_{\rho}K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho}\right) + \gamma^{\sigma\lambda}\gamma^{\mu\nu}\gamma^{\alpha\rho}\left((\beta_{5} - \alpha_{2})\nabla_{\lambda}R_{\mu\alpha\nu\rho} + 2(\beta_{6} + \alpha_{2})\nabla_{\alpha}R_{\mu\rho\nu\lambda}\right) + 2(\beta_{6} + \alpha_{2})\gamma^{\sigma\alpha}\left(\gamma^{\mu\nu}K^{\rho}R_{\mu\rho\nu\alpha} - K^{\rho\nu\lambda}R_{\nu\alpha\lambda\rho}\right) + 2(\beta_{6} + 2\beta_{5} - \alpha_{2})\gamma^{\mu\nu}K^{\rho\sigma\alpha}R_{\mu\rho\nu\alpha} + \perp^{\mu\nu}\gamma^{\alpha\rho}\gamma^{\sigma\lambda}\left((\beta_{7} - \alpha_{3})\nabla_{\lambda}R_{\mu\alpha\nu\rho} + 2(\beta_{8} + \alpha_{3})\nabla_{\alpha}R_{\mu\lambda\nu\rho}\right) - 2(\beta_{7} - \alpha_{3})K^{\sigma\mu\nu}\gamma^{\alpha\rho}R_{\mu\alpha\nu\rho} + 2(\beta_{8} + \alpha_{3})\gamma^{\sigma\alpha}\left(\perp^{\mu\nu}K^{\rho}R_{\mu\alpha\nu\rho} + 2K^{\rho\mu\nu}R_{\alpha\mu\nu\rho}\right) + 2(\beta_{7} + \beta_{8})\perp^{\mu\nu}K^{\sigma\alpha\rho}R_{\mu\alpha\nu\rho} + (\beta_{9} - \alpha_{4})\left(\perp^{\mu\nu}\perp^{\lambda\rho}\gamma^{\sigma\alpha}\nabla_{\alpha}R_{\mu\lambda\nu\rho} - 4\perp^{\alpha\rho}K^{\sigma\mu\nu}R_{\mu\alpha\nu\rho}\right) + (\kappa_{1} + \kappa_{2})\overline{\nabla}^{\sigma}R + 2(\kappa_{3} - \vartheta_{0})\omega_{\lambda}^{\nu\rho}\overline{\nabla}^{\sigma}\omega^{\lambda}{}_{\nu\rho} + 2(\kappa_{4} + \vartheta_{0})\omega^{\lambda}{}_{\nu\rho}\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda}\omega^{\sigma\nu\rho} + 2\kappa_{4}\omega^{\sigma\nu\rho}\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda}\omega^{\lambda}{}_{\nu\rho} = 0.$$

$$(4.29)$$

Note that we have made use of the equation (B.12) to account for the terms appearing in $\mathcal{I}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$, however, these yield vanishing contributions to (4.29). The conservation equation must be satisfied for arbitrary geometric tensors, and since each of these terms is independent³² there is the unique solution

$$\beta_{1} = \lambda_{1}, \qquad \beta_{2} = -\lambda_{1}, \qquad \beta_{3} = \lambda_{2}, \qquad \beta_{4} = -\lambda_{2}, \qquad \beta_{5} = \alpha_{2}, \qquad \beta_{6} = -\alpha_{2}, \beta_{7} = \alpha_{3}, \qquad \beta_{8} = -\alpha_{3}, \qquad \beta_{9} = \alpha_{4}, \qquad \kappa_{1} = -\kappa_{2}, \qquad \kappa_{3} = \kappa_{4} = \vartheta_{0} = 0,$$

$$(4.30)$$

with the surface tension α being unconstrained. Indeed, one may check that once introducing this solution into the stress tensor (4.28) one gets precisely what is obtained by direct variation of (4.11). Note that the last term in (4.29) is precisely the conservation equation for the spin current (4.7) and forces $\kappa_3 = \kappa_4 = \vartheta_0 = 0$. As mentioned in the previous section, adding a term of the form (4.7) is not allowed as it violates the off-shell diffeomorphism constraint (2.44). Furthermore, note that the term appearing in $\mathcal{I}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$ is unconstrained, but it will be related to κ_1 via the edge constraints. This analysis shows that, as in hydrodynamics, these methods can successfully constrain the stress tensor of (entangling) surfaces.

4.4.2 Constraints from the parity-odd sector

For the parity-odd sector we proceed in a similar manner. First of all, we note that the bending moment, spin current and background curvature moment have non-trivial contributions given by (4.12), (4.15), (4.13) and (4.17). For the present purposes, however, we will not assume that the coefficient λ_3 appearing in the parity-odd contribution to the Young modulus (4.15) is the same as the one appearing in the background curvature moment (4.17). Therefore, we replace the coefficient λ_3 appearing in the Young modulus by another coefficient θ_3 , though we will at the end derive that we must have $\lambda_3 = \theta_3$. In

³²The term involving $(\kappa_1 + \kappa_2)$ is not independent but we are treating it as so because one could have chosen to work with κ_1, κ_2 instead of β_5, β_6 .

this case, the most general surface stress tensor can be written as^{33}

$$\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu} = \left(\beta_{10}\gamma^{\mu\nu}K^{\rho}n_{\rho} + 2\beta_{11}K^{\mu\nu\rho}n_{\rho}\right)\delta_{n,1} + \left(2\kappa_{5}\gamma^{\mu\nu}u^{\lambda}\omega_{\lambda} + \kappa_{6}\gamma^{\mu\nu}(u^{\alpha}\omega_{\alpha})^{2} + 2\kappa_{7}\gamma^{(\mu}{}_{\lambda}\overline{\nabla}^{\nu)}\omega^{\lambda}\right)\delta_{p,1}\delta_{n,2} + \left(4\beta_{13}\epsilon^{\lambda\sigma\rho\alpha}K_{\lambda}{}^{(\mu}{}_{\rho}K^{\nu)}{}_{\sigma\alpha} + 2\beta_{14}\gamma^{\alpha\sigma} \perp^{\lambda\kappa}\perp^{\rho\tau}\epsilon^{(\mu}{}_{\sigma\kappa\tau}\gamma^{\nu)}{}_{\beta}R^{\beta}{}_{\alpha\lambda\rho}\right)\delta_{p,2}\delta_{n,2}.$$

$$(4.31)$$

A similarly lengthy calculation as in the parity-even case, using (2.48), (4.12), (4.15), (4.13) and (4.17) leads to

$$\begin{aligned} &(\beta_{10} - \lambda_0)\overline{\nabla}^{\sigma} \left(K^{\rho} n_{\rho}\right) \delta_{n,1} + 2(\beta_{11} + \lambda_0)\gamma^{\sigma}_{\alpha}\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(K^{\lambda\alpha\rho} n_{\rho}\right) \delta_{n,1} \\ &+ \left[2\kappa_5\overline{\nabla}^{\sigma} \left(u^{\mu}\omega_{\mu}\right) + \kappa_6\overline{\nabla}^{\sigma} \left(u^{\alpha}\omega_{\alpha}\right)^2\right] \delta_{p,1}\delta_{n,2} \\ &+ \kappa_7 \left(K_{\alpha}\overline{\nabla}^{\sigma}\omega^{\alpha} + \overline{\nabla}_{\alpha}\overline{\nabla}^{\sigma}\omega^{\alpha} + K_{\lambda}^{\sigma\alpha}\overline{\nabla}^{\lambda}\omega_{\alpha} + \gamma^{\sigma}_{\alpha}\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda}\overline{\nabla}^{\lambda}\omega^{\alpha}\right) \delta_{p,1}\delta_{n,2} \\ &+ \left[(\beta_{14} - \lambda_3)\epsilon_{||}^{\lambda\alpha}\epsilon_{\perp}^{\beta\rho}\nabla_{\lambda}R^{\nu}{}_{\alpha\beta\rho} + 4(\beta_{13} + \theta_3)\epsilon_{||}^{\lambda\alpha}\epsilon_{\perp}^{\beta\rho} \left(K_{\lambda}{}^{\sigma}{}_{\beta}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}K^{\mu}{}_{\alpha\rho} + \gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}K^{\mu}{}_{\alpha\rho}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}K_{\lambda}{}^{\nu}{}_{\beta}\right) \\ &+ (4\theta_3 - 2(\beta_{14} + \lambda_3))\epsilon_{||}^{\lambda\alpha}\epsilon_{\perp}^{\beta\rho}\gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}R^{\nu}{}_{\alpha\mu\rho} + 2(\theta_3 - \lambda_3)\epsilon_{||}^{\lambda\alpha}\epsilon_{\perp}^{\beta\rho}K_{\nu}{}^{\sigma}{}_{\beta}R^{\nu}{}_{\rho\alpha\lambda} \\ &+ (\beta_{14} - \lambda_3)\gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\kappa}\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\epsilon_{||}^{\kappa\alpha}\epsilon_{\perp}^{\beta\rho}\gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}R^{\nu}{}_{\alpha\beta\rho}\right)\right]\delta_{p,2}\delta_{n,2} = 0, \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.32)$$

where we have made use of eq. (B.12) in order to deal with the parity-odd contribution to $\mathcal{H}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}$. However, this contribution drops out from the conservation equation and will only be related to the other coefficients via an edge analysis. Since all these terms are independent from each other, satisfying this equation implies that all terms must individually vanish, giving the unique solution

$$\beta_{10} = \lambda_0, \qquad \beta_{11} = -\lambda_0, \qquad \kappa_5 = \kappa_6 = \kappa_7 = 0, \beta_{13} = -\theta_3, \qquad \beta_{14} = \lambda_3, \qquad \lambda_3 = \theta_3.$$
(4.33)

Note that the terms in the spin current proportional to ϑ_1 , ϑ_2 do not appear in (4.32) and so are unconstrained by the stress conservation equation. This is a consequence of the surface dimensionality p = 1. However, one must still impose the off-shell constraint (2.44) which leads to $\vartheta_2 = 0$, as in the previous section, and ϑ_1 is unconstrained, as expected for a spinning point-particle. This shows that the conservation equation (2.48) is not sufficient in order to implement all diffeomorphism constraints. Furthermore, the result (4.33) provides a formal derivation of the fact that only the linear combination of the first two terms in (4.14) satisfies the requirements of tangential diffeomorphism invariance, as advertised in the previous section, since we must have $\lambda_3 = \theta_3$. Finally, we note that the solution (4.33) agrees with the surface stress tensor that is obtained by direct variation of (4.19).

4.4.3 Constraints from the edges

We now consider the constraints on the edge stress tensor. The edge stress tensor contains the analogous contributions to (4.28) and (4.31). The tangential projection of (2.63) leads

³³We could have added terms to $\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu}$ of the form $\gamma_1 \gamma^{\mu\nu} \epsilon^{\lambda\sigma}{}_{\rho\alpha} K_{\lambda}{}^{\beta\alpha} K_{\sigma\beta}{}^{\rho}$, $\gamma_2 \gamma^{\mu\nu} R_-$ and $\gamma_3 \epsilon^{\alpha(\mu}_{||} K_{\alpha}{}^{\nu)\lambda} K^{\rho} \epsilon^{\perp}_{\lambda\rho}$. However, ultimately, the conservation equation (2.48) requires $\gamma_1 = \gamma_2 = \gamma_3 = 0$ and therefore we have avoided making this explicit for clarity of presentation.

to the same constraints as (4.29) and (4.33). Here, we will therefore derive the constraints due to contributions that are a feature of the edge dynamics, considering the parity-even and parity-odd sectors simultaneously. We therefore consider the non-trivial contributions to the edge stress tensor³⁴

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}^{\mu\nu} = \widetilde{\beta}_{15} h^{\mu\nu} \widetilde{n}_{\rho} \mathcal{K}^{\rho} + 2 \widetilde{\beta}_{16} \mathcal{K}^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho} \widetilde{n}^{\rho} + 2 \widetilde{\kappa}_1 h^{\mu\nu} \epsilon^{\alpha\sigma}{}_{\lambda\rho} \widetilde{u}_{\alpha} \widetilde{n}_{\sigma} \widetilde{u}^{\kappa} \varpi_{\kappa}{}^{\lambda\rho} \delta_{p,2} \delta_{n,2} \,. \tag{4.34}$$

We now use the stress tensors (4.31), (4.31), together with the surface bending moment (4.15), spin current (4.13) and the constraints (4.29), (4.33), as well as the edge bending moment (4.23) and spin current (4.24), and introduce it into (2.63). The tangential projection of (2.63) then yields

$$\begin{aligned} & (\widetilde{\beta}_{15} - \widetilde{\lambda}_0)\widetilde{\nabla}^{\sigma}(\widetilde{n}_{\rho}\mathcal{K}^{\rho}) + 2(\widetilde{\beta}_{16} + \widetilde{\lambda}_0)h^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}\left(\mathcal{K}^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho}\widetilde{n}^{\rho}\right) + (\widetilde{\lambda}_0 + 2\lambda_1 + 2\kappa_1)\mathcal{K}^{\rho}\widetilde{\nabla}^{\sigma}\widetilde{n}_{\rho} \\ & + 2(\alpha_1 - \kappa_1)\mathcal{K}^{\rho\sigma}{}_{\nu}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\rho}\widetilde{n}^{\nu} + 2(\kappa_1 - \alpha_1)\widetilde{n}_{\lambda}h^{\sigma\rho}h^{\mu\nu}R^{\lambda}{}_{\mu\rho\nu} \\ & + 2(\lambda_1 + \lambda_2)h^{\sigma\lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\mu}\widetilde{n}_{\nu}\widetilde{n}_{\alpha}K^{\mu\nu\rho}K^{\alpha}{}_{\lambda\rho} + 2\widetilde{\kappa}_1\widetilde{\nabla}^{\sigma}\left(\epsilon^{\alpha\nu}{}_{\lambda\rho}\widetilde{u}_{\alpha}\widetilde{n}_{\nu}\widetilde{u}^{\mu}\varpi_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\rho}\right)\delta_{p,2}\delta_{n,2} = 0\,, \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.35)$$

which leads to the constraints

 $\widetilde{\beta}_{15} = \widetilde{\lambda}_0, \quad \widetilde{\beta}_{16} = -\widetilde{\lambda}_0, \quad \widetilde{\lambda}_0 = -2\lambda_1 - 2\kappa_1, \quad \lambda_1 = -\lambda_2, \quad \widetilde{\kappa}_1 = 0, \quad \kappa_1 = \alpha_1. \quad (4.36)$

Note that these constraints capture the correct conditions found in the previous section for the terms involving the parity-even sector of the bending moment. As advertised, the boundary analysis relates the surface quadrupole moment with the stress tensor coefficient κ_1 and the presence of α_1 also requires a non-trivial $\tilde{\lambda}_0$. Note also that the terms involving λ_3 , ϑ_1 , $\tilde{\vartheta}_1$, $\tilde{\vartheta}_2$ and α_5 have dropped out from (4.35). The term proportional to $\tilde{\vartheta}_1$ is left unconstrained as in the surface case but in order to constraint the remaining terms we must impose the off-shell constraints

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\lambda[\sigma}\mathcal{K}_{\mu\lambda}{}^{\alpha]} - \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\lambda\mu[\sigma}\widetilde{n}^{\alpha]} - \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}P^{\alpha}{}_{\mu}P^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}\mathcal{S}^{\lambda\nu\mu}
- 2P^{\alpha}{}_{\tau}P^{\sigma}{}_{\beta}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}\left(h^{\mu}{}_{\lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\kappa}\mathcal{H}^{\beta\kappa\tau\lambda}\right) - 2\widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\perp^{\mu\sigma}\perp^{\alpha}{}_{\tau}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa}\mathcal{H}_{\mu}{}^{\kappa\tau\lambda} = 0,$$
(4.37)

which leads to $\tilde{\vartheta}_2 = -2\lambda_3 - 2\alpha_5$ as in the previous section, where we have used appendix B. The form of (4.34) with the constraints (4.36) can be obtained directly from (4.27). The edge dynamics provide a very non-trivial example of the diffeomorphism constraints imposed by a well-defined variational principle.

4.5 Constraints from Weyl invariance

In this section we study the constrains imposed on actions of the form (2.40) and (2.60) if the action is required to be invariant under infinitesimal Weyl rescalings, i.e. under the metric rescaling

$$\delta_{\omega}g_{\mu\nu} = 2\omega \, g_{\mu\nu} \,, \tag{4.38}$$

³⁴We could have added other terms such as those proportional to $\tilde{\gamma}_1 h^{\mu\nu} (\mathcal{K}^{\rho} \tilde{n}_{\rho})^2$ and $\tilde{\gamma}_2 h^{\mu\nu} \mathcal{K}^{\alpha\beta}{}_{\rho} \tilde{n}^{\rho} \mathcal{K}_{\alpha\beta}{}^{\sigma} \tilde{n}_{\sigma}$ but a similar analysis would ultimately set $\tilde{\gamma}_1 = \tilde{\gamma}_2 = 0$ and therefore we have avoided presenting these for the sake of clarity of presentation.

where $\omega(x)$ is an arbitrary real function. The transformation properties of the various geometric quantities is given in appendix A. The variation of the action still takes the form of (2.40) and (2.60) but with the variations being those associated with Weyl rescalings instead of Lagrangian variations. Under these variations the action varies according to

$$\delta_{\omega}S = \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p}\sigma\sqrt{|\gamma|} \left[\left(\mathcal{T}^{\mu}{}_{\mu} + \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho}K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} + \perp_{\mu\nu}\Pi^{\mu\nu}\right)\omega + \mathcal{D}^{\mu}{}_{\mu}{}^{\rho}\nabla_{\rho}\omega + 4\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}{}^{(\nu\lambda)\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\nabla_{\lambda}\omega \right] \int_{\partial\mathcal{W}} d^{p-1}\tilde{\sigma}\sqrt{|h|} \left[\left(\tilde{\mathcal{T}}^{\mu}{}_{\mu} + \tilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho}\mathcal{K}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} + P_{\mu\nu}\tilde{\Pi}^{\mu\nu}\right)\omega + \tilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\mu}{}^{\mu\rho}\nabla_{\rho}\omega + 4\tilde{\mathcal{Q}}_{\mu}{}^{(\nu\lambda)\mu}\nabla_{\nu}\nabla_{\lambda}\omega \right],$$

$$(4.39)$$

where we have used the diffeomorphism constraints (2.44)-(2.46) and (2.62) and also ignored variations with respect to the intrinsic and outer curvatures, since they are not necessary. For the action to be invariant under Weyl rescalings each of the terms above must vanish independently, therefore a total of six conditions must be satisfied. We will first analyse the case of a two-derivative surface action without edges and then later consider the inclusion of the edges.

4.5.1 Weyl invariance for the edgeless surface

In the case of a surface without edges the first line in (4.39) leads to three independent conditions. The last term in (4.39) implies that

$$\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}^{(\nu\lambda)\mu} = -\frac{1}{2} \left(\alpha_2(p-1) + \alpha_3 \frac{n}{2} \right) \gamma^{\lambda\nu} - \frac{1}{2} \left(\alpha_4(n-1) + \alpha_3 \frac{p}{2} \right) \perp^{\lambda\nu} = 0
\Rightarrow \alpha_2 = -\alpha_3 \frac{n}{2(p-1)}, \quad \alpha_4 = -\alpha_3 \frac{p}{2(n-1)}, \quad (4.40)$$

where we have used (4.17). Note that the term λ_3 in (4.17) drops out from this equation. In turn, the second condition in (4.39) leads to

$$\mathcal{D}^{\mu}{}_{\mu}{}^{\rho} = 2(\lambda_1 p + \lambda_2)K^{\rho} + \lambda_0 p n^{\rho} = 0$$

$$\Rightarrow \ \lambda_1 = -\frac{\lambda_2}{p}, \quad \lambda_0 = 0, \qquad (4.41)$$

for which we have used (4.12) and (4.15) and where again λ_3 in (4.15) does not play a role. Finally, the requirement that the first term in (4.39) vanishes, using (4.28) and (4.31), leads to

$$\alpha p + (p-2) \left(\lambda_1 K^{\rho} K_{\rho} + \lambda_2 K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} K^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho} + \alpha_2 R_{||} + \alpha_3 R_{\angle} + \alpha_4 R_{\bot} \right) = 0.$$
 (4.42)

This condition, together with (4.40) and (4.41) leads to p = 2 and $\alpha = 0$. These results imply that λ_3 (or equivalently α_5) as well as ϑ_1 are free coefficients. Using the conformal tensors defined in section 2.1, the two-derivative Weyl-invariant surface action takes the form

$$S[\Phi(\sigma)] = \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{2}\sigma \sqrt{|\gamma|} \left(\lambda_{2} C_{\mu\nu\rho} C^{\mu\nu\rho} + \frac{n(n+1)}{2} \alpha_{4} \widehat{W}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\mu\nu} \right) \delta_{p,2} + \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p}\sigma \sqrt{|\gamma|} \left(\left[\lambda_{3} \left(2\epsilon^{\lambda\mu}{}_{\rho\alpha} C_{\lambda}{}^{\nu\rho} C_{\mu\nu}{}^{\alpha} + R_{-} \right) + \alpha_{5} \Omega \right] \delta_{p,2} \delta_{n,2} + 2\vartheta_{1} u^{\mu} \omega_{\mu} \delta_{p,1} \delta_{n,2} \right),$$

$$(4.43)$$

with $C_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho}$ the conformation tensor defined in eq. (2.26).

4.5.2 Edge contribution

If the surface has edges, the analysis changes considerably due to the non-trivial diffeomorphism constraints obtained in (2.62), which relate surface coefficients to edge coefficients. If the surface has dimensionality p = 1 then the only non-trivial contribution to the full Weyl-invariant action is the last term in (4.43), as the edge is point-like. For p = 2 there is a non-trivial contribution in (4.43) due to the extrinsic curvatures. As shown in section 4, diffeomorphism invariance at the edges requires $\lambda_1 = -\lambda_2$, which is incompatible with (4.41) for p = 2. Therefore we must set $\lambda_2 = 0$. Similarly, in the presence of edges, the contributions due to λ_3 (or α_5) must be balanced by an equivalent edge term as λ_3 is topological. In other words, we must set $\lambda_3 = \alpha_5 = 0$. For a two-dimensional surface, the edges are one-dimensional lines and, analogously to the surface, the edge Weyl constraints in (4.39) do not impose any restrictions on $\tilde{\vartheta}_1$. In this case, the full Weyl-invariant action is given by

$$S[\Phi(\sigma), \Phi_e(\widetilde{\sigma})] = \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^2 \sigma \sqrt{|\gamma|} \frac{n(n+1)}{2} \alpha_4 \widehat{W}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\mu\nu} + 2 \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}} d^1 \widetilde{\sigma} \sqrt{|h|} \widetilde{\vartheta}_1 \widetilde{u}^\mu \varpi_\mu \delta_{n,1} \,. \tag{4.44}$$

This is rather significantly different from the edgeless case. If the dimensionality of the surface is p = 3, then there is no contribution from the surface action, however, the last three edge conditions in (4.39) lead to the equivalent results as in the case of surface actions with p = 2. In particular, we have that $\chi = \tilde{\alpha}_2 = \tilde{\alpha}_3 = 0$ and the Weyl-invariant action is given by

$$S[\Phi_{e}(\widetilde{\sigma})] = \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}} d^{2} \widetilde{\sigma} \sqrt{|h|} \left(\widetilde{\lambda}_{2} \left(\mathcal{K}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} \mathcal{K}^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho} - \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{K}^{\rho} \mathcal{K}_{\rho} \right) + \widetilde{\alpha}_{4} \widetilde{R}_{\perp} + \widetilde{\lambda}_{3} \left(2 \epsilon^{\lambda\mu}{}_{\rho\alpha} \mathcal{K}_{\lambda}{}^{\nu\rho} \mathcal{K}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\alpha} + \widetilde{R}_{-} \right) \delta_{n,1} \right).$$

$$(4.45)$$

The first term above is the square of the edge conformation tensor (defined analogously to (2.26)) while the second term coincides with the trace of the pull-back of the Weyl tensor onto the edge. For $p \ge 4$ there are no non-trivial two-derivative Weyl-invariant contributions.

4.5.3 Weyl anomalies

The above results are pertinent in the context of Weyl anomalies for two-dimensional submanifolds. In particular, certain classes of CFTs with vacuum energy $W[g_{\mu\nu}, X^{\mu}]$ living on embedding surfaces have conformal anomalies, denoted by \mathcal{A} , which are defined as

$$\delta_{\omega}W = \int d^D x \sqrt{|g|} \mathcal{A}\omega \,. \tag{4.46}$$

Using the formulation of the action (3.2) in terms of the spacetime stress tensor (with S replaced by W), a Weyl transformation simply yields³⁵

$$\mathcal{A} = \mathbf{T}_{s\ \mu}^{\ \mu} + \mathbf{T}_{e\ \mu}^{\ \mu}, \qquad (4.47)$$

³⁵Formally, the quantities $\mathbf{T}_{s}^{\mu}{}_{\mu}$ and $\mathbf{T}_{e}{}^{\mu}{}_{\mu}$ are one-point functions since they are obtained via the variation of the vacuum energy W with respect to $g_{\mu\nu}$.

where the trace of the surface spacetime stress tensor is given by

$$\mathbf{T}_{s\ \mu}^{\ \mu} = \left(\mathcal{T}_{\ \mu}^{\mu} + \mathcal{D}^{\mu\lambda\alpha}K_{\mu\lambda\alpha} + \perp_{\lambda\sigma}\Pi^{\lambda\sigma}\right)\widehat{\delta}(x) + \nabla_{\rho}\left(\mathcal{D}_{\ \mu}^{\mu}\widehat{\delta}(x)\right) - 4\nabla_{\lambda}\nabla_{\rho}\left(\mathcal{Q}_{\mu}^{\ \mu(\lambda\rho)}\widehat{\delta}(x)\right),$$

$$(4.48)$$

and similarly for the edge contribution. Anomalies can be classified into three different types [66]. In particular, type B anomalies are anomalies composed of local terms which are Weyl invariant. All the terms in (4.43) are locally Weyl invariant and hence are possible conformal anomalies for two-dimensional submanifolds. The first line corresponds to the Graham-Witten anomalies found in [67] but the term corresponding to Ω , which is present in D = 4, seems not to have received attention in the literature.

If the submanifold has edges and assuming diffeomorphism invariance, the usual anomaly proportional to the square of the conformation tensor must vanish and we are left with (4.44).³⁶ This includes a new possible edge anomaly in D = 3 which is type B. It is also worth noting that for p = 2 there is only one type A surface anomaly given by (see e.g. [61])

$$\int_{\mathcal{W}} d^2 \sigma \sqrt{|\gamma|} \mathcal{R} \,. \tag{4.49}$$

However, as we have seen in section 4 (see footnote 30), in the presence of edges and assuming diffeomorphism invariance, this term must vanish. Therefore, there are no type A anomalies for submanifolds with boundaries. In turn, this implies that the weak c-theorem of [3] for CFTs coupled to defects simply does not apply if the defect has edges.

5 Actions for DCFTs and BCFTs

In previous sections we focused on the consequences of spacetime diffeomorphism invariance on embedded surfaces where the embedding map $X^{\mu}(\sigma^a)$ was kept fixed. This gave rise to a rich set of equations of motion and constraints that such a surface must satisfy. In this last section of the paper we relax the requirement that the embedding map is kept fixed, and in particular we will consider the transformation properties

$$\delta_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu} = 2\nabla_{(\mu}\xi_{\nu)}, \quad \delta_X X^{\mu} = -\xi^{\mu}, \qquad (5.1)$$

i.e. the change in the local coordinates is compensated by the change on the embedding map such that the surface is unmoved.

This new set of variations, (5.1), is of special interest to particular cases of conformal field theories coupled to defects (surfaces) with edges (DCFTs) and boundary conformal field theories (BCFTs). When coupling defects to CFTs one wishes that the defect is consistently coupled regardless of its shape. In turn, this implies that there is no dynamics associated with a shape equation. Instead, the variational principle must render the shape equation trivial, which implies the simultaneously displacement of the embedding map under a diffeomorphism. This is precisely what eq. (5.1) ensures.

³⁶Here we are insisting that the diffeomorphism constraints are satisfied for arbitrary extrinsic curvature components of both surface and edge geometry instead of imposing ad-hoc boundary conditions on them. See footnote 29.

A further generalisation can be taken into account, by letting actions have more dynamics than those dictated by pure geometry, in particular with the existence of couplings to a scalar field and q-form gauge fields. These fields are not background fields to which the defect couples to, as when coupling probes to supergravity actions [49], such that the variation of the action with respect to them produces a source term in the equations of motion. Instead, the fields are dynamic and variation of the defect action with respect to these fields yields the corresponding equation of motion. We use the spacetime formulation of the variational principle to deal with these extra fields and identify new contributions to these Ward identities, which arise due to the spacetime formulation of the variational principle and were previously overlooked (see eqs. (5.22)).

Some of these results were considered in [4]. Here, we provide a different method and interpretation, using a spacetime formulation, and also include further degrees of generality, e.g. the Ward identities are derived for defects in curved space and include the existence of non-trivial defect edges, whose detailed analysis is given in appendix B.4.

5.1 Variational principle

Consider a quantum field theory living on a manifold \mathcal{M} with boundary or defect \mathcal{W} of dimensionality p. This quantum field theory is characterised by a vacuum energy functional of the form

$$W[g_{\mu\nu}X^{\mu}] = \log \int [D\Psi] \exp\left(-S[g_{\mu\nu}X^{\mu},\Psi,\partial\Psi,\cdots]\right), \qquad (5.2)$$

where Ψ denotes a collection of fields, while S denotes the action functional which can depend on the fields Ψ and its derivatives. We require the action S to be invariant under diffeomorphisms when all fields are allowed to vary accordingly, namely

$$S[g_{\mu\nu}X^{\mu},\Psi,\partial\Psi,\cdots] = S[g_{\mu\nu}+\delta_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu}X^{\mu}+\delta_{X}X^{\mu},\Psi+\delta_{\xi}\Psi,\partial\Psi+\delta_{\xi}\partial\Psi,\cdots], \qquad (5.3)$$

where the metric and embedding map have the transformation properties given by eq. (5.1).

The variation of the collection of fields Ψ under diffeomorphisms is not necessary to be given since we assume that diffeomorphism invariance holds on-shell, i.e. when the equations of motion for the fields Ψ are satisfied. The variation of X^{μ} is defined differently than in [4], in particular, it is defined as the total variation of S with respect to X^{μ} , instead of just being the variation restricted to a particular set of fields.

As in section 3, we can recast the action in terms of a spacetime action and define its total variation as the sum of a Lagrangian variation and a variation of the embedding map, such that

$$\delta W[g_{\mu\nu}, X^{\mu}] = \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{|g|} d^{D}x \left(\frac{1}{2} \langle \mathbf{T}^{\mu\nu} \rangle \delta_{\xi} g_{\mu\nu} - \langle \mathbf{D}_{\mu} \rangle \delta_{X} X^{\mu}\right), \qquad (5.4)$$

where $\langle \mathbf{D}_{\mu} \rangle$ is the one-point function referred to as the *displacement operator*, as it is the operator dual to an infinitesimal displacement of the surface and defined as

$$\langle \mathbf{D}_{\mu} \rangle = -\frac{1}{\sqrt{|g|}} \frac{\delta W}{\delta_X X^{\mu}} \,. \tag{5.5}$$

Introducing the variations for background diffeomorphisms leads to the conservation equation

$$\nabla_{\mu} \langle \mathbf{T}^{\mu\nu} \rangle = \langle \mathbf{D}^{\nu} \rangle \,, \tag{5.6}$$

where $\langle \mathbf{T}^{\mu\nu} \rangle$ is the one-point function defined as in (3.3) but using the vacuum energy, i.e. by trading $S \to W$. It takes the general form

$$\langle T^{\mu\nu} \rangle = \langle T^{\mu\nu}_{\rm b} \rangle + \langle T^{\mu\nu}_{\rm s} \rangle + \langle T^{\mu\nu}_{\rm e} \rangle, \qquad (5.7)$$

with $T_{\rm b}^{\mu\nu} = T_{\rm b}^{\mu\nu}$ for DCFTs and $T_{\rm b}^{\mu\nu} = T_{\rm b}^{\mu\nu}\Theta(x)$ for BCFTs and the remaining two contributions being the surface and edge contributions respectively, which for the case of BCFT's may contain additional contributions due to an inflow of energy-momentum from the bulk part of the action as in (3.35).

It is clear from (5.6) that the displacement operator has the role of a force term in the stress tensor conservation equation. Its role is to force or to displace the surface in such a way that the orthogonal components of (5.6) are trivially satisfied. The displacement operator has an expansion analogous to the stress tensor, that is

$$\langle \mathbf{D}^{\mu} \rangle = \langle \mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{s}}^{\mu} \rangle + \langle \mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{e}}^{\mu} \rangle, \qquad (5.8)$$

where both the surface and edge contributions to the displacement operator can be written as^{37}

$$\mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{s}}^{\mu} = D^{\mu}\widehat{\delta}(x), \quad \mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{e}}^{\mu} = D^{\mu}\widehat{\delta}_{e}(x).$$
(5.9)

This definition agrees with the definition of displacement operator introduced in [2, 3] and it accounts for the full displacement of the surface as it appears in the conservation equation (5.6).³⁸ We will determine the Ward identities for CFTs with vacuum energy (5.2) and in the process uncover the stress tensor and the displacement operator.

5.2 Ward identities for DCFTs and BCFTs

In order to obtain the Ward identities, consider a set of bulk operators O_i and define the collection χ of bulk operators as

$$\chi = O_1(x_1, z_1) \cdots O_n(x_n, z_n).$$
(5.10)

It follows from (5.6) that for any correlation function the Ward identity for diffeomorphism invariance can be written as

$$\delta_{\xi} \langle \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle + \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{|g|} d^{D} x \ \left(\langle -\nabla_{\mu} \mathbf{T}^{\mu\nu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle + \langle \mathbf{D}_{\nu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle \right) \xi_{\nu} = 0 \,. \tag{5.11}$$

³⁷One could expect that the displacement operator, analogously to the stress tensor, would have an expansion in terms of derivatives of $\hat{\delta}(x)$. This is however not the case. Derivatives of the embedding map appearing in all geometric structures are tangential since orthogonal derivatives are not well-defined. Therefore, any variation of the embedding map will at most involve tangential derivatives. These tangential derivatives can be integrated out, as for the case of the stress tensor, by making a frame choice. It turns out that the frame choice that yields the same equations of motion and boundary conditions as for the stress tensor is the one for which all tangential derivatives of the variation are integrated out.

 $^{^{38}}$ In full generality, the surface and edge displacement operators (5.9) should be defined as integrals over the surface and edges, respectively, as for the spacetime stress tensor (see footnote 18).

Hence, in the absence of external operators or when the correlator is invariant under the symmetry, one must have

$$\langle \nabla_{\mu} \mathbf{T}^{\mu\nu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle = \langle \mathbf{D}^{\nu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle .$$
 (5.12)

While (5.12) does capture all constraints from diffeomorphism invariance, we require that the defect action, including its edges, is invariant under tangential diffeomorphisms that do not displace the surface. From (5.12), this implies the stricter results³⁹

$$\langle \gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} \nabla_{\mu} \mathbf{T}^{\mu\nu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle = 0, \quad \langle \gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} \mathbf{D}^{\nu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle = 0.$$
 (5.13)

The first condition above states that the invariance of the action under tangential diffeomorphism while the second condition states that the defect action must be reparametrisation invariant. As we will see below, for specific classes of DCFT actions, these two Ward identities will lead to different constraints. Finally, for a Weyl transformation in which $\delta_{\omega}g_{\mu\nu} = 2\omega g_{\mu\nu}$ and $\delta_{\omega}X^{\mu} = 0$ one obtains the Ward identity

$$\delta_{\omega} \langle \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle + \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{|g|} d^{D} x \; \omega \langle \mathbf{T}^{\mu}{}_{\mu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle = 0 \,.$$
 (5.14)

Hence, in the absence of external operators, up to possible conformal anomalies, this leads to $\langle \mathbf{T}^{\mu}{}_{\mu}\boldsymbol{\chi}\rangle = 0$. This concludes the general study of Ward identities which holds for any DCFT or BCFT. However, when written in this abstract manner, its usefulness is questionable. Below, we focus on a large class of DCFTs/BCFTs and write down the Ward identities in a more practical manner. We also give examples in which further local symmetries are imposed, leading to further Ward identities. The inclusion of edges in full generality is considered in appendix B.4.

5.3 Ward identities for a class of DCFT actions

We now consider a class of DCFT actions and write down their Ward identities. We focus on the case in which the defect couples to the different geometric tensors introduced in section 2 but we ignore couplings to curvature tensors for simplicity. As we have noted above, the vacuum energy is a functional of $g_{\mu\nu}$ and X^{μ} but the action can be a function of non-geometric fields. If the fields are background fields such as a scalar field $\phi(x)$ or some vector field $\phi^{\mu}(x)$ then the couplings to the geometric fields introduced in (2.40) are sufficient. However, if the fields are purely surface fields such as a vector field $\phi^{i}(X)$ or $\phi^{a}(X)$ that only have support on \mathcal{W} , then one may define their respective push-forwards onto the background spacetime as $\phi^{i}n^{\mu}{}_{i}$ or $\phi^{a}e^{\mu}{}_{a}$. Hence their variations will need to include variations with respect to $n^{\mu}{}_{i}$ and $e^{\mu}{}_{a}$ which were not accounted for in (2.40).⁴⁰

³⁹The authors of [3] claim to have derived surface reparametrisation invariance in eq. (B3) of [3]. This however is not something that can be derived but something that must be imposed on abstract actions of the form (5.4). In particular, they seem to have forgotten the change in the argument in $g_{\mu\nu}(X)$ in (B2) of [3]. If such had been taken into account, a linear combination of the two Ward identities in (5.13) would have been obtained.

⁴⁰This means that in practice, we need to work with both spacetime and surface indices though, as we shall see, we can always push-forward the required structures in order to have a purely spacetime description. In the gauge formulation of the variational principle, the problem is reversed and it would be necessary to introduce couplings to $n^{\mu}{}_{i}$ and $e^{\mu}{}_{a}$ in order to deal with background fields leading again to the necessity of dealing with both spacetime and surface indices.

Consider a general variation of a correlator such that⁴¹

$$\begin{split} \delta \langle \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle &+ \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^{D} x \sqrt{|g|} \left\langle T_{\mathrm{b}}^{\mu\nu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \delta g_{\mu\nu} \\ &+ \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p} \sigma \sqrt{|\gamma|} \left\langle \left(-\frac{1}{2} \mathcal{T}_{\mu\nu} \, \delta_{\xi} \gamma^{\mu\nu} - \mathcal{P}_{\mu}^{\nu} \, \delta_{\xi} \bot^{\mu}_{\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu} \, \delta_{\xi} \bot_{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu}_{\rho} \, \delta_{\xi} K_{\mu\nu}^{\rho} \right. \\ &\left. + \mathcal{S}^{\mu}_{\lambda\rho} \, \widetilde{\delta}_{\xi} \omega_{\mu}^{\lambda\rho} + \mathcal{D}_{\mu} \delta X^{\mu} + \mathcal{V}^{\mu}_{\nu} \delta n_{\mu}^{\nu} + \mathcal{C}^{\mu}_{\nu} \delta e_{\mu}^{\nu} \right) \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \tag{5.15} \\ &\int_{\partial \mathcal{W}} d^{p-1} \widetilde{\sigma} \sqrt{|h|} \left\langle \left(-\frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}_{\mu\nu} \delta_{\xi} h^{\mu\nu} - \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}_{\mu}^{\nu} \delta_{\xi} \mathcal{P}^{\mu}_{\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}^{\mu\nu} \delta_{\xi} \mathcal{P}_{\mu\nu} + \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\nu}_{\rho} \delta_{\xi} \mathcal{K}_{\mu\nu}^{\rho} \right. \\ &\left. + \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\mu}_{\lambda\rho} \delta_{\xi} \varpi_{\mu}^{\lambda\rho} + \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\mu} \delta \widetilde{X}^{\mu} + \widetilde{\mathcal{V}}^{\mu}_{\nu} \delta \widetilde{n}_{\mu}^{\nu} + \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\mu}_{\nu} \delta \widetilde{e}_{\mu}^{\nu} \right) \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle = 0 \,, \end{split}$$

where we have defined the variations $\delta e_{\mu}{}^{\nu} = e_{\mu}{}^{a} \delta e^{\nu}{}_{a}$ and $\delta n_{\mu}{}^{\nu} = n_{\mu}{}^{i} \delta n^{\nu}{}_{i}$ and analogously for the edge variation. These are the required structures to deal with fields with support on \mathcal{W} and $\partial \mathcal{W}$. We have also introduced the dual operators to these variations in the manner

$$\mathcal{D}_{\mu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\gamma|}} \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta X^{\mu}} \bigg|_{\text{g fixed}}, \quad \mathcal{V}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\gamma|}} n^{\mu}{}_{i} \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta n^{\nu}{}_{i}}, \quad \mathcal{C}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{|\gamma|}} e^{\mu}{}_{a} \frac{\delta \mathcal{L}}{\delta e^{\nu}{}_{a}}, \quad (5.16)$$

and similarly for the edge action. Here $\mathcal{V}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$ is transverse in its first index while $\mathcal{C}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$ is tangential in its first index and similarly for the edge terms. These variations and their conjugate operators mark the difference between the analysis presented in this section and that of section 2. These three variations were introduced in order to deal with nongeometric fields such as gauge fields and scalar fields. In particular, \mathcal{D}_{μ} is defined as the variation of the action with respect to variations of the embedding map keeping the intrinsic and extrinsic geometry fixed. Therefore, it should not be confused with \mathbf{D}_{μ} , which takes into account variations of the geometric fields as well. Similarly, the variations with respect to $\delta e_{\mu}{}^{\nu}$ and $\delta n_{\mu}{}^{\nu}$ should be understood as couplings between the purely surface non-geometric fields and background non-geometric fields or the surface geometry, except in the case p = 1 for which the coupling to $e_{\mu}{}^{\nu}$ is essentially a coupling to the point particle velocity u^{μ} or in the case of a BCFT where the coupling to $n_{\mu}{}^{\nu}$ is essentially a coupling to the normal co-vector n_{μ} . In these particular cases, their variations also include direct couplings between the geometric fields.

Ward identity for tangential diffeomorphisms. We now wish to express the Ward identities (5.13) for the class of DCFTs whose action varies according to (5.15). We begin by considering the first of the identities in (5.13) and perform a tangential Lagrangian variation that does not displace the mapping functions, i.e.

$$\delta_{\xi} g_{\mu\nu} = 2\nabla_{(\mu} \xi_{\nu)}^{||}, \quad \delta_{\xi} X^{\mu} = 0, \quad \xi_{\nu}^{||} = \gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu} \xi^{\mu}.$$
(5.17)

Under this restricted variation, the variations associated with the operators \mathcal{D}_{μ} and \mathcal{C}^{μ}_{ν} vanish, and similarly for the corresponding edge operators, however \mathcal{V}^{μ}_{ν} and $\widetilde{\mathcal{V}}^{\mu}_{\nu}$ do play

⁴¹A subclass of this class of DCFTs was studied in [4] but using a gauge formulation of the variational principle and without considering the possibility of non-trivial edges.

a role. Under the tangential diffeomorphism, one finds

$$\delta_{\xi^{||}} \langle \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle - \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{|g|} d^{D}x \langle \nabla_{\mu} T_{\mathbf{b}}^{\mu\nu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle \xi_{\nu}^{||} + \int_{\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|\gamma|} d^{p}\sigma \left(\left\langle B^{\mu\nu} \bot^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \nabla_{\lambda} \xi_{\nu}^{||} + \left\langle B^{\nu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \xi_{\nu}^{||} \right) + \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|h|} d^{p-1} \widetilde{\sigma} \ \widetilde{n}_{\mu} \left(\left\langle \widetilde{B}^{\mu\rho\nu} P^{\lambda}{}_{\rho} \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \nabla_{\lambda} \xi_{\nu}^{||} + \left\langle \widetilde{B}^{\mu\nu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \xi_{\nu}^{||} \right) = 0.$$

$$(5.18)$$

The quantities $B^{\mu\nu}, B^{\nu}, \widetilde{B}^{\mu\rho\nu}, \widetilde{B}^{\mu\nu}$ were introduced in section 2.2. However, now there is a new contribution to $B^{\mu\nu}$ and $\widetilde{n}_{\mu}\widetilde{B}^{\mu\rho\nu}$. In particular,

$$\mathcal{P}^{\alpha}{}_{\sigma} \perp^{\sigma\nu} \gamma^{\mu}{}_{\alpha} + \mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu} - \mathcal{D}^{\alpha\lambda\nu} K_{\alpha\lambda}{}^{\mu} + \mathcal{S}^{\alpha\lambda\mu} K_{\alpha}{}^{\nu}{}_{\lambda} - \perp_{\lambda}{}^{\nu} \perp_{\rho}{}^{\mu} \overline{\nabla}_{\alpha} \mathcal{S}^{\alpha\lambda\rho} - \perp^{(\mu}{}_{\lambda} \mathcal{V}^{\nu)\lambda} - \mathcal{V}^{\nu}{}_{\lambda} \gamma^{\lambda\mu} = 0,$$
(5.19)

while $\tilde{n}_{\mu}\tilde{B}^{\mu\rho\nu}$ is a linear combination of the three equations (2.62) with the analogous addition of $\tilde{\mathcal{V}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$ as for $B^{\mu\nu}$. Contrary to section 2.2, in the presence of a defect one cannot conclude that $B^{\mu\nu}, B^{\nu}, \tilde{B}^{\mu\rho\nu}, \tilde{B}^{\mu\nu}$ must vanish independently. This is because on-shell the divergence of the bulk stress tensor can be decomposed as

$$\nabla_{\mu}T_{\rm b}^{\mu\nu} = \mathcal{E}^{\nu}\widehat{\delta}(x) - \nabla_{\mu}\left(\mathcal{E}^{\lambda\nu}\bot^{\mu}{}_{\lambda}\widehat{\delta}(x)\right) + \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{\nu}\widehat{\delta}_{e}(x) - \nabla_{\mu}\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{\lambda\nu}P^{\mu}{}_{\lambda}\widehat{\delta}_{e}(x)\right) + \cdots, \quad (5.20)$$

where the dots correspond to higher order terms that we are neglecting in this analysis. Introducing this into (5.18), one finds, in the absence of correlators, the constraints

$$B^{\mu}\gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu} = \mathcal{E}^{\mu}\gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu}, \quad \mathcal{E}^{\lambda\nu}\bot^{\mu}{}_{\lambda} = B^{\lambda\nu}\bot^{\mu}{}_{\lambda}, \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{\mu}h^{\nu}{}_{\mu} = \widetilde{n}_{\mu}\widetilde{B}^{\mu\nu}, \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{\lambda\nu}P^{\mu}{}_{\lambda} = \widetilde{n}_{\alpha}\widetilde{B}^{\alpha\lambda\nu}P^{\mu}{}_{\lambda}.$$
(5.21)

This implies that a priori, without knowing the specific on-shell value of (5.20), one cannot determine the components of stress $\mathcal{P}^{\alpha}{}_{\sigma}$ and $\mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu}$. As we shall see, this is in contrast with the case of BCFTs. However, one can write general constraints imposed by the Ward identity. From the second condition in (5.21), we are lead to three conditions

$$\mathcal{D}^{\mu\lambda[\sigma}K_{\mu\lambda}{}^{\alpha]} + \pm_{\lambda}{}^{\sigma}\pm_{\rho}{}^{\alpha}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\mathcal{S}^{\mu\lambda\rho} = \mathcal{E}^{\mu\nu}\pm^{[\sigma}{}_{\mu}\pm^{\alpha]}{}_{\nu},$$

$$\mathcal{B}^{\alpha\sigma} - \mathcal{D}^{\mu\lambda(\sigma}K_{\mu\lambda}{}^{\alpha)} - \pm^{(\sigma}{}_{\nu}\mathcal{V}^{\alpha)\nu} = \mathcal{E}^{\mu\nu}\pm^{(\sigma}{}_{\mu}\pm^{\alpha)}{}_{\nu},$$

$$\mathcal{P}^{\sigma\alpha} - \mathcal{S}^{\mu\alpha\lambda}K_{\mu}{}^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda} - \mathcal{V}^{\alpha}{}_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu\sigma} = \mathcal{E}^{\mu\nu}\pm_{\mu}{}^{\alpha}\gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\nu},$$

(5.22)

which are modifications of (2.44)–(2.46) due to the presence of the bulk stress tensor.⁴² Finally, the first condition (5.21) yields

$$\gamma^{\nu}{}_{\sigma}\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda}\mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma} - \gamma^{\nu}{}_{\sigma}\Sigma^{\mu\lambda\rho}R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu\rho\lambda} = \mathcal{E}^{\mu}\gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu}\,, \qquad (5.23)$$

where $\mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma}$ is a modification of the one introduced in (3.21), namely,

$$\mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma} = \mathcal{T}^{\lambda\sigma} + \mathcal{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \perp^{\nu\sigma} \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} - \gamma_{\mu}{}^{\lambda}\Pi^{\sigma\mu} - \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma} - \mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\sigma}K_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\alpha} - \mathcal{V}^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}\gamma^{\nu\lambda}, \qquad (5.24)$$

while $\Sigma^{\mu\lambda\rho}$ was defined in (3.21), and similarly for the two last edge conditions in (5.21) as we shall see in appendix B.4.

 $^{^{42}}$ We note that these constraints are altogether lacking in the analysis of [4].

Ward identity for tangential displacements of X^{μ} . We now study the second Ward identity in (5.13) obtained by displacing the mapping functions according to

$$\delta_X X^\mu = -\xi^\mu_{||} \,. \tag{5.25}$$

This corresponds to a reparametrisation of the surface coordinates. Under this displacement, and contrary to the case of a BCFT, there is no contribution from the bulk action and bulk operators. Using the variation formulae of appendix A we find

$$\left\langle \left(\mathcal{D}^{\nu} \gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} + \gamma^{\alpha \sigma} \left(\mathbb{S}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + \mathbb{B}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + \mathbb{N}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \mathbb{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \mathcal{C}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \mathcal{V}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \right) \Gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu \alpha} \right) \chi \right\rangle$$

$$+ \left\langle \left(\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\mathbb{N}^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} - \mathbb{P}^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} - \mathcal{C}^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \right) \gamma^{\sigma \nu} \chi \right\rangle$$

$$= \left\langle \left(\gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} \overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\mathbb{T}^{\lambda \nu} - \mathcal{E}^{\mu}{}_{\rho} \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} \perp^{\rho \nu} - \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\rho} \mathcal{V}^{\mu \rho} \perp^{\nu}{}_{\mu} \right) - \gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} \Sigma^{\mu \lambda \rho} R^{\nu}{}_{\mu \rho \lambda} \right) \chi \right\rangle$$

$$(5.26)$$

where we have used the last condition in (5.22) and, for convenience, defined

$$\mathbb{N}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \mathcal{T}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{\mathcal{L}}{\sqrt{|\gamma|}} \gamma^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + 2\mathcal{D}^{\lambda\mu}{}_{\rho}K_{\nu\lambda}{}^{\rho} + \mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\rho}\omega_{\nu}{}^{\lambda\rho}, \quad \mathbb{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \mathcal{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + \mathcal{S}^{\alpha}{}_{\lambda\nu}K_{\alpha}{}^{\mu\lambda},$$

$$\mathbb{B}^{\lambda\rho} = \left(\mathcal{B}^{\lambda\rho} - \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu(\lambda}K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho)}\right), \quad \mathbb{S}^{\alpha\beta} = \left(\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu[\lambda}K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho]} + \overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\mathcal{S}^{\mu\lambda\rho} + \mathcal{V}^{[\lambda\rho]}\right) \perp^{\alpha}{}_{\lambda} \perp^{\beta}{}_{\rho}.$$
(5.27)

The l.h.s. of eq. (5.26) is not manifestly covariant thought its combination must be as the r.h.s. is. This is a feature of working with variations of the embedding map.

In the absence of couplings to non-geometric fields $\mathcal{D}^{\mu} = \mathcal{C}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \mathcal{V}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = 0$, this Ward identity reduces to the Ward identity for surface reparametrisations in the pure geometric setting of section 2. However, in such case, it does not follow that $\mathbb{S}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}, \mathbb{B}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}, \mathbb{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$ and $\mathbb{N}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$ vanish. In order to recover the correct equations of motion, including the shape equation, from variations of the embedding map in the pure geometric setting, one must implement the diffeomorphism constraints (2.44)–(2.46) or equivalently (5.22) with $\mathcal{E}^{\mu\nu} = 0$. This sets $\mathbb{S}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \mathbb{B}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = \mathbb{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = 0$. Once introducing this into (5.26), we note that one of the terms involving $\mathbb{N}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$ still contributes with non-covariant terms. Since the action obeys the diffeomorphism constraints and the last two lines in (5.26) are manifestly covariant, it follows that requiring (5.26) to be covariant implies that the first line must vanish, leading to $\mathbb{N}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = 0$. This is, however, an extra requirement beyond those obtained in (5.22) and it is satisfied for all pure geometric actions that we consider. It can also be obtained by requiring the spacetime and gauge variational principles to be equivalent (see appendix B).

Ward identity for diffeomorphism invariance. We now turn to the Ward identity for diffeomorphism invariance (5.11). Using appendix A, a diffeomorphism that changes the metric and the embedding map simultaneously as in (5.1) leads to the relation

$$\delta_{\xi} \langle \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle - \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{|g|} d^{D}x \left\langle \nabla_{\mu} T_{\mathrm{b}}^{\mu\nu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \xi_{\nu} + \int_{\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|\gamma|} d^{p}\sigma \left\langle \left(B^{\mu\nu} \bot^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \nabla_{\lambda} \xi_{\mu} - \mathcal{D}_{\lambda} \xi^{\lambda} \right) \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle$$

+
$$\int_{\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|\gamma|} d^{p}\sigma \left\langle \left(\left(\mathbb{N}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \mathbb{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \mathcal{C}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \right) \partial_{\mu} \xi^{\nu} + \left(\mathcal{V}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \mathbb{B}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \mathbb{S}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \right) \Gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu\alpha} \xi^{\alpha} \right) \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle$$
(5.28)
-
$$\int_{\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|\gamma|} d^{p}\sigma \left\langle \overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\mathcal{E}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} \bot^{\nu\sigma} + \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \mathcal{V}^{\mu\nu} \bot^{\sigma}{}_{\mu} \right) \xi_{\sigma} \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle = 0.$$

This Ward identity can be turned into an unintegrated expression as in (5.12) with a specific spacetime stress tensor and displacement operator that will be given below. One may demand the action to be invariant under further local symmetries. For instance, using a gauge variational principle, as in [4], requiring invariance under rotations of the normal vectors sets $\mathbb{S}^{\mu\nu} = 0$.

Ward identity for Weyl transformations. Lastly, consider the Ward identity obtained from Weyl invariance $\delta_{\omega}g_{\mu\nu} = 2\omega g_{\mu\nu}$ with $\delta_{\omega}e^{\mu}{}_{a} = 0$ and $\delta_{\omega}n_{\mu}{}^{i} = \omega n_{\mu}{}^{i}$. The variation (5.15) becomes

$$\delta_{\omega} \langle \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle + \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^{D} x \sqrt{|g|} \langle T_{\mathrm{b}}{}^{\mu}{}_{\mu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle \omega + \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p} \sigma \sqrt{|\gamma|} \langle ((\mathcal{T}^{\mu}{}_{\mu} + \mathcal{B}^{\mu}{}_{\mu} - \mathcal{V}^{\mu}{}_{\mu}) \omega - \mathcal{D}^{\mu}{}_{\mu}{}^{\alpha} \nabla_{\alpha} \omega) \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle + \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}} d^{p-1} \widetilde{\sigma} \sqrt{|h|} \left\langle \left(\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}^{\mu}{}_{\mu} + \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}^{\mu}{}_{\mu} - \widetilde{\mathcal{V}}^{\mu}{}_{\mu} \right) \omega - \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu}{}_{\mu}{}^{\alpha} \nabla_{\alpha} \omega \right) \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle = 0, \qquad (5.29)$$

Notice that the trace $\mathcal{T}^{\mu}{}_{\mu}$ only runs over the tangential indices while the traces $\mathcal{V}^{\mu}{}_{\mu}$ and $\mathcal{B}^{\mu}{}_{\mu}$ only run over the transverse directions. An equivalent statement holds for the edge tensors. This expression can be compared to the analysis performed in [4]. Using the second identity in (5.22) and ignoring edge contributions one finds

$$\delta_{\omega} \langle \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle + \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^{D} x \sqrt{|g|} \langle T_{\mathrm{b}}{}^{\mu}{}_{\mu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle \omega + \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p} \sigma \sqrt{|\gamma|} \langle ((\mathcal{T}^{\mu}{}_{\mu} + \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho} K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} + \mathcal{E}^{\mu\nu} \perp_{\mu\nu}) \omega - \mathcal{D}^{\mu}{}_{\mu}{}^{\alpha} \nabla_{\alpha} \omega) \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle = 0,$$
(5.30)

which agrees with eq. (5.14) of [4] only if $\mathcal{E}^{\mu\nu} \perp_{\mu\nu} = -\mathcal{V}^{\mu}{}_{\mu}$, or alternatively if the constraint (2.45) is satisfied. However, this is not an a priori requirement.

5.4 Ward identities for a class of BCFT actions

We now consider a similar class of BCFTs and write explicitly the Ward identities. This case is comparatively different than the case of DCFTs. The class of BCFTs studied here is broader than that in [2], in particular, it includes couplings to arbitrary non-geometric fields. Consider the variation of a correlator under some unspecified symmetry. As previously, this variation can be written as

$$\delta \langle \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^{D} x \sqrt{|g|} \Theta(x) \left\langle T_{\rm b}^{\mu\nu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \delta g_{\mu\nu} + \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p} \sigma \sqrt{|\gamma|} \left\langle \left(-\frac{1}{2} \mathcal{T}_{\mu\nu} \,\delta_{\xi} \gamma^{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu} \,\delta_{\xi} \,\bot_{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho} \,\delta_{\xi} K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} + \mathcal{D}_{\mu} \delta X^{\mu} \right.$$
(5.31)
$$\left. + \mathcal{V}_{\mu} \delta n^{\mu} + \mathcal{C}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \delta e_{\mu}{}^{\nu} \right) \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle = 0.$$

As there is only one normal vector to the CFT boundary n^{μ} there is no spin current, contrary to (5.15). Furthermore, note the appearance of the function $\Theta(x)$ in the bulk contribution. We now consider the Ward identities associated with this class of BCFTs.

Ward identity for tangential diffeomorphisms. Under a tangential diffeomorphism that does not displace the mapping functions, the first Ward identity in (5.13) reads

$$\delta_{\xi^{||}} \langle \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle - \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{|g|} d^{D} x \Theta(x) \left\langle \nabla_{\mu} T_{\mathrm{b}}^{\mu\nu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \xi_{\nu}^{||} + \int_{\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|\gamma|} d^{p} \sigma \left(\left\langle B^{\mu\nu} \bot^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \nabla_{\lambda} \xi_{\nu}^{||} + \left\langle B^{\nu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \xi_{\nu}^{||} \right) = 0.$$
(5.32)

Contrary to the case of a DCFT, $\nabla_{\mu}T_{\rm b}^{\mu\nu}$ does not have an expansion in terms of derivatives of $\hat{\delta}(x)$, therefore, in the absence of external operators one is lead to the results obtained for an interface in section 2.4. In particular, from (5.22) we have that

$$\mathcal{B}^{\alpha\sigma} = \mathcal{D}^{\mu\lambda(\sigma}K_{\mu\lambda}{}^{\alpha)} + \mathcal{V}_{\mu}n^{\mu} \perp^{\alpha\sigma}, \quad \mathcal{V}_{\mu}\gamma^{\mu}{}_{\alpha} = 0, \qquad (5.33)$$

and from (2.74) that

$$\gamma^{\nu}{}_{\sigma}\nabla_{\mu}T^{\mu\sigma}_{b} = 0\,,\quad \gamma^{\nu}{}_{\sigma}\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda}\mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma} - \gamma^{\nu}{}_{\sigma}\Sigma^{\mu\lambda\rho}R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu\rho\lambda} = n_{\lambda}T^{\lambda\sigma}{}_{b}\gamma^{\nu}{}_{\sigma}\,,\tag{5.34}$$

with $\mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma}$ and $\Sigma^{\mu\lambda\rho}$ defined in (3.21). It is worth noting that, as in section 2.4, there may be contributions to the surface operators such as $\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu}$ due to an inflow from the bulk.

Ward identity for tangential displacements of X^{μ} . We now consider the second Ward identity in (5.13) by displacing tangentially the mapping functions. One obtains

$$\left\langle \left(\mathcal{D}^{\nu} \gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} - \left(\mathcal{C}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \mathbb{N}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \right) \Gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu\lambda} \gamma^{\lambda\sigma} - \nabla_{\lambda} \left(\mathcal{C}^{\mu\nu} - \mathbb{N}^{\mu\nu} \right) \gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} \right) \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle$$

$$= \left\langle \left(\gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} \overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \mathbb{T}^{\lambda\nu} - \gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} \Sigma^{\mu\lambda\rho} R^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho\lambda} - n_{\lambda} T^{\lambda\nu}{}_{\mathrm{b}} \gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} \right) \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle = 0,$$

$$(5.35)$$

where $\mathbb{N}^{\mu\nu}$ was given in (5.27) but now with vanishing spin current and the last equality follows due to (5.34). The quite simpler form of this Ward identity compared to a DCFT is due to the fact that the constraints (5.33) are generally valid. Furthermore note that the l.h.s. is not manifestly covariant but this is just an artefact of working with variations of the embedding map.

Ward identity for diffeomorphism invariance. Turning to the Ward identity for diffeomorphism invariance (5.11) we find

$$\delta_{\xi} \langle \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle - \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{|g|} \Theta(x) d^{D}x \left\langle \nabla_{\mu} T_{\mathrm{b}}^{\mu\nu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \xi_{\nu} - \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{|g|} d^{D}x \widehat{\delta}(x) \left\langle \left(\mathcal{D}^{\nu} \gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} - \nabla_{\lambda} (\mathcal{C}^{\mu\nu} - \mathbb{N}^{\mu\nu}) \gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} - (\mathcal{C}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \mathbb{N}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}) \Gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu\lambda} \gamma^{\lambda\sigma} \right) \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \xi_{\sigma} = 0,$$
(5.36)

which, in the absence of external operators leads to the two separate requirements

$$\left(\nabla_{\mu}T_{\rm b}^{\mu\nu}\right)\Theta(x) = 0\,,\quad \left(\mathcal{D}^{\sigma} - \nabla_{\lambda}\left(\mathcal{C}^{\mu\sigma} - \mathbb{N}^{\mu\sigma}\right) - \left(\mathcal{C}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \mathbb{N}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}\right)\Gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu\lambda}g^{\lambda\sigma}\right)\widehat{\delta}(x) = 0\,.\tag{5.37}$$

The last condition, in particular, states that the non-manifestly covariant combination of terms must vanish for arbitrary spacetime directions.

Ward identity for Weyl transformations. The Ward identity for Weyl transformations is just a simple addition of the bulk term to the Weyl transformation for codimension n = 1 surfaces studied in section 4.5. It reads

$$\delta_{\omega} \langle \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle + \int_{\mathcal{M}} d^{D} x \sqrt{|g|} \Theta(x) \langle T_{\mathrm{b}}{}^{\mu}{}_{\mu} \omega \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle + \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p} \sigma \sqrt{|\gamma|} \langle \left(\left(\mathcal{T}^{\mu}{}_{\mu} + \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho} K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} \right) \omega - \mathcal{D}^{\mu}{}_{\mu}{}^{\alpha} \nabla_{\alpha} \omega \right) \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle = 0, \qquad (5.38)$$

where we have used (5.33).

5.5 Spacetime stress tensor and displacement operator

From the variational principle (5.15), one can easily extract the spacetime stress tensor and the displacement operator by making use of the delta function $\hat{\delta}(x)$. In particular we obtain the stress tensor for the bulk and defect⁴³

$$\boldsymbol{T}^{\mu\nu} = T^{\mu\nu}_{\rm b} + \left[\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu} + 2\,\mathcal{P}^{\lambda}{}_{\rho}\,\bot^{\rho(\mu}\,\gamma_{\lambda}{}^{\nu)} + \mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu} - \bot^{(\mu}{}_{\lambda}\mathcal{V}^{\nu)\lambda} - 2\gamma^{\lambda(\mu}\mathcal{V}^{\nu)}{}_{\lambda} \right] \widehat{\delta}(x) - \nabla_{\rho} \left[\left(2\mathcal{D}^{\rho(\mu\nu)} - \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\rho} + 2\mathcal{S}^{(\mu\nu)\rho} \right) \widehat{\delta}(x) \right].$$
(5.39)

In turn, for a BCFT, the stress tensor on the boundary is (3.35). This provides a formal derivation of the contact terms in the stress tensor for a DCFT that was in general lacking in the literature.

The displacement operator can be derived by making an arbitrary variation of the embedding map. In general, there will be tangential derivatives of the variation of the embedding map but these can always be integrated out. Performing this variation leads to the displacement operator

$$\mathbf{D}^{\sigma} = \left[\left(\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \mathbb{T}^{\lambda \sigma} - \Sigma^{\mu \lambda \rho} R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu \rho \lambda} \right) - \overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\mathcal{E}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} \perp^{\nu \sigma} + \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \mathcal{V}^{\mu \nu} \perp^{\sigma}{}_{\mu} \right) - \left(\mathcal{D}^{\sigma} + g^{\alpha \sigma} \left(\mathbb{S}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + \mathbb{B}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + \mathbb{N}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \mathbb{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \mathcal{C}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \mathcal{V}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \right) \Gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu \alpha} \right) - \left(\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\mathbb{N}^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} - \mathbb{P}^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} - \mathcal{C}^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \right) g^{\sigma \nu} \right) \right] \widehat{\delta}(x) , \qquad (5.40)$$

while for a BCFT, the displacement operator takes a simpler form

$$\mathbf{D}^{\sigma} = \left[\left(\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \mathbb{T}^{\lambda \sigma} - \Sigma^{\mu \lambda \rho} R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu \rho \lambda} - n_{\lambda} T_{\mathrm{b}}^{\lambda \sigma} \right) - \left(\mathcal{D}^{\sigma} - \nabla_{\lambda} \left(\mathcal{C}^{\mu \sigma} - \mathbb{N}^{\mu \sigma} \right) - \left(\mathcal{C}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \mathbb{N}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \right) \Gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu \lambda} g^{\lambda \sigma} \right) \right] \widehat{\delta}(x) .$$
(5.41)

The form of the stress tensor and displacement operator provided here satisfy the Ward identity (5.12), given the constraints (5.22).

⁴³For the special case $\mathbb{S}^{\mu\nu} = \mathbb{B}^{\mu\nu} = \mathbb{P}^{\mu\nu} = 0$, this stress tensor is different than the ad-hoc stress tensor introduced in eq. (5.21) of [4]. In particular the authors of [4] missed the dipole contribution $2\mathcal{S}^{(\mu\nu)\rho}$ in (5.39). In turn, this lead them to postulate a Ward identity in the form of eq. (5.22) of [4] which is not generally valid neither physically meaningful.

6 Discussion

In this paper we have introduced a new type of variational principle for (entangling) surfaces, interfaces and BCFTs/DCFTs. This variational principle is based on Carter's spacetime formulation of surface actions and the concept of Lagrangian variations [7, 14, 50], for which the background coordinates are displaced but the embedding map is kept fixed, as in the case of (entangling) surfaces. In the case of actions for BCFTs/DCFTs, it is required to consider both Lagrangian variations and variations of the embedding map simultaneously, since one wishes to couple defects/boundaries to CFTs regardless of their shape. This led us to extend the variational calculus within this spacetime formulation in two different directions: on the one hand, we give explicit variational formulae for Lagrangian variations of many geometric structures of interest while on the other, we provide variational formulae for variations are always manifestly spacetime covariant and only require defining geometric tensors on a single surface, rather than working with a foliation of such surfaces, even if just in a local neighbourhood.

The variational principle introduced here encompasses all diffeomorphism constraints on surface/interface actions, as show in section 2.2, in particular eqs. (2.44)-(2.49) and eqs. (2.62)-(2.63). One of these constraints is the shape equation itself, describing the non-trivial dynamics of these surfaces. Others include a component of tangential diffeomorphism invariance (2.48) and invariance under local rotations of the transverse background coordinates (2.44).⁴⁵ An additional set of constraints (eqs. (2.45)-(2.46)) describes the relations between certain components of the spacetime stress tensor associated with a given surface/interface, while others (eq. (B.22)) are related to invariance under local Lorentz transformations on the surface and other local transformations. This last set of constraints is not captured within a gauge formulation of the variational principle, as show in appendix B. A subset of these constraints allows to explicitly relate this spacetime formulation of the action with the multipole expansion of the stress tensor introduced in [58].

These diffeomorphism constraints impose restrictions on the type of terms that can contribute to surface actions. The naive expectation that, analogous to spacetime actions, contractions of tensor fields yield covariant scalars does not hold in the case of surface actions, as the diffeomorphism constraints impose stronger restrictions. These restrictions become intrinsically more complex when the surface has edges, such as in the case of an open string worldsheet with a point-particle attached to both its ends. Based on an enumeration of response coefficients, we analysed a two-derivative action with non-trivial edges in section 4. It was seen that requiring such action to be diffeomorphism invariant for all shape configurations (i.e. without imposing ad-hoc edge conditions that restrict the edge dynamics) imposed relations between surface and edge response coefficients. In particular, if the surface has edges then an arbitrary combination of extrinsic curvature invariants is

 $^{^{44}}$ As far as we are aware, variations of the embedding map within this spacetime formulation had not been carried out earlier.

 $^{^{45}}$ In a gauge formulation of the variational principle these two correspond to surface reparametrisation invariance and invariance under infinitesimal rotations of the normal vectors (see appendix B). However, we have not investigated whether this statement also holds when taking into account non-trivial edges.

not allowed. Diffeomorphism invariance at the edges requires that a particular combination of extrinsic curvatures to be equal to the intrinsic Ricci scalar plus a tangential contraction with the background Riemann tensor. In turn, these considerations implied that the presence of edges restricts considerably possible conformal anomalies for two-dimensional submanifolds, as seen in section 4.5. It would be interesting to investigate whether these constraints also impose any restrictions on actions in the context of renormalised entanglement entropy [68].

Analogous to classification procedures inspired by effective field theory methods employed in the context of hydrodynamics to constraint constitutive relations, it was shown that similar classification procedures can be employed to constraint the stress tensor of (entangling) surfaces at a given order in derivatives. This leads to non-trivial constraints among the response coefficients and the coefficients appearing in the surface/edge stress tensor. It would be interesting to extend this work by including couplings to background Killing vectors and worldvolume Killing vector fields. This direction has been pursued to a certain extent in e.g. [11, 59, 62] but in light of this new variational principle it would be interesting to revisit these constructions and to push them to higher levels of generality, such as including arbitrary couplings to derivatives of the Killing vector fields.

In the context of BCFTs/DCFTs, this new variational principle leads to several constraints among the bulk stress tensor and the spacetime surface/edge stress tensor as shown in section 5. Some of these constraints had been previously overlooked in the literature (see eq. (5.22)). A formal derivation of the contact terms in the spacetime stress tensor and a formal derivation of the displacement operator in curved spacetimes was given. Ad-hoc constructions of this spacetime stress tensor were present in earlier literature and turn out not to be fully correct. Partly, the reason for this supervenes on the usage of a gauge formulation of the variational principle. While this form is more suitable to deal with variations of intrinsic quantities, it is less suitable to deal with the variations of background quantities and the existence of a bulk, for which a split between normal and tangential components is meaningless unless a foliation of surfaces is introduced. The correct form of the spacetime stress tensor and displacement operator can now be used to evaluate correlation functions in a broad class of BCFT/DCFT actions and to constrain CFT data as in [4].

The main purpose of this work was to develop a spacetime framework to deal with a broad range of systems, however, we have only dealt with actions or vacuum energy functionals that can be treated as functionals of geometric fields only, namely, $g_{\mu\nu}(x)$, $X^{\mu}(\sigma)$ and $\tilde{X}^{\mu}(\sigma)$. It would be interesting to apply the same methods to actions that are functionals of other background fields such as vector fields, gauge fields and scalar fields. This extension is pertinent in the context of black holes and the coupling of probe branes to supergravity [49] as well as in the context of entangling surfaces in theories with gauge or scalar fields (see e.g. [69, 70]). The existence of symmetries, such as gauge symmetries, will impose further restrictions on the type of couplings that can appear on surface actions. Furthermore, we have stream-lined a method for obtaining the surface diffeomorphism constraints in full generality for an arbitrary number of derivatives in terms of frame-invariant tensors in appendix B. It would be interesting to obtain these constraints explicitly at higher orders following this procedure. We plan on addressing some of these problems in future work.

Acknowledgments

Part of this work was based on the course *Effective theories for the dynamics of interfaces: from biophysical membranes to black holes* given at KUL in February 2017 by JA. JA would like to thank Thomas Van Riet for the invitation as well as the students that participated in the course for their critical questions. We would like to thank Tatsuo Azeyanagi, Matthias Blau, Joan Camps and Jemal Guven for useful discussions and we thank Joan Camps and Niels Obers for comments on a earlier draft of this manuscript. We also thank Bjarke T. Nielsen for checking some of the equations in this paper. The work of JA is supported by the ERC Starting Grant 335146 HoloBHC. JA would like to thank Geoffrey Compère for his support. JT is supported by the Advanced ARC project "Holography, Gauge Theories and Quantum Gravity" and by the Belgian Fonds National de la Recherche Scientifique FNRS (convention IISN 4.4503.15).

A Variational calculus for submanifolds

In this appendix we review the variational calculus of submanifolds. We focus on Lagrangian variations that were studied in some detail in [7, 14] and we generalise it to several geometric structures. The variations of the same geometric quantities under changes of the embedding map is also given and, as far as we aware, it is the first time that they are properly addressed in a spacetime formulation. Furthermore, we also present the transformation properties of many geometric structures under Weyl rescalings.

A.1 Lagrangian variations

For a given submanifold for which one has chosen the adapted frame where the background metric evaluated at the submanifold can be written as $g_{\mu\nu} = \gamma_{\mu\nu} + \perp_{\mu\nu}$, the tangent and normal vectors obey the conditions⁴⁶

$$e^{\mu a}e_{\mu}{}^{b} = \gamma^{ab}, \quad n^{\mu i}n_{\mu}{}^{j} = \delta^{ij}, \quad e^{\mu}{}_{a}n_{\mu}{}^{i} = 0.$$
 (A.1)

When performing a variation such that the tangent and normal vectors change according to

$$e^{\mu}{}_{a} \to \widehat{e}^{\mu}{}_{a} = e^{\mu}{}_{a} + \delta e^{\mu}{}_{a}, \quad n^{\mu}{}_{i} \to \widehat{n}^{\mu}{}_{i} = n^{\mu}{}_{i} + \delta n^{\mu}{}_{i}, \qquad (A.2)$$

the new tangent and normal vectors \hat{e}^{μ}_{a} and \hat{n}^{μ}_{i} must continue to obey (A.1). For a general variation where the background metric may also vary, one obtains from (A.1) the relations

$$\delta n^{\mu i} n_{\mu i} = -\frac{1}{2} n^{\mu i} n^{\nu}{}_{i} \delta g_{\mu\nu} , \quad \delta n^{\mu i} e_{\mu a} = -n^{\mu i} e^{\nu}{}_{a} \delta g_{\mu\nu} - n_{\mu}{}^{i} \delta e^{\mu}{}_{a} , \qquad (A.3)$$

and hence in general one finds

$$\delta n^{\mu i} = -\frac{1}{2} \perp^{\mu \lambda} n^{\rho i} \delta g_{\lambda \rho} + \omega^{i}{}_{j} n^{\mu j} - \left(n^{\lambda i} e^{\nu}{}_{a} \delta g_{\lambda \nu} + n_{\lambda}{}^{i} \delta e^{\lambda}{}_{a} \right) e^{\mu a} ,$$

$$\delta n_{\mu}{}^{i} = \frac{1}{2} \perp^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} n^{\rho i} \delta g_{\lambda \rho} + \omega^{i}{}_{j} n_{\mu}{}^{j} - n_{\lambda}{}^{i} e_{\mu}{}^{a} \delta e^{\lambda}{}_{a} ,$$
(A.4)

⁴⁶One may also work with a time-like transverse space by replacing $\delta^{ij} \rightarrow \eta^{ij}$. See footnote 7.

for some anti-symmetric matrix ω_j^i in O(n). The term $\omega_j^i n^{\mu j}$ expresses the freedom of rotating the normal vectors and still satisfying (A.1).

We now focus on a specific class of variations, which we refer to as Lagrangian variations and denote by δ_{ξ} . In this case, $\delta_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu} = 2\nabla_{(\mu}\xi_{\nu)}$, $\omega^{i}{}_{j} = 0$ and the embedding functions remain fixed $\delta_{\xi}X^{\mu} = 0$ so that $\delta_{\xi}e^{\mu}{}_{a} = 0$. Using the fact that

$$\delta_{\xi}\gamma_{ab} = e^{\mu}{}_{a}e^{\mu}{}_{b}\delta_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu} , \quad \delta_{\xi}\gamma^{ab} = -\gamma^{ac}\gamma^{db}\delta_{\xi}\gamma_{cd} , \qquad (A.5)$$

one obtains the variational formulae

$$\delta_{\xi}\gamma^{\mu\nu} = -\gamma^{\mu\lambda}\gamma^{\nu\rho}\delta_{\xi}g_{\lambda\rho}, \quad \delta_{\xi}\perp_{\mu\nu} = \perp^{\lambda}{}_{\mu}\perp^{\rho}{}_{\nu}\delta_{\xi}g_{\lambda\rho}, \quad \delta_{\xi}\perp^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = -\gamma^{\mu\lambda}\perp^{\rho}{}_{\nu}\delta_{\xi}g_{\lambda\rho}, \quad (A.6)$$

and also $\delta_{\xi}\gamma^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = -\delta_{\xi}\perp^{\mu}{}_{\nu}$. The metric variations (A.6) form a complete set of Lagrangian variations of $g_{\mu\nu}$ as they account for the different tangential and orthogonal projections of $\delta_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu}$. For completeness, we also have that

$$\delta_{\xi}\gamma_{\mu\nu} = -\gamma_{\alpha\mu}\gamma_{\beta\nu}\delta_{\xi}\gamma^{\alpha\beta} - 2\gamma_{\lambda(\mu}\perp_{\nu)}{}^{\rho}\delta_{\xi}\perp^{\lambda}{}_{\rho},$$

$$\delta_{\xi}\perp^{\mu\nu} = -\perp^{\mu\alpha}\perp^{\nu\rho}\delta_{\xi}\perp_{\alpha\rho} + 2\perp^{\lambda(\mu}\gamma^{\nu)}{}_{\alpha}\delta_{\xi}\perp^{\alpha}{}_{\lambda}.$$
(A.7)

Given this, one may now evaluate the variations of the extrinsic curvature, leading to

$$\delta_{\xi}K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} = \left[2 \bot^{\lambda}{}_{\mu}K_{\nu}{}^{\alpha\rho} - \gamma^{\lambda\rho}K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\alpha}\right]\delta_{\xi}g_{\lambda\alpha} + \bot^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}\gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu}\gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\nu}\delta_{\xi}\Gamma^{\sigma}_{\lambda\alpha}, \qquad (A.8)$$

where

$$\delta_{\xi}\Gamma^{\sigma}_{\mu\alpha} = \frac{1}{2}g^{\sigma\nu}\left(\nabla_{\alpha}\delta_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu} + \nabla_{\mu}\delta_{\xi}g_{\alpha\nu} - \nabla_{\nu}\delta_{\xi}g_{\mu\alpha}\right) = \nabla_{(\mu}\nabla_{\alpha)}\xi^{\sigma} - R^{\sigma}{}_{(\mu\alpha)\rho}\xi^{\rho}.$$
(A.9)

The Lagrangian variation of the normal vectors is also of interest. Using (A.4), we find that

$$\delta_{\xi} n^{\mu}{}_{i} = -n^{\rho}{}_{i} \nabla_{\rho} \xi^{\mu} - n^{\rho}{}_{i} \gamma^{\mu\lambda} \nabla_{\lambda} \xi_{\rho} - n^{[\rho}{}_{i} \perp^{\lambda]\mu} \nabla_{\lambda} \xi_{\rho} \,. \tag{A.10}$$

In turn, for the external rotation tensor we obtain

$$\delta_{\xi}\omega_{\mu}{}^{\nu\rho} = \left[2\omega_{\mu}{}^{\alpha[\nu}\gamma^{\rho]\lambda} + \pm^{\lambda}{}_{\mu}\omega^{\alpha\nu\rho} + \omega_{\mu}{}^{\alpha[\nu}\pm^{\rho]\lambda} - K_{\mu}{}^{\lambda[\nu}\pm^{\rho]\alpha}\right]\delta_{\xi}g_{\lambda\alpha} + \pm^{[\nu}{}_{\sigma}\pm^{\rho]\alpha}\gamma^{\kappa}{}_{\mu}\delta_{\xi}\Gamma^{\sigma}_{\kappa\alpha}.$$
(A.11)

It is useful to write down the contractions

$$\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho}\delta_{\xi}K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} = \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho}\delta_{\xi}\Gamma^{\rho}_{\mu\nu},$$

$$\mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\nu\rho}\delta_{\xi}\omega_{\mu}{}^{\nu\rho} = \mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\lambda}{}^{\sigma}\omega_{\mu}{}^{\alpha\nu}\delta_{\xi} \perp_{\sigma\alpha} + \mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\lambda}{}^{\sigma}K_{\mu\alpha}{}^{\lambda}\delta_{\xi} \perp_{\sigma}{}^{\alpha} + \mathcal{S}^{\mu\lambda\rho}\left(R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu\lambda\rho}\xi_{\sigma} + \overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\nabla_{\rho}\xi_{\lambda}\right),$$
(A.12)

and to define the variation $\widetilde{\delta}_{\xi}$

$$\mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\nu\rho}\widetilde{\delta}_{\xi}\omega_{\mu}{}^{\nu\rho} = \mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\nu\rho}\delta_{\xi}\omega_{\mu}{}^{\nu\rho} - \mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\lambda}{}^{\sigma}\omega_{\mu}{}^{\alpha\lambda}\delta_{\xi} \perp_{\sigma\alpha} - \mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\lambda}{}^{\sigma}K_{\mu\alpha}{}^{\lambda}\delta_{\xi} \perp_{\sigma}^{\alpha} = \mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}{}^{\rho}\delta_{\xi}\Gamma^{\nu}_{\mu\rho}, \quad (A.13)$$

where we have extracted the transverse components of the metric variations from the variation of the external rotation tensor. The reason for this, is that the transverse components of the metric variations are included in the definitions of $\mathcal{P}^{\mu\nu}$ and $\mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu}$ in (2.35). In order to consider variations of the intrinsic Riemann tensor, it is useful to obtain the variation of the internal rotation tensor, which reads

$$\delta_{\xi}\rho_{\mu}{}^{\nu}{}_{\rho} = \left(\gamma^{\nu\alpha}\gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\rho}K_{\mu\sigma}{}^{\beta} + \rho_{\mu}{}^{\nu\alpha}\bot^{\beta}{}_{\rho} + \bot^{\beta}{}_{\mu}\rho^{\alpha\nu}{}_{\rho}\right)\delta_{\xi}g_{\alpha\beta} + \gamma^{\nu}{}_{\sigma}\gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\rho}\gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\mu}\delta_{\xi}\Gamma^{\sigma}_{\alpha\lambda}.$$
(A.14)

As for the variation of the external rotation tensor, we define the variation

$$\tilde{\delta}_{\xi}\rho_{\mu}{}^{\nu}{}_{\rho} = \gamma^{\nu}{}_{\sigma}\gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\rho}\gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\mu}\delta_{\xi}\Gamma^{\sigma}_{\alpha\lambda}\,,\tag{A.15}$$

where we have stripped away the transverse components of the metric variations. Since the variation of the intrinsic rotation tensor is purely tangential, the effect on the spacetime stress tensor is to add dipole terms that can be removed by a choice of frame. It is also useful to consider the variation of the background Riemann tensor, Ricci tensor and Ricci scalar

$$\delta_{\xi}R^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\nu\rho} = \nabla_{\nu}\delta_{\xi}\Gamma^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\rho} - \nabla_{\rho}\delta_{\xi}\Gamma^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\nu}, \quad \delta_{\xi}R_{\mu\nu} = \nabla_{\lambda}\delta_{\xi}\Gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\nu}\delta_{\xi}\Gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu\lambda}, \delta_{\xi}R = \nabla_{\mu}\left(g^{\nu\lambda}\delta_{\xi}\Gamma^{\mu}{}_{\nu\lambda}\right) - \nabla^{\mu}\delta_{\xi}\Gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu\lambda} - R^{\mu\nu}\delta g_{\mu\nu}.$$
(A.16)

The Lagrangian variations of the intrinsic Riemann tensor are also of interest. A lengthy calculation reveals that

$$\delta_{\xi} \mathcal{R}^{\mu}{}_{\nu\kappa\lambda} = 2\gamma^{\mu}{}_{\sigma}\gamma^{\tau}{}_{\nu}\gamma^{\pi}{}_{[\lambda}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa]}\delta_{\xi}\rho_{\pi}{}^{\sigma}{}_{\tau} + (\delta\gamma^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \text{ terms}) , \qquad (A.17)$$

for which the last terms can be removed, since they are already included in the transverse monopole components of the stress tensor. Using the variation (A.14) into (A.17) we remove the additional transverse components of the metric variations but keep the tangential components of the metric variations. Therefore, we define the independent variation

$$\widetilde{\delta}_{\xi} \mathcal{R}^{\mu}{}_{\nu\kappa\lambda} = 2\gamma^{\mu\alpha} K_{\nu[\kappa}{}^{\rho} K_{\lambda]}{}^{\beta}{}_{\rho} \delta_{\xi} g_{\alpha\beta} + 2\gamma^{\mu\alpha} K_{\nu[\lambda}{}^{\beta} \overline{\nabla}_{\kappa]} \delta_{\xi} g_{\alpha\beta} + 2\gamma^{\mu}{}_{\sigma} \gamma^{\tau}{}_{\nu} \gamma^{\pi}{}_{[\lambda} \overline{\nabla}_{\kappa]} \left(\gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\alpha} \gamma^{\rho}{}_{\tau} \gamma^{\beta}{}_{\pi} \delta_{\xi} \Gamma^{\alpha}_{\beta\rho}\right) .$$
(A.18)

In the core of this paper we the definition of $\mathcal{T}_{\mu\nu}$ as the tangential components of the monopole part of the stress tensor coincided with that which is obtained by direct variation with respect to $\gamma^{\mu\nu}$. However, the variation of the intrinsic Riemann tensor gives new contributions to these tangential components. It is convenient to keep the definition of $\mathcal{T}_{\mu\nu}$ as that which is obtained by direct variation. Therefore, additional tangential components will appear in the spacetime stress tensor, as it will be seen in appendix B.

Similarly, it is also useful to consider Lagrangian variations of the outer curvature, which take the form

$$\delta_{\xi}\Omega^{\mu}{}_{\nu\kappa\lambda} = 2 \bot^{\mu}{}_{\sigma} \bot^{\tau}{}_{\nu}\gamma^{\pi}{}_{[\lambda}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa]}\delta_{\xi}\omega_{\pi}{}^{\sigma}{}_{\tau} + (\delta\gamma^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \text{ terms}) + (\delta\bot^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \text{ terms}) .$$
(A.19)

Removing the transverse components of the metric variations and using (A.11), the shifted variation takes form

$$\widetilde{\delta}_{\xi}\Omega^{\mu}{}_{\nu\kappa\lambda} = 2 \bot^{\mu}{}_{\sigma} \bot_{\tau\nu} K_{[\lambda}{}^{\beta[\sigma}K_{\kappa]}{}^{|\alpha|\tau]}\delta_{\xi}g_{\alpha\beta} - 2 \bot^{\alpha}{}_{\rho}K_{[\lambda}{}^{\beta[\mu}\bot^{\rho]}{}_{|\nu|}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa]}\delta_{\xi}g_{\alpha\beta} + 2 \bot^{\mu}{}_{\sigma} \bot_{\tau\nu} \gamma^{\pi}{}_{[\lambda}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa]} \left(\bot^{[\sigma}{}_{\beta} \bot^{\tau]\alpha} \gamma^{\theta}{}_{\pi}\delta_{\xi}\Gamma^{\beta}_{\theta\alpha}\right).$$
(A.20)

Analogously to variations of the intrinsic Riemann tensor, variations of the outer curvature will also induce new contributions to the tangential components of the monopole part of the stress tensor.

Finally, we note that variations of the edge geometry take the same form as for the surface geometry but with the surface projectors and tensor structures replaced by the edge projectors and tensor structures.

A.2 Variations of the embedding map

In order to obtain the equations of motion for a given surface action, one may perform an infinitesimal variation of the embedding map according to

$$X^{\mu}(\sigma) \to X^{\mu}(\sigma) - \xi^{\mu}(\sigma),$$
 (A.21)

though in general it will not lead to manifestly covariant variations. Under this transformation the background metric evaluated at the surface $g_{\mu\nu}(X)$ and the tangent vectors vary as

$$\delta_X g_{\mu\nu} = -\xi^{\alpha} \partial_{\alpha} g_{\mu\nu} \,, \quad \delta_X e^{\mu}{}_a = -\partial_a \xi^{\mu} \,, \tag{A.22}$$

and $\omega_{ij} = 0$ in (A.4). It is easier to work with a gauge formulation to calculate these variations and then transcribe them into a spacetime formulation. Under an arbitrary variation of the induced metric one finds

$$\delta\gamma_{ab} = e^{\mu}{}_{a}e^{\nu}{}_{b}\delta g_{\mu\nu} + 2e_{\mu(a}\delta e^{\mu}{}_{b)}, \qquad (A.23)$$

and, hence, specialising to variations of the embedding map (A.22) one gets

$$\delta_X \gamma_{ab} = -2e^{\mu}{}_a e^{\nu}{}_b \nabla_{(\mu} \xi_{\nu)} , \quad \delta_X \gamma^{\mu\nu} = 2\gamma^{\mu\lambda} \gamma^{\nu\rho} \nabla_{(\lambda} \xi_{\rho)} + 2e^{a(\mu} \delta_X e^{\nu)}{}_a . \tag{A.24}$$

Clearly, for a diffeomorphism for which the mapping functions are allowed to vary one finds, using (A.5), that $\delta_{\xi}\gamma_{ab} + \delta_X\gamma_{ab} = 0$. In turn, for variations of the normal vectors we find

$$\delta_X n^{\mu}{}_i = n^{\rho}{}_i \nabla_{\rho} \xi^{\mu} + n_{\lambda i} \gamma^{\mu \alpha} \nabla_{\alpha} \xi^{\lambda} - n^{\rho}{}_i \partial_{\rho} \xi^{\mu} - \widehat{\omega}_{ij} n^{\mu j} , \qquad (A.25)$$

where $\widehat{\omega}_j{}^i$ is the anti-symmetric matrix $\widehat{\omega}_j{}^i = n^{\mu i} n^{\alpha}{}_j \xi^{\lambda} \partial_{[\alpha} g_{\mu]\lambda}$. Using the corresponding Lagrangian variation (A.10), one obtains

$$\delta_{\xi} n^{\mu}{}_{i} + \delta_{X} n^{\mu}{}_{i} = -n^{\rho}{}_{i} \partial_{\rho} \xi^{\mu} + \dot{\omega}_{ij} n^{\mu j} , \qquad (A.26)$$

for the anti-symmetric matrix $\dot{\omega}_j{}^i = n^{\alpha}{}_j n_{[\mu}{}^i \partial_{\alpha]} \xi^{\mu}$. Therefore, under diffeomorphisms that also displace the embedding map, the normal vectors $n^{\mu}{}_i$ transform as vectors, up to a transverse rotation.⁴⁷

For the extrinsic curvature we first introduce its alternative definition

$$K_{ab}{}^{\rho} = e^{\mu}{}_{a}e^{\nu}{}_{b}K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} = \mathfrak{D}_{a}e^{\rho}{}_{b}, \qquad (A.27)$$

⁴⁷For completeness, one also has that $\delta_X n_{\mu}{}^i = g_{\mu\nu} \delta_X n^{\nu i} - n^{\nu i} \xi^{\alpha} \partial_{\alpha} g_{\mu\nu}$ and that $\delta_X e_{\mu}{}^a = g_{\mu\nu} \delta_X e^{\nu a} - e^{\nu a} \xi^{\alpha} g_{\mu\nu}$.

where \mathfrak{D}_a is the covariant derivative compatible with both metrics $g_{\mu\nu}$ and γ_{ab} and acts on all indices μ, a, i . The action of this covariant derivative is better expressed via the Weingarten decomposition

$$\mathfrak{D}_{a}e^{\rho}{}_{b} = \partial_{a}e^{\mu}{}_{b} - \gamma^{c}{}_{ab}e^{\mu}{}_{c} + \Gamma^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\alpha}e^{\lambda}{}_{a}e^{\alpha}{}_{b} = n^{\mu}{}_{i}K_{ab}{}^{i},$$

$$\mathfrak{D}_{a}n^{\mu}{}_{i} = \partial_{a}n^{\mu}{}_{i} + \Gamma^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\alpha}e^{\lambda}{}_{a}n^{\alpha}{}_{i} + \omega_{ai}{}^{j}n^{\mu}{}_{j} = -e^{\mu b}K_{abi},$$
(A.28)

where γ_{ab}^c is the Christoffel connection built from γ_{ab} . The external rotation tensor has been expressed as $\omega_{ai}{}^j = e^{\mu}{}_a n_{\lambda i} n_{\rho}{}^j \omega_{\mu}{}^{\lambda \rho}$. Using this, we find that for a general variation of the extrinsic curvature one gets

$$\delta K_{ab}{}^{i} = n_{\mu}{}^{i}\mathfrak{D}_{(a}\delta e^{\mu}{}_{b)} + n_{\mu}{}^{i}e^{\lambda}{}_{a}e^{\alpha}{}_{b}\delta\Gamma^{\mu}_{\lambda\alpha} + n_{\mu}{}^{i}\delta e^{\lambda}{}_{(a}e^{\alpha}{}_{b)}\Gamma^{\mu}_{\lambda\alpha} + n^{\mu}{}_{j}K_{ab}{}^{j}\delta n_{\mu}{}^{i}.$$
(A.29)

Hence, under a variation of the embedding map one obtains

$$\delta_X K_{ab}{}^i = -n_\mu{}^i \mathfrak{D}_{(a} \mathfrak{D}_{b)} \xi^\mu + n_\mu{}^i \xi^\lambda e^\alpha{}_{(a} e^\sigma{}_{b)} R^\mu{}_{\alpha\sigma\lambda} + K_{ab}{}^j \widehat{\omega}_j{}^i, \qquad (A.30)$$

where, in deriving this, we have used that $\delta_X \Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\lambda} = -\xi^{\alpha} \partial_{\alpha} \Gamma^{\mu}_{\nu\lambda}$. One may also evaluate $\delta_{\xi} K_{ab}{}^i$ which leads to the result $\delta_{\xi} K_{ab}{}^i + \delta_X K_{ab}{}^i = K_{ab}{}^j \dot{\omega}{}^i{}_j$. This means that under diffeomorphisms for which the mapping functions are allowed to vary we find that the extrinsic curvature $K_{ab}{}^i$ is invariant up to a normal rotation. Converting the result (A.30) into a spacetime formulation one obtains

$$\delta_X K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} = -\gamma_{\mu}{}^{\sigma}\gamma_{\nu}{}^{\alpha} \bot^{\rho}{}_{\beta} \nabla_{(\alpha} \nabla_{\sigma)} \xi^{\beta} - \bot^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\alpha} \nabla_{\alpha} \xi^{\sigma} + \bot^{\rho}{}_{\beta} \gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\mu} \gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} R^{\beta}{}_{(\alpha\sigma)\lambda} \xi^{\lambda} + K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\lambda} \widehat{\omega}_{\lambda}{}^{\rho} + K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\lambda} n_{\lambda}{}^{i} \delta_X n^{\rho}{}_{i} + 2K_{\lambda(\mu}{}^{\rho} e^{\lambda}{}_{b} \delta_X e_{\nu)}{}^{b}.$$
(A.31)

Using the Lagrangian variation in (A.12) one finds that

$$\delta_{\xi}K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} + \delta_X K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} = -\pm^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\alpha}\nabla_{\alpha}\xi^{\sigma} + K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\lambda}\widehat{\omega}_{\lambda}{}^{\rho} + K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\lambda}n_{\lambda}{}^{i}\delta_X n^{\rho}{}_{i} + 2K_{\lambda(\mu}{}^{\rho}e^{\lambda}{}_{b}\delta_X e_{\nu)}{}^{b},$$
(A.32)

where we have ignored terms that vanish when contracted with $\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho}$. The second term in this variation leads to the invariance of the action under rotations of the normal vectors, contributing to (2.44), as in the gauge formulation of the variational principle where $\delta_{\xi}K_{ab}{}^{i} + \delta_{X}K_{ab}{}^{i} = K_{ab}{}^{j}\dot{\omega}{}^{i}{}_{j}$. The other three terms in the variation mark the departure between the spacetime and the gauge version of the variational principle. In particular, it implies that spacetime variations carry more information than the corresponding gauge variations. The last two terms, in fact, will contribute to new constraints as shown in appendix B.3. The first term is responsible for the diffeomorphism constraints (2.44)–(2.46).

By the same token, we consider a general variation of the external rotation tensor

$$\delta\omega_a{}^{ij} = n_\mu{}^{[i}\mathfrak{D}_a\delta n^{i]\mu} + n_\mu{}^{[i}n^{j]\nu}\Gamma^\mu_{\lambda\nu}\delta e^\lambda{}_a + n_\mu{}^{[i}n^{j]\nu}e^\lambda{}_a\delta\Gamma^\mu_{\lambda\nu} + e^{\mu b}K_{ab}{}^{[i}\delta n_\mu{}^{j]}, \qquad (A.33)$$

which, when specialised to variations of the embedding map leads to

$$\delta_X \omega_a{}^{ij} = 2K_a{}^{b[i}n^{j]}{}_{\rho}\mathfrak{D}_b\xi^{\rho} + n_{\mu}{}^{[i}n^{j]\nu}\xi^{\lambda}e^{\alpha}{}_aR^{\mu}{}_{\nu\alpha\lambda} + \mathfrak{D}_a\widehat{\omega}{}^{ij}.$$
(A.34)

Evaluating the corresponding Lagrangian variation one finds $\delta_{\xi}\omega_a{}^{ij} + \delta_X\omega_a{}^{ij} = \mathfrak{D}_a\dot{\omega}{}^{ij}$, while translating the variation into the spacetime formulation and using the shifted variation (A.13) one obtains

$$\widetilde{\delta}_{X}\omega_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\rho} = 2K_{\mu}{}^{\nu[\lambda} \bot^{\rho]}{}_{\sigma}\nabla_{\nu}\xi^{\sigma} - \gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\mu}\bot^{\rho}{}_{\sigma} \bot^{\nu\lambda} R^{\sigma}{}_{\nu\alpha\beta}\xi^{\beta} + \bot^{\lambda}{}_{\alpha}\bot^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\widehat{\omega}^{\alpha\sigma} + \omega_{\nu}{}^{\lambda\rho}e^{\nu}{}_{a}\delta_{X}e_{\mu}{}^{a} + K_{\mu}{}^{\nu[\lambda}\bot^{\rho]}{}_{\alpha}e_{\nu}{}^{a}\delta_{X}e^{\alpha}{}_{a}.$$
(A.35)

Given this and (A.12) one can compute the total variation under a diffeomorphism that shifts the embedding map

$$\widetilde{\delta}_{\xi}\omega_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\rho} + \widetilde{\delta}_{X}\omega_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\rho} = \gamma_{\mu}{}^{\alpha} \perp^{\sigma[\lambda} \perp^{\rho]\tau} \nabla_{\alpha}\nabla_{\tau}\xi_{\sigma} + 2K_{\mu}{}^{\nu[\lambda} \perp^{\rho]}{}_{\sigma}\nabla_{\nu}\xi^{\sigma} + \perp^{\lambda}{}_{\alpha} \perp^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\widehat{\omega}{}^{\alpha\sigma} + \omega_{\nu}{}^{\lambda\rho}e^{\nu}{}_{a}\delta_{X}e_{\mu}{}^{a} + K_{\mu}{}^{\nu[\lambda} \perp^{\rho]}{}_{\alpha}e_{\nu}{}^{a}\delta_{X}e^{\alpha}{}_{a},$$
(A.36)

where we have used that $n^{\mu}{}_{j}\delta_{X}n_{\mu i}$ is symmetric in the indices i, j since under a variation of the embedding map $\omega_{ij} = 0$ in (A.4). Again, we clearly see that the spacetime version of these variations carries more information than the corresponding gauge variation for which $\delta_{\xi}\omega_{a}{}^{ij} + \delta_{X}\omega_{a}{}^{ij} = \mathfrak{D}_{a}\dot{\omega}^{ij}$. The last two terms in (A.36) will contribute to new constraints as shown in appendix B.3. The third term contributes to the invariance of the action under rotations of the normal vectors while the first two contribute to the constraints (2.44)–(2.46).

The same type of variations can be performed for the background Riemann tensor. In particular, for the background Ricci scalar, one simply obtains $\delta_X R = -\xi^{\alpha} \nabla_{\alpha} R$. Also, consider the contraction with the background Ricci tensor $\perp^{\lambda \alpha} R_{\lambda \alpha}$ so that

$$\delta_X \left(\perp^{\lambda \alpha} R_{\lambda \alpha} \right) = 2n^{\alpha i} R_{\lambda \alpha} \delta_X n^{\lambda}{}_i - \perp^{\lambda \alpha} \xi^{\sigma} \partial_{\sigma} R_{\lambda \alpha}$$

= $- \perp^{\lambda \alpha} \xi^{\sigma} \nabla_{\sigma} R_{\lambda \alpha} + 2 \perp^{\alpha}{}_{\rho} \gamma^{\lambda \sigma} R_{\lambda \alpha} \overline{\nabla}_{\sigma} \xi^{\rho} ,$ (A.37)

where we have used (A.25) in the second line. For specific examples, such as these contractions with the background Riemann tensor, one readily obtains, via variations of the embedding map, that there are not contributions to the constraints (2.44)–(2.46). Recasting the variational principle of section 2.2 in terms of variations of the embedding map leads to the same final results but without giving the explicit couplings the abstract results are not manifestly covariant. Nevertheless, the resulting equations of motion are equivalent, as one may explicitly check for all terms in section 4. Equivalent variational formulae is obtained for the edge geometry.

A.3 Weyl transformations

In this part of the appendix we provide the Weyl transformations needed in the bulk of the paper. Weyl transformations are defined according to

$$g_{\mu\nu} \to e^{2\omega} g_{\mu\nu} \,, \tag{A.38}$$

and are inherited by $\gamma_{\mu\nu}$ and $\perp_{\mu\nu}$. In particular, the surface measure transforms accordingly as $\sqrt{|\gamma|} \rightarrow e^{p\,\omega}\sqrt{|\gamma|}$. The background curvature tensors transform as

$$R^{\pi}_{\ \theta\mu\nu} \to R^{\pi}_{\ \theta\mu\nu} + g_{\nu}^{\ \pi} \nabla_{\theta} \nabla_{\mu} \omega - g_{\mu}^{\ \pi} \nabla_{\theta} \nabla_{\mu} \omega + g_{\theta\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \nabla^{\pi} \omega - g_{\theta\nu} \nabla_{\mu} \nabla^{\pi} \omega + g_{\mu}^{\ \pi} \nabla_{\theta} \omega \nabla_{\nu} \omega - g_{\nu}^{\ \pi} \nabla_{\theta} \omega \nabla_{\mu} \omega + g_{\theta\nu} \nabla_{\mu} \omega \nabla^{\pi} \omega - g_{\theta\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \omega \nabla^{\pi} \omega$$

$$+ \left(g_{\theta\mu}g_{\nu}^{\ \pi} - g_{\theta\nu}g_{\mu}^{\ \pi}\right) \nabla^{\rho} \,\omega \nabla_{\rho} \,\omega \,, \tag{A.39a}$$

$$R_{\mu\nu} \to R_{\mu\nu} - g_{\mu\nu} \Box \omega - (D-2) \left(\nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \omega - \nabla_{\mu} \omega \nabla_{\nu} \omega + g_{\mu\nu} \nabla^{\pi} \omega \nabla_{\pi} \omega \right), \quad (A.39b)$$

$$R \to e^{-2\omega} \left(R - 2(D-1) \Box \omega - (D-1)(D-2) \nabla^{\pi} \omega \nabla_{\pi} \omega \right),$$
(A.39c)

whereas the background Schouten tensor (2.24) transforms as

$$S_{\mu\nu} \to S_{\mu\nu} - \nabla_{\mu} \nabla_{\nu} \omega + \nabla_{\mu} \omega \nabla_{\nu} \omega - \frac{1}{2} g_{\mu\nu} \nabla^{\pi} \omega \nabla_{\pi} \omega .$$
 (A.40)

The former expressions imply the invariance of the Weyl tensor defined in (2.23), that is

$$W^{\pi}_{\ \theta\mu\nu} \to W^{\pi}_{\ \theta\mu\nu} \,. \tag{A.41}$$

In turn, the second fundamental form (2.6) and its trace (2.8) transform as

$$K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\pi} \to K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\pi} - \gamma_{\mu\nu} \perp^{\theta\pi} \nabla_{\theta} \,\omega \,, \qquad (A.42a)$$

$$K^{\pi} \to e^{-2\omega} \left(K^{\pi} - p \perp^{\theta \pi} \nabla_{\theta} \omega \right) ,$$
 (A.42b)

which imply the invariance of the conformation tensor (2.26), that is

$$C_{\mu\nu}{}^{\pi} \to C_{\mu\nu}{}^{\pi}. \tag{A.43}$$

The transformation of the internal curvature tensors can be deduced from the former expressions by means of the Gauss-Codazzi equation (2.20)

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{R}^{\pi}{}_{\theta\mu\nu} &\to \mathcal{R}^{\pi}{}_{\theta\mu\nu} + (\gamma_{\mu\theta}\gamma_{\nu}{}^{\pi} - \gamma_{\nu\theta}\gamma_{\mu}{}^{\pi})\gamma^{\rho\sigma}\nabla_{\rho}\omega\nabla_{\sigma}\omega \\ &\quad + (\gamma_{\mu}{}^{\rho}\gamma_{\nu}{}^{\pi}\gamma_{\theta}{}^{\upsilon} - \gamma_{\mu}{}^{\pi}\gamma_{\nu}{}^{\rho}\gamma_{\theta}{}^{\upsilon} + \gamma_{\mu\theta}\gamma_{\nu}{}^{\upsilon}\gamma^{\rho\pi} - \gamma_{\nu\theta}\gamma_{\mu}{}^{\upsilon}\gamma^{\rho\pi}) \left(\nabla_{\upsilon}\nabla_{\rho}\omega - \nabla_{\upsilon}\omega\nabla_{\rho}\omega\right) \\ &\quad - (K_{\mu}{}^{\pi\upsilon}\gamma_{\nu\theta} - K_{\nu}{}^{\pi\upsilon}\gamma_{\mu\theta} + K_{\nu\theta}{}^{\upsilon}\gamma_{\mu}{}^{\pi} - K_{\mu\theta}{}^{\upsilon}\gamma_{\nu}{}^{\pi})\nabla_{\upsilon}\omega, \qquad (A.44a) \\ \mathcal{R}_{\mu\nu} \to \mathcal{R}_{\mu\nu} - \gamma_{\mu\nu}\gamma^{\rho\sigma}\nabla_{\rho}\nabla_{\sigma}\omega - (p-2)\gamma_{\mu}{}^{\rho}\gamma_{\nu}{}^{\sigma} \left(\nabla_{\rho}\nabla_{\sigma}\omega - \nabla_{\rho}\omega\nabla_{\sigma}\omega\right) \\ &\quad - (p-2)\left(\gamma_{\mu\nu}\gamma^{\rho\sigma}\nabla_{\rho}\omega\nabla_{\sigma}\omega + K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\pi}\nabla_{\pi}\omega\right) - \gamma_{\mu\nu}K^{\pi}\nabla_{\pi}\omega, \qquad (A.44b) \\ \mathcal{R} \to e^{-2\omega}\left(\mathcal{R} - 2(p-1)\gamma^{\rho\sigma}\nabla_{\rho}\nabla_{\sigma}\omega - (p-1)(p-2)\gamma^{\rho\sigma}\nabla_{\rho}\omega\nabla_{\sigma}\omega - 2(p-1)K^{\pi}\nabla_{\pi}\omega\right), \\ &\qquad (A.44c) \end{aligned}$$

whereas the Ricci-Voss equation (2.21) implies the invariance of the outer curvature tensor (2.11)

$$\Omega^{\pi}{}_{\theta\mu\nu} \to \Omega^{\pi}{}_{\theta\mu\nu} \,. \tag{A.45}$$

This could have also been derived by noticing that the external rotation tensor (2.9) is Weyl invariant

$$\omega_{\mu}{}^{\nu}{}_{\rho} \to \omega_{\mu}{}^{\nu}{}_{\rho} \,. \tag{A.46}$$

On the other hand, the internal rotation tensor (2.16) has the transformation property

$$\rho_{\mu}{}^{\nu}{}_{\rho} \to \rho_{\mu}{}^{\nu}{}_{\rho} + 2\gamma^{\nu}{}_{(\mu}\overline{\nabla}_{\rho)}\omega - \gamma_{\mu\rho}\overline{\nabla}^{\nu}\omega \,. \tag{A.47}$$

For the particular Riemann curvature contractions defined in eq. (4.10) and appearing in the parity-even action (4.11) we find the following transformation properties

$$\begin{aligned} R_{||} &\to e^{-2\omega} \left[R_{||} - 2(p-1)\gamma^{\rho\beta} \left(\nabla_{\rho} \nabla_{\beta} \omega - \nabla_{\rho} \omega \nabla_{\beta} \omega \right) + p(1-p) \nabla^{\alpha} \omega \nabla_{\alpha} \omega \right] , \\ R_{\perp} &\to e^{-2\omega} \left[R_{\perp} - 2(n-1) \perp^{\rho\beta} \left(\nabla_{\rho} \nabla_{\beta} \omega - \nabla_{\rho} \omega \nabla_{\beta} \omega \right) + n(1-n) \nabla^{\alpha} \omega \nabla_{\alpha} \omega \right] , \\ R_{\perp} &\to e^{-2\omega} \left[R_{\perp} - \left(n\gamma^{\rho\beta} + p \perp^{\rho\beta} \right) \left(\nabla_{\rho} \nabla_{\beta} \omega - \nabla_{\rho} \omega \nabla_{\beta} \omega \right) - p \, n \nabla^{\alpha} \omega \nabla_{\alpha} \omega \right] , \end{aligned}$$
(A.48)

whereas the transformations of the tensors contributing to the parity-odd part of the action given in eq. (4.19) are

$$\begin{aligned} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} &\to e^{4\omega} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \,, \qquad \omega_{\mu} \to \omega_{\mu} \,, \qquad n_{\rho} \to e^{\omega} n_{\rho} \,, \qquad u^{\mu} \to e^{-\omega} e_{1}^{\mu} \,, \\ R_{-} \to e^{-2\omega} R_{-} \,, \qquad \Omega \to e^{-2\omega} \Omega \,, \qquad \epsilon^{\lambda\mu}{}_{\rho\alpha} K_{\lambda}{}^{\nu\alpha} K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} \to e^{-2\omega} \epsilon^{\lambda\mu}{}_{\rho\alpha} K_{\lambda}{}^{\nu\alpha} K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} \,. \end{aligned} \tag{A.49}$$

B Details on the variational principle for actions

In this section we give further details on the variational principle used in the core of this paper and provide the generalised constraints and equations of motion, which include the couplings to the intrinsic Riemann tensor and the outer curvature. We also provide a brief comparison between the spacetime and gauge variational principles. At the end of this appendix we give further details on the Ward identities and displacement operator for CFTs coupled to defects with edges, along with specific instructive examples.

B.1 Framework for variations at any derivative order

We consider a purely geometric action that takes the form (2.32) for arbitrary geometric fields $\Phi(\sigma)$. The Lagrangian variation of any explicit term that appears in such action can be organised as

$$\delta_{\xi}S[\Phi(\sigma)] = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p}\sigma \sqrt{|\gamma|} \left(T^{\mu\nu}\delta_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu} + T^{\mu\nu\rho}\nabla_{\rho}\delta_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu} + T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda}\nabla_{\rho}\nabla_{\lambda}\delta_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu} + \cdots \right), \quad (B.1)$$

where the *dots* represent higher multipole terms $T^{\mu\nu\mu_1\mu_2\cdots\mu_l}$, with *l* being the highest order multipole moment, that can appear when terms involving more than two derivatives are taken into account. It is clear that, with the aid of the delta function, the spacetime stress tensor that arises from (B.1) takes the general form

$$\mathbf{T}^{\mu\nu} = T^{\mu\nu}\widehat{\delta}(x) + \sum_{i=1}^{l} (-1)^{l} \nabla_{\mu_{1}} \cdots \nabla_{\mu_{i}} \left(T^{\mu\nu\mu_{1}\cdots\mu_{l}}\widehat{\delta}(x) \right), \qquad (B.2)$$

and hence is in agreement with that of (3.5). Using that for a Lagrangian variation one has $\delta_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu} = 2\nabla_{(\mu}\xi_{\nu)}$, one may obtain the shape equation and diffeomorphism constraints from (B.1). In general, this is quite involved and here we provide a method that can be applied to higher orders, though we explicit use it only up to l = 1. First, we decompose the ρ index in the second term in (B.1) in tangential and transverse parts and integrate the tangential component by parts in order to find

$$\delta_{\xi}S[\Phi(\sigma)] = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{W}} d^{p}\sigma \sqrt{|\gamma|} \left(\left(T^{\mu\nu} - \overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\rho} T^{\mu\nu\rho} \right) \right) \delta_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu} + T^{\mu\nu\lambda} \bot^{\rho}{}_{\lambda}\nabla_{\rho}\delta_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu} \right) \\ + \frac{1}{2} \int_{\partial\mathcal{W}} d^{p-1}\widetilde{\sigma}\sqrt{|h|} \widetilde{n}_{\rho}T^{\mu\nu\rho}\delta_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu} ,$$
(B.3)

It may be observed that now each of the terms in the variation is frame-invariant, as it can be compared with (3.17), except for the boundary term, as earlier advertised. Therefore, the constraints and equations of motion that will be derived from this variation will necessarily be frame-invariant in the surface but not on the edges. We introduce the quantities $\widehat{T}^{\mu\nu}$ and $\widehat{T}^{\mu\nu\rho}$ to denote these two invariants such that

$$\widehat{\mathsf{T}}^{\mu\nu} = T^{\mu\nu} - \overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\gamma^{\lambda}_{\ \rho} T^{\mu\nu\rho} \right) , \quad \widehat{\mathsf{T}}^{\mu\nu\rho} = T^{\mu\nu\lambda} \bot^{\rho}_{\ \lambda} . \tag{B.4}$$

Making use of $\delta_{\xi}g_{\mu\nu} = 2\nabla_{(\mu}\xi_{\nu)}$ and the Riemann identity $\nabla_{[\mu}\nabla_{\nu]}\xi_{\lambda} = R^{\alpha}{}_{\lambda\nu\mu}\xi_{\alpha}$ into (B.1), one finds the two sets of constraints

$$\widehat{\mathsf{T}}^{\alpha\nu(\rho}\bot^{\mu)}{}_{\alpha} = 0\,, \quad \bot^{\rho}{}_{\mu}\left(\widehat{\mathsf{T}}^{\mu\nu} - \overline{\nabla}_{\lambda}\left(\gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\alpha}\widehat{\mathsf{T}}^{\alpha\nu\mu}\right)\right) = 0\,, \tag{B.5}$$

and the equation of motion

$$\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda}\left(\gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu}\left(\widehat{\mathsf{T}}^{\mu\nu}-\overline{\nabla}_{\rho}\left(\gamma^{\rho}{}_{\alpha}\widehat{\mathsf{T}}^{\alpha\nu\mu}\right)\right)\right)=\left(\widehat{\mathsf{T}}^{\mu\alpha\rho}+\frac{1}{2}\bot^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}\widehat{\mathsf{T}}^{\sigma\alpha\mu}\right)R^{\nu}{}_{\alpha\mu\rho}\,.\tag{B.6}$$

Keeping track of the boundary terms one arrives at the edge constraint

$$\left(\tilde{n}_{\rho}T^{\mu\nu\rho}P^{\alpha}{}_{\mu}+\tilde{n}_{\sigma}\widehat{\mathsf{T}}^{\sigma\nu\alpha}\right)|_{\partial\mathcal{W}}=0\,,\tag{B.7}$$

and equation of motion on the edge

$$\widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(h^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} \widetilde{n}_{\rho} T^{\mu\nu\rho} \right) - \widetilde{n}_{\mu} \left(\widehat{\mathsf{T}}^{\mu\nu} - \overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\alpha} \widehat{\mathsf{T}}^{\alpha\nu\mu} \right) \right) |_{\partial \mathcal{W}} = 0.$$
(B.8)

One finds perfect agreement of this form of the constraints and equations with those obtained in section 2.2 when no quadrupole moments are present. These equations had been derived in [58] via a different method but here we have provided a cleaner, quicker, spacetime covariant and more physical derivation of these equations (i.e. in terms of frameinvariant quantities). We leave the problem of obtaining the higher order equations of motion in full generality to future work. Below, we derive these equations for a specific form of the spacetime stress tensor.

B.2 Generalised diffeomorphism constraints and shape equation

We now provide the constraints and equations of motion for the action (2.40) including the couplings to the intrinsic Riemann tensor and outer curvature. Using the variations (A.17) and (A.20), we find the spin conservation equation

$$\mathcal{D}^{\mu\lambda[\sigma}K_{\mu\lambda}{}^{\alpha]} + \bot_{\lambda}{}^{\sigma}\bot_{\rho}{}^{\alpha}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\mathcal{S}^{\mu\lambda\rho} + \bot_{\nu}{}^{[\sigma}\bot_{\lambda}{}^{\alpha]}\Pi^{\nu\lambda} - 2\bot^{\alpha}{}_{\beta}\bot^{\sigma}{}_{\rho}\overline{\nabla}_{\theta}\left(\bot^{\nu\beta}\bot^{\rho}{}_{\tau}\gamma^{\theta}{}_{\pi}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa}\mathcal{H}_{\nu}{}^{\kappa\tau\pi}\right) = 0.$$
(B.9)

The coupling to the intrinsic and outer curvatures introduce further modifications of this equation. The orthogonal components of the monopole stress tensor take the form

$$\mathcal{B}^{\alpha\sigma} = \mathcal{D}^{\mu\lambda(\sigma}K_{\mu\lambda}{}^{\alpha)} + \perp_{\nu}{}^{(\sigma}\perp_{\lambda}{}^{\alpha)}\Pi^{\nu\lambda} + 4\mathcal{I}^{\mu\kappa\nu\lambda}K_{\lambda\nu}{}^{(\sigma}K_{\kappa\mu}{}^{\alpha)} - 4\perp{}^{(\alpha}{}_{\nu}\perp^{\sigma)}{}_{\beta}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa}\left(\mathcal{H}^{\mu\kappa\nu\lambda}K_{\lambda}{}^{\beta}{}_{\mu}\right), \tag{B.10}$$

while the mixed tangential-transverse components read

$$\mathcal{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \perp^{\nu\alpha} \gamma_{\mu}{}^{\sigma} = \mathcal{S}^{\mu\alpha\lambda} K_{\mu}{}^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda} + \gamma_{\nu}{}^{\sigma} \perp_{\lambda}{}^{\alpha}\Pi^{\nu\lambda} + 2\gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\beta} \perp^{\alpha}{}_{\rho}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa} \left(\mathcal{I}^{\beta\kappa\nu\lambda} K_{\lambda\nu}{}^{\rho}\right) + 4\gamma^{(\sigma}{}_{\nu}\gamma^{\beta)}{}_{\lambda} K_{\mu\beta}{}^{\alpha}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa}\mathcal{I}^{\mu\kappa\nu\lambda} - 4 \perp^{\alpha}{}_{\theta}\gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\beta}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa} \left(\mathcal{H}^{\mu\kappa(\theta|\lambda|} K_{\lambda}{}^{\beta)}{}_{\mu}\right) - 2 \perp^{\alpha\nu} K_{\pi}{}^{\sigma}{}_{\tau}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa}\mathcal{H}_{\nu}{}^{\kappa\tau\pi}.$$
(B.11)

In turn, given the mixed tangential-transverse components, the surface equations of motion can be written as

$$\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\mathcal{T}^{\lambda\sigma} + \gamma_{\mu}{}^{\lambda} \left(\perp_{\nu}{}^{\sigma}\Pi^{\mu\nu} - \Pi^{\sigma\mu} \right) - \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma} - 2\mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\sigma}K_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\alpha} \right)
- 4\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\alpha}\overline{\nabla}_{\beta} \left(\gamma^{\mu(\alpha}\gamma^{\sigma)}{}_{\lambda}\gamma^{\beta}{}_{\nu}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa}\mathcal{I}_{\mu}{}^{\kappa\nu\lambda} \right) - \gamma^{(\lambda}{}_{\nu}\gamma^{\beta)}{}_{\alpha}K_{\mu\beta}{}^{\sigma}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa}\mathcal{I}^{\mu\kappa\nu\alpha} \right)
- 2\nabla_{\lambda} \left(\gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\beta}\overline{\nabla}_{\theta} \left(\perp^{\alpha\beta} \perp^{\sigma}{}_{\tau}\gamma^{\theta}{}_{\pi}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa}\mathcal{H}_{\alpha}{}^{\kappa\tau\pi} \right) + \perp^{\sigma\nu}K_{\pi}{}^{\lambda}{}_{\tau}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa}\mathcal{H}_{\nu}{}^{\kappa\tau\pi} \right)
= \left(\mathcal{S}^{\mu\lambda\rho} - \mathcal{D}^{\mu\lambda\rho} \right) R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu\lambda\rho} + 2\mathcal{Q}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho}\nabla_{\nu}R^{\sigma}{}_{\rho\mu\lambda} + 4 \perp^{\lambda\beta} \perp^{\alpha}{}_{\tau}\gamma^{\theta}{}_{\pi}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa} \left(\mathcal{H}_{\lambda}{}^{\kappa\tau\pi} \right) R^{\sigma}{}_{\alpha\theta\beta} .$$
(B.12)

B.2.1 Edge constraints and equations of motion

The constraints and equations of motion on the edges are significantly modified by these extra couplings. The edge spin conservation equation now takes the form

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\lambda[\sigma}\mathcal{K}_{\mu\lambda}{}^{\alpha]} + P^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda}P^{\alpha}{}_{\rho}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\mu\lambda\rho} + P^{[\sigma}{}_{\nu}P^{\alpha]}{}_{\lambda}\widetilde{\Pi}^{\nu\lambda} - \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\lambda\mu[\sigma}\widetilde{n}^{\alpha]} - \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}P^{\alpha}{}_{\mu}P^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}\mathcal{S}^{\lambda\nu\mu}
- 4\widetilde{n}_{\kappa}\widetilde{n}_{\rho}\mathcal{I}^{\rho\kappa\beta\mu}\mathcal{K}_{\beta\mu}{}^{[\sigma}\widetilde{n}^{\alpha]} - 2P^{\alpha}{}_{\tau}P^{\sigma}{}_{\beta}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}\left(h^{\mu}{}_{\lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\kappa}\mathcal{H}^{\beta\kappa\tau\lambda}\right) - 2\widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\perp^{\mu\sigma}\perp^{\alpha}{}_{\tau}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa}\mathcal{H}_{\mu}{}^{\kappa\tau\lambda} = 0.$$
(B.13)

The transverse components of the edge monopole stress tensor read

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}^{\alpha\sigma} = \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\lambda(\sigma}\mathcal{K}_{\mu\lambda}{}^{\alpha)} + P^{(\sigma}{}_{\nu}P^{\alpha)}{}_{\lambda}\widetilde{\Pi}^{\nu\lambda} - \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\lambda\mu(\sigma}\widetilde{n}^{\alpha)} + 4\widetilde{\nabla}_{\rho}\left(h^{\rho}{}_{\nu}\widetilde{n}_{\kappa}\mathcal{I}^{\mu\kappa\nu\lambda}\right)P^{(\alpha}{}_{\mu}P^{\sigma)}{}_{\lambda},
+ 4\widetilde{\nabla}_{\gamma}\left(\widetilde{n}_{\kappa}\widetilde{n}_{\rho}h^{(\gamma}{}_{\beta}h^{\lambda)}{}_{\mu}\mathcal{I}^{\beta\kappa\rho\mu}\widetilde{n}^{\nu}\right)P^{(\alpha}{}_{\nu}P^{\sigma)}{}_{\lambda} - 4\widetilde{n}_{\kappa}\widetilde{n}_{\beta}\mathcal{I}^{\beta\kappa\nu\lambda}K_{\nu\lambda}{}^{(\sigma}\widetilde{n}^{\alpha)}
+ 4P^{(\alpha}{}_{\tau}P^{\sigma)}{}_{\beta}\widetilde{n}_{\kappa}\mathcal{H}^{\mu\kappa\tau\lambda}K_{\lambda}{}^{\beta}{}_{\mu},$$
(B.14)

while the mixed components take the form

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\mu}_{\ \nu}P^{\nu\alpha}h^{\sigma}_{\ \mu} = \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\mu\alpha\lambda}\mathcal{K}_{\mu}^{\ \sigma}_{\ \lambda} + h^{\sigma}_{\ \nu}P^{\alpha}_{\ \lambda}\widetilde{\Pi}^{\nu\lambda} - 2\widetilde{n}^{\mu}\widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\widetilde{n}^{\alpha}h^{\sigma}_{\ \nu}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa}\mathcal{I}_{\mu}^{\ \kappa\nu\lambda} - 2\widetilde{n}_{\kappa}\mathcal{I}^{\beta\kappa\nu\lambda}h^{\sigma}_{\ \beta}K_{\nu\lambda}^{\ \alpha}
+ 4\widetilde{\nabla}_{\rho}\left(h^{\rho}_{\ \nu}\widetilde{n}_{\kappa}\mathcal{I}^{\mu\kappa\nu\lambda}\right)P^{(\alpha}_{\ \mu}h^{\sigma}_{\ \lambda} + 4\widetilde{\nabla}_{\gamma}\left(\widetilde{n}_{\kappa}\widetilde{n}_{\rho}h^{(\gamma}_{\ \beta}h^{\lambda)}_{\ \mu}\mathcal{I}^{\beta\kappa\rho\mu}\widetilde{n}^{\nu}\right)P^{\alpha}_{\ \nu}h^{\sigma}_{\ \lambda}
+ 4P^{\alpha}_{\ \tau}h^{\sigma}_{\ \beta}\widetilde{n}_{\kappa}\mathcal{H}^{\mu\kappa\tau\lambda}K_{\lambda}^{\ \beta}_{\ \mu} + 2P^{\alpha}_{\ \tau}h^{\sigma}_{\ \beta}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}\left(h^{\mu}_{\ \lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\kappa}\mathcal{H}^{\beta\kappa\tau\lambda}\right).$$
(B.15)

Given this, the equations of motion at the edges take the form

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{T}}^{\lambda\sigma} + h^{\lambda}_{\mu} \left(P^{\sigma}_{\nu} \widetilde{\Pi}^{\mu\nu} - \widetilde{\Pi}^{\sigma\mu} \right) - h^{\lambda}_{\nu} \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\nu\sigma} - 2 \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\mu}_{\alpha}^{\sigma} \mathcal{K}_{\mu}^{\lambda\alpha} + \widetilde{n}_{\mu} h^{\lambda}_{\nu} \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma} \right) \\ - 4 \widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(h^{(\lambda}{}_{\mu} h^{\sigma}{}_{\beta} \widetilde{\nabla}_{\alpha} \left(h^{\alpha}{}_{\nu} \widetilde{n}_{\kappa} \mathcal{I}^{\beta\kappa\nu\mu} \right) - \widetilde{n}_{\kappa} h^{(\sigma}{}_{\tau} h^{\beta}{}_{\nu} \mathcal{I}^{\tau\kappa\mu\nu} \mathcal{K}_{\beta}{}^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} \right) \\ + 4 \widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(P^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} h^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} \widetilde{\nabla}_{\gamma} \left(\widetilde{n}_{\kappa} \widetilde{n}_{\alpha} h^{(\gamma}{}_{\beta} h^{\mu)}{}_{\rho} \mathcal{I}^{\beta\kappa\alpha\rho} \widetilde{n}^{\nu} \right) + h^{(\lambda}{}_{\beta} \gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} \widetilde{n}^{\mu} \rho \overline{\nabla}_{\kappa} \mathcal{I}_{\mu}{}^{\kappa\nu\beta} \right) \\ - \widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(4 \widetilde{n}_{\kappa} h^{(\lambda}{}_{\alpha} h^{\sigma}{}_{\beta} \mathcal{H}^{\mu\kappa\alpha\nu} \mathcal{K}_{\nu}{}^{\beta}{}_{\mu} + 2 h^{\lambda}{}_{\alpha} h^{\sigma}{}_{\rho} \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu} \left(h^{\mu}{}_{\lambda} \widetilde{n}_{\kappa} \mathcal{H}^{\rho\kappa\alpha\nu} \right) \right) \\ = \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\mu\lambda\rho} - \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\lambda\rho} \right) R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu\lambda\rho} + 2 \widetilde{\mathcal{Q}}^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} \nabla_{\nu} R^{\sigma}{}_{\rho\mu\lambda} + 4 \widetilde{n}_{\kappa} \widetilde{n}_{\alpha} \widetilde{n}^{\nu} \mathcal{I}^{\beta\kappa\alpha\mu} h^{(\gamma}{}_{\beta} h^{\lambda)}{}_{\mu} R^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda\gamma\nu} \\ + \widetilde{n}_{\lambda} \left(\mathcal{T}^{\lambda\sigma} + \gamma_{\mu}{}^{\lambda} \left(\bot_{\nu}{}^{\sigma} \Pi^{\mu\nu} - \Pi^{\sigma\mu} \right) - \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \overline{\nabla}_{\mu} \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma} - 2 \mathcal{S}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\sigma} \mathcal{K}_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\alpha} \right) \\ - 4 \widetilde{n}_{\lambda} \overline{\nabla}_{\rho} \left(\mathcal{K}_{\nu\lambda}{}^{(\sigma} \mathcal{I}^{\lambda)\rho\nu\lambda} + \gamma^{\mu\rho} \gamma^{(\sigma}{}_{\nu} \gamma^{\lambda)}{}_{\alpha} \overline{\nabla}_{\kappa} \mathcal{I}_{\mu}{}^{\kappa\nu\alpha} \right) - 4 \widetilde{n}_{\lambda} \mathcal{K}{}^{(\lambda}{}_{\kappa\rho} \mathcal{I}^{\sigma)\kappa\tau\alpha} \mathcal{K}_{\alpha\tau}{}^{\rho} \\ + 4 \widetilde{n}_{\kappa} \mathcal{H}^{\beta\kappa\alpha\mu} R^{\sigma}{}_{\beta\mu\alpha} + 4 \widetilde{n}_{\alpha} \mathcal{H}^{\nu\kappa\tau\lambda} \mathcal{K}_{\lambda}{}^{(\sigma}{}_{\nu} \mathcal{K}_{\kappa}{}^{\alpha)}{}_{\tau} - 2 \widetilde{n}_{\beta} \overline{\nabla}_{\theta} \left(\gamma^{\theta}{}_{\pi} \bot^{\sigma\beta} \bot^{\sigma}{}_{\tau} \overline{\nabla}_{\kappa} \mathcal{H}_{\alpha}{}^{\kappa\tau\pi} \right). \end{split}$$

$$(B.16)$$

B.2.2 Spacetime stress tensor

The spacetime stress tensor acquires new components due to these couplings. It takes the form of (3.5) but with the components

$$T^{\mu\nu} = \mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu} - 4K^{(\mu}{}_{\kappa\rho}\mathcal{I}^{\nu)\kappa\sigma\lambda}K_{\lambda\sigma}{}^{\rho} + 4\mathcal{H}^{\sigma\kappa\tau\lambda}K_{\lambda}{}^{(\mu}{}_{\sigma}K_{\kappa}{}^{\nu)}{}_{\tau} + 2\mathcal{P}^{\lambda}{}_{\rho}\perp^{\rho(\mu}\gamma_{\lambda}{}^{\nu)} + \mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu}, \quad (B.17)$$

$$T^{\mu\nu\rho} = 2\mathcal{D}^{\rho(\mu\nu)} - \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\rho} + 2\mathcal{S}^{(\mu\nu)\rho} + 4K_{\lambda\sigma}{}^{(\mu}\mathcal{I}^{\nu)\rho\sigma\lambda} - 4\mathcal{I}_{\alpha}{}^{\kappa\beta(\mu}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa}\left(\gamma^{\nu)}{}_{\beta}\gamma^{\alpha\rho}\right)$$
(B.18)

$$+4K_{\lambda}{}^{(\mu}{}_{\alpha}\mathcal{H}^{\nu)\rho\alpha\lambda}-4\mathcal{H}^{\sigma\kappa\tau(\mu}\overline{\nabla}_{\kappa}\left(\perp^{\nu)}{}_{\tau}\perp^{\rho}{}_{\sigma}\right),$$

$$T^{\mu\nu\rho\lambda} = -4\mathcal{Q}^{\lambda\rho(\mu\nu)} - 4\mathcal{I}^{\lambda\rho(\mu\nu)} - 4\mathcal{H}^{\lambda\rho(\mu\nu)}.$$
(B.19)

One observes that there are extra contributions to the tangential components of the monopole part of the stress tensor. One may explicitly check that choosing $\mathcal{I}^{\lambda\rho\mu\nu} = \alpha_1 \gamma^{\lambda[\rho} \gamma^{\nu]\mu}$ yields the same stress tensor as choosing $\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\rho} = \alpha_1 (\gamma^{\mu\nu} K^{\rho} - K^{\mu\nu\rho})$ and $\mathcal{Q}^{\lambda\rho\mu\nu} = \alpha_1 \gamma^{\lambda[\rho} \gamma^{\nu]\mu}$. This means that the stress tensor due to the contribution proportional to \mathcal{R} in the action (4.11) is equivalent to the stress tensor obtained once the Gauss-Codazzi equation (2.20) is used. Consequently, both the surface and edge dynamics are equivalent, as expected. The same holds true for the equations of motion that arise due to the term proportional to λ_3 in (4.19) and that proportional to α_5 .

B.3 Comparison between spacetime and gauge variational principles

In this section we compare the variational principle of section 2.2 with the gauge variational principle employed previously in the literature (see e.g. [10, 41, 44]). We show that the two principles are equivalent, modulo certain constraints, including the diffeomorphism constraints (2.45) and (2.46). For simplicity, we do not consider couplings to the intrinsic, outer and background curvatures, though these can be straightforwardly included. The variation of the action (2.40) can be recast into gauge formulation language by using the tangent and normal vectors. Consider for example the couplings to $\gamma^{\mu\nu}$ appearing in (2.40).

One may write a general variation as

$$\delta S[g_{\mu\nu}, X^{\mu}] = -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|\gamma|} d^{p} \sigma \mathcal{T}_{\mu\nu} \delta \left(\gamma^{ab} e^{\mu}{}_{a} e^{\nu}{}_{b} \right)$$

$$= -\frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|\gamma|} d^{p} \sigma \left(\mathcal{T}_{ab} \delta \gamma^{ab} + 2 \widehat{\mathcal{T}}^{a}{}_{b} e_{\mu}{}^{b} \delta e^{\mu}{}_{a} \right) .$$
(B.20)

A few remarks are now in place. Gauge variational principles only consider the first term in the second line above. For Lagrangian variations for which $\delta_{\xi}X = 0$ and $\delta_{\xi}e^{\mu}{}_{a} = 0$ the two variational principles are equivalent but if the mapping functions are allowed to vary as well, they differ. In the second term in the second line above we have defined $\widehat{\mathcal{T}}^{ab} = \mathcal{T}^{ab} - \gamma^{ab}\widehat{\mathcal{L}}$ with $\widehat{\mathcal{L}} = \mathcal{L}/\sqrt{|\gamma|}$ being the Lagrangian density. The reason for this technical detail of reasonable importance is that the determinant of the induced metric is computed with γ_{ab} and not with $\gamma_{\mu\nu}$. For any action there will be a contribution to the surface stress tensor of the form $\gamma_{ab}\widehat{\mathcal{L}}\delta\gamma^{ab}$, which by using the tangential vectors, can be turned into the form $\gamma_{\mu\nu}\widehat{\mathcal{L}}\delta\gamma^{\mu\nu} - 2\widehat{\mathcal{L}}\gamma_{\mu\nu}e^{\mu a}\delta e^{\mu}{}_{a}$. If the variation is Lagrangian then we have the equivalence $\gamma_{ab}\widehat{\mathcal{L}}\delta\gamma^{ab} = \gamma_{\mu\nu}\widehat{\mathcal{L}}\delta\gamma^{\mu\nu}$ but otherwise this equivalence is not valid and hence we must in general subtract this component from the second term in (B.20). The same type of considerations apply to the other terms in (2.40).

Performing this tedious exercise for all terms, we find the variation

$$\delta S[g_{\mu\nu}, X^{\mu}] = \int_{\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|\gamma|} d^{p} \sigma \left(-\frac{1}{2} \mathcal{T}_{ab} \delta \gamma^{ab} + \mathcal{D}^{ab}{}_{i} \delta K_{ab}{}^{i} + \mathcal{S}^{a}{}_{ij} \delta \omega_{a}{}^{ij} \right) - \int_{\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|\gamma|} d^{p} \sigma \left(\hat{\mathcal{T}}^{a}{}_{b} + 2\mathcal{D}^{ca}{}_{i} K_{cb}{}^{i} + \mathcal{S}^{a}{}_{ij} \omega_{b}{}^{ij} \right) e_{\mu}{}^{b} \delta e^{\mu}{}_{a} + \int_{\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|\gamma|} d^{p} \sigma \left(\mathcal{P}^{a}{}_{i} - \mathcal{S}^{b}{}_{ji} K_{b}{}^{aj} \right) n_{\mu}{}^{i} \delta e^{\mu}{}_{a} + \int_{\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|\gamma|} d^{p} \sigma \left(\mathcal{B}^{j}{}_{i} - \mathcal{D}^{ab}{}_{i} K_{ab}{}^{j} \right) n^{\mu}{}_{j} \delta n_{\mu}{}^{i} .$$
(B.21)

Here we have allowed for arbitrary variations of the action (2.40) and not only Lagrangian variations, that is, we have also allowed for variations of the embedding map. On the other hand, the variational principle (2.40) does not allow for internal rotations of the normal vectors $\omega^{ij} = 0$ because the action has been formulated in terms of spacetime indices. This implies, using (A.4), that the last variation in (B.21) is proportional to the variation of the background metric, namely $n^{\mu}{}_{j}\delta n_{\mu}{}^{i} = -n^{\lambda}{}_{j}n^{\rho i}\delta g_{\lambda\rho}$ and hence symmetric in the indices i, j. The first line in (B.21) is the gauge formulation of the variational principle as encountered in [10], hence, for the two principles to be equivalent in full generality one must require

$$\mathcal{T}^{ab} = \gamma^{ab} \widehat{\mathcal{L}} - 2\mathcal{D}^{c(a}{}_i K_c{}^{b)i} - \mathcal{S}^{(a}{}_{ij} \omega^{b)ij}, \quad 2\mathcal{D}^{c[a}{}_i K_c{}^{b]i} + \mathcal{S}^{[a}{}_{ij} \omega^{b]ij} = 0, \quad (B.22)$$

$$\mathcal{P}^{a}{}_{i} = \mathcal{S}^{b}{}_{ji}K_{b}{}^{aj}, \qquad \qquad \mathcal{B}^{ij} = \mathcal{D}^{ab(i}K_{ab}{}^{j)}. \qquad (B.23)$$

These last two conditions are the constraints (2.46) and (2.45) when no curvature moments are present while the two conditions (B.22) are new constraints that are only obtained when performing a variation of the mapping functions and requiring the result to be equivalent to that obtained when Lagrangian variations are performed instead. If variations of (B.21) would consider the fields $e^{\mu}{}_{a}$ and $n_{\mu}{}^{i}$ to be independent of γ^{ab} , $K_{ab}{}^{i}$ and $\omega_{a}{}^{ij}$, such as in [42], the constraints (B.22)–(B.23) would follow as furthers requirements on the invariance of $S[g_{\mu\nu}, X^{\mu}]$. In such case, the second constraint in (B.22) would be the consequence of invariance under intrinsic local Lorentz transformations, that is, invariance under the infinitesimal transformation $X^{\mu} \to \Lambda^{\mu}{}_{b}\sigma^{b}$ where $\Lambda^{\mu}{}_{b}$ is an anti-symmetric tangential matrix of constant coefficients.

The two conditions (B.22) and the first condition in (B.23) are obtained by allowing the mapping functions to vary while the last condition in (B.23) is obtained for pure Lagrangian variations. These constraints are left unknown if the gauge variational principle (first line in (B.21)) is used as a starting point. If only the first line in (B.21) is taken into account, then the equations of motion (2.47) can be obtained as well as the spin conservation equation (2.44) when $Q^{\mu\nu\lambda\rho} = 0$ (see e.g. [10, 56]). This implies that tangential diffeomorphism invariance in a spacetime formulation, besides (B.22)–(B.23), implies that the surface, in a gauge formulation, must be reparametrisation invariant and invariant under infinitesimal variations of the normal vectors.

B.4 Actions for defects with edges and instructive examples

In this section we provide further details on the actions for CFTs coupled to defects with edges and their corresponding displacement operator, whose surface contribution was analysed in section 5.3. We then give concrete well-known examples of actions, including DCFT actions, with the purpose of illustrating the correctness of these Ward identities.

B.4.1 Ward identities for defects with non-trivial edges

We begin with the Ward identity for tangential diffeomorphisms (5.18). According to (5.21), this Ward identity required the identifications

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{\mu}h^{\nu}{}_{\mu} = \widetilde{n}_{\mu}\widetilde{B}^{\mu\nu}\,,\quad \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{\lambda\nu}P^{\mu}{}_{\lambda} = \widetilde{n}_{\alpha}\widetilde{B}^{\alpha\lambda\nu}P^{\mu}{}_{\lambda}\,. \tag{B.24}$$

From the first condition above we obtain the requirement

$$h^{\alpha}{}_{\sigma}\left(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda}\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\lambda\sigma} - \widetilde{\Sigma}^{\mu\lambda\rho}R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu\rho\lambda} - \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma}\right) = \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{\mu}h^{\alpha}{}_{\mu}\,,\tag{B.25}$$

where $\tilde{\Sigma}^{\mu\lambda\rho}$ was defined in (3.22), $\mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma}$ was introduced in (5.24), while $\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\lambda\sigma}$ is a modification of (3.21), namely,

$$\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\lambda\sigma} = \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}^{\lambda\sigma} + \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\mu}_{\ \nu} P^{\nu\sigma} h^{\lambda}_{\ \mu} - h_{\mu}{}^{\lambda} \widetilde{\Pi}^{\sigma\mu} - h^{\lambda}_{\ \nu} \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\nu\sigma} - \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\sigma} \mathcal{K}_{\mu}{}^{\lambda\alpha} + \widetilde{n}_{\mu} h^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\sigma} - \widetilde{\mathcal{V}}^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} h^{\nu\lambda} \,.$$
(B.26)

In turn, the second condition in (B.24) implies a modification of the constraints (2.62), in particular we now obtain

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\lambda[\sigma}\mathcal{K}_{\mu\lambda}{}^{\alpha]} + P^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda}P^{\alpha}{}_{\rho}\widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}\widetilde{S}^{\mu\lambda\rho} - \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\lambda\mu[\sigma}\widetilde{n}^{\alpha]} - \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}P^{\alpha}{}_{\mu}P^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}\mathcal{S}^{\lambda\nu\mu} = \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{\mu\nu}P^{[\sigma}{}_{\mu}P^{\alpha]}{}_{\nu}, \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}^{\alpha\sigma} - \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\lambda(\sigma}\mathcal{K}_{\mu\lambda}{}^{\alpha)} + \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\widetilde{n}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\lambda\mu(\sigma}\widetilde{n}^{\alpha)} - P^{(\sigma}{}_{\nu}\widetilde{\mathcal{V}}^{\alpha)\nu} = \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{\mu\nu}P^{(\sigma}{}_{\mu}P^{\alpha)}{}_{\nu}, \quad (B.27) \\ \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\sigma}{}_{\alpha} - \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}{}^{\lambda}\mathcal{K}_{\mu}{}^{\sigma}{}_{\lambda} - \widetilde{\mathcal{V}}^{\alpha}{}_{\mu}h^{\mu\sigma} = \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{\mu\nu}P^{\alpha}{}_{\mu}h^{\alpha}{}_{\nu}, \end{split}$$

where we have set $\widetilde{\Pi}^{\mu\nu} = 0$ in (2.62) since we did not consider, for simplicity, couplings to the background curvatures in section 5.3.

We now consider the Ward identity for reparametrisation invariance for which the surface contribution was obtained in (5.26). The edge contribution is similar to its surface counterpart, in particular, it reads

$$\left\langle \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\nu} h^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} + h^{\alpha\sigma} \left(\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + \widetilde{\mathbb{B}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \widetilde{\mathcal{V}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \right) \Gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu\alpha} \right) \chi \right\rangle$$

$$+ \left\langle \left(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} - \widetilde{\mathbb{P}}^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} - \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \right) h^{\sigma\nu} \chi \right\rangle$$

$$= \left\langle \left(h^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} \widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\lambda\nu} - \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{\mu}{}_{\rho} h^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} P^{\rho\nu} - h^{\lambda}{}_{\rho} \widetilde{\mathcal{V}}^{\mu\rho} P^{\nu}{}_{\mu} \right) - h^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} \widetilde{\Sigma}^{\mu\lambda\rho} R^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho\lambda} - \tilde{n}_{\lambda} \mathbb{T}^{\lambda\nu} h^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} \right) \chi \right\rangle$$

$$(B.28)$$

where we have defined

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} &= \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \frac{\mathcal{L}_{e}}{\sqrt{|h|}} h^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + 2\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\lambda\mu}{}_{\rho}\mathcal{K}_{\nu\lambda}{}^{\rho} + \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\mu}{}_{\lambda\rho}\varpi_{\nu}{}^{\lambda\rho}, \quad \widetilde{\mathbb{P}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} &= \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + \widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\alpha}{}_{\lambda\nu}\mathcal{K}_{\alpha}{}^{\mu\lambda}, \\ \widetilde{\mathbb{B}}^{\lambda\rho} &= \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}^{\lambda\rho} - \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\nu(\lambda}\mathcal{K}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho)} + \widetilde{n}_{\nu}\widetilde{n}_{\mu}\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\nu\mu(\lambda}\widetilde{n}{}^{\rho)}\right), \\ \widetilde{\mathbb{S}}^{\alpha\beta} &= P^{\alpha}{}_{\lambda}P^{\beta}{}_{\rho}\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\nu[\lambda}\mathcal{K}_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho]} + \widetilde{\nabla}_{\mu}\widetilde{\mathcal{S}}^{\mu\lambda\rho} - \widetilde{n}_{\nu}\widetilde{n}_{\mu}\mathcal{D}^{\nu\mu[\lambda}\widetilde{n}{}^{\rho]} - \widetilde{n}_{\nu}P^{\rho}{}_{\mu}P^{\lambda}{}_{\alpha}\mathcal{S}^{\nu\alpha\mu} + \widetilde{\mathcal{V}}^{[\lambda\rho]}\right). \end{split}$$
(B.29)

Furthermore, the Ward identity for diffeomorphism invariance in the presence of defects with non-trivial edges reads

$$\begin{split} \delta_{\xi} \langle \boldsymbol{\chi} \rangle &- \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{|g|} d^{D} x \left\langle \nabla_{\mu} T_{b}^{\mu\nu} \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \xi_{\nu} + \int_{\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|\gamma|} d^{p} \sigma \left\langle \left(B^{\mu\nu} \bot^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \nabla_{\lambda} \xi_{\mu} - \mathcal{D}_{\lambda} \xi^{\lambda} \right) \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \\ &+ \int_{\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|\gamma|} d^{p} \sigma \left\langle \left((\mathbb{N}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \mathbb{P}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \mathcal{C}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}) \partial_{\mu} \xi^{\nu} + (\mathcal{V}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \mathbb{B}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \mathbb{S}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}) \Gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu\alpha} \xi^{\alpha} \right) \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \\ &- \int_{\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|\gamma|} d^{p} \sigma \left\langle \overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\mathcal{E}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} \pm^{\nu\sigma} + \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \mathcal{V}^{\mu\nu} \pm^{\sigma}{}_{\mu} \right) \xi_{\sigma} \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \\ &+ \int_{\partial\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|h|} d^{p-1} \widetilde{\sigma} \left\langle \left(\widetilde{n}_{\alpha} \widetilde{B}^{\alpha\nu\mu} \pm^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \nabla_{\lambda} \xi_{\mu} - \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}_{\lambda} \xi^{\lambda} \right) \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \\ &+ \int_{\partial\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|h|} d^{p-1} \widetilde{\sigma} \left\langle \left(\left(\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \widetilde{\mathbb{P}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \right) \partial_{\mu} \xi^{\nu} + \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{V}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \widetilde{\mathbb{B}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \widetilde{\mathbb{S}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} \right) \Gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu\alpha} \xi^{\alpha} \right) \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle \\ &- \int_{\partial\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|h|} d^{p-1} \widetilde{\sigma} \left\langle \widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda} \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} h^{\lambda}{}_{\mu} P^{\nu\sigma} + h^{\lambda}{}_{\nu} \widetilde{\mathcal{V}}^{\mu\nu} P^{\sigma}{}_{\mu} \right) \xi_{\sigma} \boldsymbol{\chi} \right\rangle = 0 \,. \end{split}$$

Finally, the spacetime stress tensor associated with the edges takes the same form as in (5.39) but with all quantities replaced by their *tilde* definitions. On the other hand the edge displacement operator takes the form

$$\mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{e}}^{\sigma} = \left[\widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda}\widetilde{\mathbb{T}}^{\lambda\sigma} - \widetilde{\Sigma}^{\mu\lambda\rho}R^{\sigma}{}_{\mu\rho\lambda} - \widetilde{n}_{\lambda}\left(\mathbb{T}^{\lambda\sigma} - \mathcal{E}^{\mu}{}_{\rho}\gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\mu}\perp^{\rho\sigma} - \gamma^{\lambda}{}_{\rho}\mathcal{V}^{\mu\rho}\perp^{\sigma}{}_{\mu}\right) \\ - \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\sigma} + g^{\alpha\sigma}\left(\widetilde{\mathbb{S}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + \widetilde{\mathbb{B}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} + \widetilde{\mathbb{N}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \widetilde{\mathcal{P}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} - \widetilde{\mathcal{V}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}\right)\Gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu\alpha}\right) \\ - \widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda}\left(\widetilde{\mathbb{N}}^{\lambda\sigma} - \widetilde{\mathbb{P}}^{\lambda\sigma} - \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}^{\lambda\sigma}\right) - \widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda}\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}h^{\lambda}{}_{\mu}P^{\nu\sigma} + h^{\lambda}{}_{\nu}\widetilde{\mathcal{V}}^{\mu\nu}P^{\sigma}{}_{\mu}\right)\left]\widehat{\delta}_{e}(x).$$
(B.31)

This completes the analysis of the Ward identities for defects with non-trivial edges.
B.4.2 Instructive examples

We now provide a few examples of well defined actions and show how to extract the different objects introduced here in order to verify the Ward identities. Most of these examples have been discussed elsewhere. We will focus on classes of actions that obey $\mathbb{S}^{\mu\nu} = \mathbb{B}^{\mu\nu} = \mathbb{P}^{\mu\nu} = 0$ and similarly for the edge counterparts. This class of actions, in the context of DCFTs and in flat space, is the one analysed in [4].

Free scalar field. Consider a free bulk scalar field coupled to surface and edge defects in curved space such that

$$S[g_{\mu\nu}, X^{\mu}, \widetilde{X}^{\mu}, \phi] = \frac{1}{2} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{|g|} d^{D}x \left(\nabla_{\mu} \phi \nabla^{\mu} \phi + \tau R \phi^{2} \right) + \tau_{1} \int_{\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|\gamma|} d^{p} \sigma \phi(X)$$

+ $\tau_{2} \int_{\partial \mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|h|} d^{p-1} \widetilde{\sigma} \phi(\widetilde{X}) ,$ (B.32)

where $\tau = (D-2)/4(D-1)$ and τ_1, τ_2 are arbitrary constants. The surface defect can be made conformal if p = (D-2)/2, in which case the edge defect cannot be made simultaneously conformal. However, it is nevertheless interesting to keep it in order to show the correctness of the Ward identities. We now evaluate the non-zero quantities of interest, in particular the bulk stress tensor reads

$$T_{\rm b}^{\mu\nu} = \nabla^{\mu}\phi\nabla^{\nu}\phi - \frac{1}{2}g^{\mu\nu}\nabla_{\lambda}\phi\nabla^{\lambda}\phi + \tau\left(R^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{2}Rg^{\mu\nu}\right)\phi^2 - \tau\left(\nabla^{\mu}\nabla^{\nu} - g^{\mu\nu}\Box\right)\phi^2. \tag{B.33}$$

The equation of motion for the field ϕ takes the form

$$\Box \phi - \tau R \phi = -\tau_1 \widehat{\delta}(x) - \tau_2 \widehat{\delta}_e(x) \,. \tag{B.34}$$

Using the equation of motion for ϕ in the divergence of the bulk stress tensor one obtains

$$\nabla_{\mu} T_{\rm b}^{\mu\nu} = -\tau_1 \nabla^{\nu} \phi \widehat{\delta}(x) - \tau_2 \nabla^{\nu} \phi \widehat{\delta}_e(x) \,. \tag{B.35}$$

From here one readily obtains that

$$\mathcal{E}^{\mu} = -\tau_1 \nabla^{\mu} \phi, \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{\mu} = -\tau_2 \nabla^{\mu} \phi, \quad \mathcal{E}^{\mu\nu} = \widetilde{\mathcal{E}}^{\mu\nu} = 0.$$
(B.36)

The remaining quantities of interest, such as the surface and edge stress tensors, are easily obtained from the action and read

$$\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu} = \tau_1 \gamma^{\mu\nu} \phi \,, \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}^{\mu\nu} = \tau_2 h^{\mu\nu} \phi \,, \quad \mathcal{D}^{\mu} = \tau_1 \nabla^{\mu} \phi \,, \quad \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu} = \tau_2 \nabla^{\mu} \phi \,. \tag{B.37}$$

In this specific case, the Ward identity for diffeomorphism invariance (B.30) implies that

$$\nabla_{\mu} T_{\rm b}^{\mu\nu} = -\mathcal{D}^{\mu} \widehat{\delta}(x) - \widetilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu} \widehat{\delta}_{e}(x) \,. \tag{B.38}$$

Introducing (B.37) into (B.38) leads to (B.35) and hence the Ward identity (B.38) is satisfied, as expected. Furthermore, the Ward identities for reparametrisation invariance (5.26) and (B.28) imply that

$$\gamma^{\sigma}_{\nu} \left(\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda} \mathcal{T}^{\lambda \nu} - \mathcal{D}^{\nu} \right) = 0, \quad h^{\sigma}_{\nu} \left(\widetilde{\nabla}_{\lambda} \widetilde{\mathcal{T}}^{\lambda \nu} - \widetilde{n}_{\lambda} \mathcal{T}^{\lambda \nu} - \widehat{\mathcal{D}}^{\nu} \right) = 0, \quad (B.39)$$

which upon using (B.37) are seen to be satisfied since $\tilde{n}_{\lambda} \mathcal{T}^{\lambda\nu} h^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} = 0$. Finally, consider the Ward identity for tangential diffeomorphisms which essentially reduces to (5.23) and (B.25). Upon using (B.36), these are seen to be equivalent to (B.39) and hence satisfied.

Minimally coupled p-form. Consider the action of a background p-form gauge field coupled to a defect of dimensionality p. The action takes the simple form

$$S[g_{\mu\nu}, X^{\mu}, A_{\mu_{1}...\mu_{p}}] = \frac{1}{2(p+1)!} \int_{\mathcal{M}} \sqrt{|g|} d^{D}x \left(F_{\mu_{1}...\mu_{p+1}}F^{\mu_{1}...\mu_{p+1}}\right) - \tau_{1}\frac{\lambda}{p!} \int_{\mathcal{W}} A_{\mu_{1}...\mu_{p}} e^{\mu_{1}}{}_{a_{1}} \dots e^{\mu_{p}}{}_{a_{p}} d\sigma^{a_{1}} \wedge \dots \wedge d\sigma^{a_{p}},$$
(B.40)

where $F_{\mu_1...\mu_{p+1}} = dA_{\mu_1...\mu_p}$ and τ_1 is an arbitrary constant. For the defect to be conformal one requires that p = (D-2)/2. The coupling to the defect is simply the pull-back of the gauge field onto the surface. The equation of motion for the gauge field reads

$$\nabla_{\mu}F^{\mu\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{p}} = -\frac{\tau_{1}}{p!}\epsilon_{||}^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{p}}\widehat{\delta}(x), \qquad (B.41)$$

which can be used to deduce that the r.h.s. of the bulk stress tensor conservation equations leads to a Lorentz force term localised on the defect, that is

$$\nabla_{\mu} T_{\rm b}^{\mu\nu} = -\frac{\tau_1}{p!} \epsilon_{||}^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_p} F_{\mu_1 \dots \mu_p} \,^{\nu} \widehat{\delta}(x) \,. \tag{B.42}$$

Consider now the diffeomorphism constraint for this specific case. From (B.30), we obtain

$$\nabla_{\mu}T_{\rm b}^{\mu\nu} = g^{\lambda\nu}\overline{\nabla}_{\mu}\mathcal{C}^{\mu}{}_{\lambda} + \mathcal{C}^{\mu}{}_{\alpha}\Gamma^{\alpha}{}_{\mu\lambda}g^{\lambda\nu} - \mathcal{D}^{\nu}.$$
(B.43)

Extracting the relevant terms from the action leads to

$$\mathcal{C}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = -\frac{\tau_1}{(p-1)!} \epsilon^{\mu\mu_2...\mu_p}_{||} A_{\nu\mu_2...\mu_p} , \quad \mathcal{D}^{\mu} = -\frac{\tau_1}{p!} \epsilon^{\mu_1...\mu_p}_{||} \partial^{\mu} A_{\mu_1...\mu_p} .$$
(B.44)

Inserting these quantities into (B.44) leads to (B.42), as expected.

Coupling between vector fields and extrinsic curvature. We now consider a case for which a background vector field ϕ^{μ} couples to the extrinsic curvature of the defect. We assume that there is some well-defined bulk action given in terms of this vector field and that gives rise to a non-trivial equation of motion. Here, for the purposes of exemplifying the different terms in the Ward identities, we do not require the exact form of the bulk action as we just want to test the Ward identity for surface reparametrisations. Therefore, consider the defect action

$$S[g_{\mu\nu}, X^{\mu}, \phi^{\mu}] = \int_{\mathcal{W}} \sqrt{|\gamma|} d^{p} \sigma \left(\alpha + \tau_{1} \phi^{\mu} \phi^{\nu} K_{\mu\nu}{}^{\rho} K_{\rho}\right) , \qquad (B.45)$$

where for simplicity we have assumed that the background vector field when restricted to the surface is purely tangential, that is $\phi^{\mu}(X) = \gamma^{\mu}{}_{\nu}\phi^{\nu}(X)$. From this action we compute the relevant quantities, namely

$$\mathcal{T}^{\mu\nu} = \alpha \gamma^{\mu\nu} + \tau_1 \gamma^{\mu\nu} \phi^{\lambda} \phi^{\alpha} K_{\lambda\alpha}{}^{\rho} K_{\rho} - 2\tau_1 \phi^{\lambda} \phi^{\alpha} K_{\lambda\alpha}{}^{\rho} K^{\mu\nu}{}_{\rho},$$

$$\mathcal{B}^{\mu\nu} = 2\tau_1 \phi^{\lambda} \phi^{\alpha} K_{\lambda\alpha}{}^{(\mu} K^{\nu)}, \qquad \mathcal{D}^{\mu} = 2\tau_1 \partial^{\mu} \phi^{\lambda} \phi^{\alpha} K_{\lambda\alpha}{}^{\rho} K_{\rho}, \qquad (B.46)$$

$$\mathcal{D}^{\mu\nu\rho} = \tau_1 \phi^{\mu} \phi^{\nu} K^{\rho} + \tau_1 \gamma^{\mu\nu} \phi^{\lambda} \phi^{\alpha} K_{\lambda\rho}{}^{\rho},$$

from which we can derive that $\mathbb{B}^{\mu\nu} = \mathbb{S}^{\mu\nu} = 0$ and

$$\mathbb{N}^{\mu}{}_{\nu} = 2\tau_1 \phi^{\mu} \phi^{\lambda} K_{\nu\lambda}{}^{\rho} K_{\rho} \,. \tag{B.47}$$

The Ward identity for reparametrization invariance (5.26) for this specific case takes the form

$$\mathcal{D}^{\nu}\gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} + \mathbb{N}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}\Gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu\lambda}\gamma^{\lambda\sigma} + \gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda}\mathbb{N}^{\mu\nu} = \gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}\overline{\nabla}_{\lambda}\mathbb{T}^{\lambda\nu} - \gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu}\Sigma^{\mu\lambda\rho}R^{\nu}{}_{\mu\rho\lambda}\,,\tag{B.48}$$

for which the non-manifestly covariant part can be made manifestly covariant using (B.46)–(B.47) and yields

$$\mathcal{D}^{\nu}\gamma^{\sigma}{}_{\nu} + \mathbb{N}^{\mu}{}_{\nu}\Gamma^{\nu}{}_{\mu\lambda}\gamma^{\lambda\sigma} = 2\tau_1 \phi^{\alpha} K_{\lambda\alpha}{}^{\rho} K_{\rho} \overline{\nabla}^{\sigma} \phi^{\lambda} .$$
(B.49)

Using this, together with (B.46)–(B.47), one can verify that (B.48) is satisfied.

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- J. Guven and P. Vázquez-Montejo, The Geometry of Fluid Membranes: Variational Principles, Symmetries and Conservation Laws, Springer International Publishing, Cham (2018), pp. 167–219.
- [2] D.M. McAvity and H. Osborn, Energy momentum tensor in conformal field theories near a boundary, Nucl. Phys. B 406 (1993) 655 [hep-th/9302068] [INSPIRE].
- [3] K. Jensen and A. O'Bannon, Constraint on Defect and Boundary Renormalization Group Flows, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 091601 [arXiv:1509.02160] [INSPIRE].
- [4] M. Billò, V. Gonçalves, E. Lauria and M. Meineri, Defects in conformal field theory, JHEP 04 (2016) 091 [arXiv:1601.02883] [INSPIRE].
- [5] S. Ryu and T. Takayanagi, Holographic derivation of entanglement entropy from AdS/CFT, Phys. Rev. Lett. 96 (2006) 181602 [hep-th/0603001] [INSPIRE].
- [6] V.E. Hubeny, M. Rangamani and T. Takayanagi, A covariant holographic entanglement entropy proposal, JHEP 07 (2007) 062 [arXiv:0705.0016] [INSPIRE].
- B. Carter, Brane dynamics for treatment of cosmic strings and vortons, in Recent developments in gravitation and mathematical physics. Proceedings, 2nd Mexican School, Tlaxcala, Mexico, December 1–7, 1996 (1997) [hep-th/9705172] [INSPIRE].
- [8] R. Emparan, T. Harmark, V. Niarchos and N.A. Obers, World-Volume Effective Theory for Higher-Dimensional Black Holes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 102 (2009) 191301 [arXiv:0902.0427]
 [INSPIRE].
- [9] R. Emparan, T. Harmark, V. Niarchos and N.A. Obers, Essentials of Blackfold Dynamics, JHEP 03 (2010) 063 [arXiv:0910.1601] [INSPIRE].
- [10] J. Armas, How Fluids Bend: the Elastic Expansion for Higher-Dimensional Black Holes, JHEP 09 (2013) 073 [arXiv:1304.7773] [INSPIRE].
- [11] J. Armas, J. Bhattacharya and N. Kundu, Surface transport in plasma-balls, JHEP 06 (2016) 015 [arXiv:1512.08514] [INSPIRE].

- [12] C.V. Johnson, D-brane primer, in Strings, branes and gravity. Proceedings, Theoretical Advanced Study Institute, TASI'99, Boulder, U.S.A., May 31–June 25, 1999, pp. 129–350, DOI:10.1142/9789812799630_0002 [hep-th/0007170] [INSPIRE].
- B. Carter, Outer curvature and conformal geometry of an imbedding, J. Geom. Phys. 8 (1992) 53 [INSPIRE].
- [14] B. Carter, Perturbation dynamics for membranes and strings governed by Dirac Goto Nambu action in curved space, Phys. Rev. D 48 (1993) 4835 [INSPIRE].
- [15] H. Casini, M. Huerta and R.C. Myers, Towards a derivation of holographic entanglement entropy, JHEP 05 (2011) 036 [arXiv:1102.0440] [INSPIRE].
- [16] J. Camps, Generalized entropy and higher derivative Gravity, JHEP 03 (2014) 070 [arXiv:1310.6659] [INSPIRE].
- [17] X. Dong, Holographic Entanglement Entropy for General Higher Derivative Gravity, JHEP 01 (2014) 044 [arXiv:1310.5713] [INSPIRE].
- [18] X. Dong and A. Lewkowycz, Entropy, Extremality, Euclidean Variations and the Equations of Motion, JHEP 01 (2018) 081 [arXiv:1705.08453] [INSPIRE].
- [19] J.L. Cardy, Conformal Invariance and Surface Critical Behavior, Nucl. Phys. B 240 (1984) 514 [INSPIRE].
- [20] J.L. Cardy and D.C. Lewellen, Bulk and boundary operators in conformal field theory, Phys. Lett. B 259 (1991) 274 [INSPIRE].
- [21] D.M. McAvity and H. Osborn, Conformal field theories near a boundary in general dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B 455 (1995) 522 [cond-mat/9505127] [INSPIRE].
- [22] P. Liendo, L. Rastelli and B.C. van Rees, The Bootstrap Program for Boundary CFT_d, JHEP 07 (2013) 113 [arXiv:1210.4258] [INSPIRE].
- [23] L. Bianchi, M. Meineri, R.C. Myers and M. Smolkin, *Rényi entropy and conformal defects*, *JHEP* 07 (2016) 076 [arXiv:1511.06713] [INSPIRE].
- [24] P. Liendo and C. Meneghelli, Bootstrap equations for $\mathcal{N} = 4$ SYM with defects, JHEP **01** (2017) 122 [arXiv:1608.05126] [INSPIRE].
- [25] L. Rastelli and X. Zhou, The Mellin Formalism for Boundary CFT_d , JHEP 10 (2017) 146 [arXiv:1705.05362] [INSPIRE].
- [26] A. Karch and L. Randall, Open and closed string interpretation of SUSY CFT's on branes with boundaries, JHEP 06 (2001) 063 [hep-th/0105132] [INSPIRE].
- [27] O. DeWolfe, D.Z. Freedman and H. Ooguri, Holography and defect conformal field theories, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 025009 [hep-th/0111135] [INSPIRE].
- [28] J. Erdmenger, Z. Guralnik and I. Kirsch, Four-dimensional superconformal theories with interacting boundaries or defects, Phys. Rev. D 66 (2002) 025020 [hep-th/0203020] [INSPIRE].
- [29] O. Aharony, O. DeWolfe, D.Z. Freedman and A. Karch, Defect conformal field theory and locally localized gravity, JHEP 07 (2003) 030 [hep-th/0303249] [INSPIRE].
- [30] J. Erdmenger, M. Flory and M.-N. Newrzella, Bending branes for DCFT in two dimensions, JHEP 01 (2015) 058 [arXiv:1410.7811] [INSPIRE].
- [31] J. Erdmenger, M. Flory, C. Hoyos, M.-N. Newrzella and J.M.S. Wu, Entanglement Entropy in a Holographic Kondo Model, Fortsch. Phys. 64 (2016) 109 [arXiv:1511.03666] [INSPIRE].

- [32] M. de Leeuw, C. Kristjansen and K. Zarembo, One-point Functions in Defect CFT and Integrability, JHEP 08 (2015) 098 [arXiv:1506.06958] [INSPIRE].
- [33] I. Buhl-Mortensen, M. de Leeuw, A.C. Ipsen, C. Kristjansen and M. Wilhelm, One-loop one-point functions in gauge-gravity dualities with defects, Phys. Rev. Lett. 117 (2016) 231603 [arXiv:1606.01886] [INSPIRE].
- [34] M. de Leeuw, A.C. Ipsen, C. Kristjansen, K.E. Vardinghus and M. Wilhelm, Two-point functions in AdS/dCFT and the boundary conformal bootstrap equations, JHEP 08 (2017) 020 [arXiv:1705.03898] [INSPIRE].
- [35] P. Canham, The minimum energy of bending as a possible explanation of the biconcave shape of the human red blood cell, J. Theor. Biol. **26** (1970) 61.
- [36] W. Helfrich, Elastic Properties of Lipid Bilayers Theory and Possible Experiments, Z. Naturforsch. C 28 (1973) 693.
- [37] U. Seifert, Configurations of fluid membranes and vesicles, Adv. Phys. 46 (1997) 13.
- [38] Z.C. Tu and Z.C. Ou-Yang, A geometric theory on the elasticity of bio-membranes, J. Phys. A 37 (2004) 11407.
- [39] L. Landau and E.M. Lifshitz, Theory of elasticity, Course of Theoretical Physics 7 (1959) 134.
- [40] J. Guven, Perturbations of a topological defect as a theory of coupled scalar fields in curved space, Phys. Rev. D 48 (1993) 5562 [gr-qc/9304033] [INSPIRE].
- [41] R. Capovilla and J. Guven, Geometry of deformations of relativistic membranes, Phys. Rev. D 51 (1995) 6736 [gr-qc/9411060] [INSPIRE].
- [42] J. Guven, Membrane geometry with auxiliary variables and quadratic constraints, J. Phys. A 37 (2004) L313 [math-ph/0404064] [INSPIRE].
- [43] J. Guven and P. Vazquez-Montejo, Metric variations become a surface, Phys. Lett. A 377 (2013) 1507 [arXiv:1211.7154] [INSPIRE].
- [44] G. Arreaga, R. Capovilla and J. Guven, Noether currents for bosonic branes, Annals Phys. 279 (2000) 126 [hep-th/0002088] [INSPIRE].
- [45] M. Rangamani and T. Takayanagi, Holographic Entanglement Entropy, Lect. Notes Phys. 931 (2017) pp.1 [arXiv:1609.01287] [INSPIRE].
- [46] O.-Y. Zhong-can and W. Helfrich, Bending energy of vesicle membranes: General expressions for the first, second, and third variation of the shape energy and applications to spheres and cylinders, Phys. Rev. A 39 (1989) 5280.
- [47] C. Charmousis and R. Zegers, Matching conditions for a brane of arbitrary codimension, JHEP 08 (2005) 075 [hep-th/0502170] [INSPIRE].
- [48] P. Fonda, V. Jejjala and A. Veliz-Osorio, On the Shape of Things: From holography to elastica, Annals Phys. 385 (2017) 358 [arXiv:1611.03462] [INSPIRE].
- [49] J. Armas, J. Gath, V. Niarchos, N.A. Obers and A.V. Pedersen, Forced Fluid Dynamics from Blackfolds in General Supergravity Backgrounds, JHEP 10 (2016) 154 [arXiv:1606.09644] [INSPIRE].
- [50] R.A. Battye and B. Carter, Gravitational perturbations of relativistic membranes and strings, Phys. Lett. B 357 (1995) 29 [hep-ph/9508300] [INSPIRE].
- [51] R. Capovilla and J. Guven, Large deformations of relativistic membranes: A Generalization of the Raychaudhuri equations, Phys. Rev. D 52 (1995) 1072 [gr-qc/9411061] [INSPIRE].

- [52] B. Carter, Amalgamated Codazzi-Raychaudhuri identity for foliation, Contemp. Math. 203 (1997) 207 [hep-th/9705083] [INSPIRE].
- [53] R.A. Porto, The effective field theorist's approach to gravitational dynamics, Phys. Rept. 633 (2016) 1 [arXiv:1601.04914] [INSPIRE].
- [54] Y. Aminov, The Geometry of Submanifolds, Taylor & Francis (2001).
- [55] A. Papapetrou, Spinning test particles in general relativity. 1., Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A 209 (1951) 248 [INSPIRE].
- [56] J. Armas and T. Harmark, Constraints on the effective fluid theory of stationary branes, JHEP 10 (2014) 063 [arXiv:1406.7813] [INSPIRE].
- [57] L. Lehner, R.C. Myers, E. Poisson and R.D. Sorkin, Gravitational action with null boundaries, Phys. Rev. D 94 (2016) 084046 [arXiv:1609.00207] [INSPIRE].
- [58] M. Vasilic and M. Vojinovic, Classical spinning branes in curved backgrounds, JHEP 07 (2007) 028 [arXiv:0707.3395] [INSPIRE].
- [59] J. Armas, (Non)-Dissipative Hydrodynamics on Embedded Surfaces, JHEP 09 (2014) 047
 [arXiv:1312.0597] [INSPIRE].
- [60] J. Armas, J. Camps, T. Harmark and N.A. Obers, The Young Modulus of Black Strings and the Fine Structure of Blackfolds, JHEP 02 (2012) 110 [arXiv:1110.4835] [INSPIRE].
- [61] A. Schwimmer and S. Theisen, Entanglement Entropy, Trace Anomalies and Holography, Nucl. Phys. B 801 (2008) 1 [arXiv:0802.1017] [INSPIRE].
- [62] J. Armas, J. Bhattacharya, A. Jain and N. Kundu, On the surface of superfluids, JHEP 06 (2017) 090 [arXiv:1612.08088] [INSPIRE].
- [63] M. Cvitan, P. Dominis Prester, S. Pallua, I. Smolić and T. Stemberga, Parity-odd surface anomalies and correlation functions on conical defects, arXiv:1503.06196 [INSPIRE].
- [64] A. Castro, S. Detournay, N. Iqbal and E. Perlmutter, Holographic entanglement entropy and gravitational anomalies, JHEP 07 (2014) 114 [arXiv:1405.2792] [INSPIRE].
- [65] T. Ali, S. Shajidul Haque and J. Murugan, *Holographic Entanglement Entropy for Gravitational Anomaly in Four Dimensions*, arXiv:1611.03415 [INSPIRE].
- [66] S. Deser and A. Schwimmer, Geometric classification of conformal anomalies in arbitrary dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 309 (1993) 279 [hep-th/9302047] [INSPIRE].
- [67] C.R. Graham and E. Witten, Conformal anomaly of submanifold observables in AdS/CFT correspondence, Nucl. Phys. B 546 (1999) 52 [hep-th/9901021] [INSPIRE].
- [68] M. Taylor and W. Woodhead, Renormalized entanglement entropy, JHEP 08 (2016) 165 [arXiv:1604.06808] [INSPIRE].
- [69] T. Azeyanagi, R. Loganayagam and G.S. Ng, Holographic Entanglement for Chern-Simons Terms, JHEP 02 (2017) 001 [arXiv:1507.02298] [INSPIRE].
- [70] E. Caceres, R. Mohan and P.H. Nguyen, On holographic entanglement entropy of Horndeski black holes, JHEP 10 (2017) 145 [arXiv:1707.06322] [INSPIRE].